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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549
____________________________________________________________

Form 10-Q
____________________________________________________________

x QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15 (d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the Quarterly Period Ended August 3, 2013

OR

o TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15 (d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

Commission File Number 0-21915
____________________________________________________________

COLDWATER CREEK INC.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

DELAWARE 82-0419266
(State or other jurisdiction of
incorporation or organization)

(I.R.S. Employer
Identification No.)

ONE COLDWATER CREEK DRIVE, SANDPOINT, IDAHO 83864
(Address of principal executive offices)

(208) 263-2266
(Registrant's telephone number, including area code)

____________________________________________________________

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant: (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such
filing requirements for the past 90 days. YES x NO o

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data file
required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such
shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files). YES x NO o

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting
company. See the definitions of "large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer" and "smaller reporting company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act:

Large accelerated filer o Accelerated filer x

Non-accelerated filer o Smaller reporting company o

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). YES o NO x

Indicate the number of shares outstanding of each of the issuer's classes of common stock, as of the latest practicable date:

Class Shares outstanding as of September 6, 2013

Common Stock ($0.01 par value) 30,613,056
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"We," "us," "our," "Company," "Coldwater," and "Coldwater Creek," unless the context otherwise requires, means Coldwater Creek Inc.
and its wholly-owned subsidiaries.
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PART 1. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

COLDWATER CREEK INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(Unaudited)
(in thousands, except for per share data)

August 3,
2013

February 2,
2013

July 28,
2012

ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 17,271 $ 21,734 $ 45,517
Receivables 6,264 5,150 6,576
Inventories 123,878 125,207 133,615
Prepaid and other current assets 17,758 17,072 13,634
Deferred income taxes 1,184 1,252 2,313

Total current assets 166,355 170,415 201,655
Property and equipment, net 152,707 169,007 190,160
Deferred income taxes 2,108 2,112 1,884
Other assets 3,927 4,374 4,983

Total assets $ 325,097 $ 345,908 $ 398,682
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 62,128 $ 57,891 $ 67,992
Accrued liabilities 78,759 87,915 83,178
Current maturities of debt and capital lease obligations 15,710 577 544

Total current liabilities 156,597 146,383 151,714
Deferred rents 71,694 82,726 92,665
Long-term debt and capital lease obligations 67,468 63,784 59,998
Supplemental executive retirement plan 10,883 10,994 12,335
Deferred income taxes 636 699 1,716
Other liabilities 15,368 4,186 4,384

Total liabilities 322,646 308,772 322,812
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders' equity:

Preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 1,000 shares authorized; 1, 1 and 1 shares
issued, respectively — — —

Common stock, $0.01 par value, 75,000 shares authorized; 30,613, 30,531
and 30,493 shares issued, respectively 306 305 304

Additional paid-in capital 154,258 153,146 152,011
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (1,532) (1,532) (2,186)
Accumulated deficit (150,581) (114,783) (74,259)

Total stockholders' equity 2,451 37,136 75,870

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $ 325,097 $ 345,908 $ 398,682
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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COLDWATER CREEK INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE OPERATIONS

(Unaudited)
(in thousands, except for per share data)

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

August 3,
2013

July 28,
2012

August 3,
2013

July 28,
2012

Net sales $ 149,702 $ 163,690 $ 305,431 $ 333,574
Cost of sales 105,662 115,170 210,427 230,663

Gross profit 44,040 48,520 95,004 102,911
Selling, general and administrative expenses 62,562 65,674 130,924 143,193

Loss from operations (18,522) (17,154) (35,920) (40,282)
Other gain, net (5,632) (1,278) (6,558) (1,278)
Interest expense, net 3,633 1,725 7,206 2,286

Loss before income taxes (16,523) (17,601) (36,568) (41,290)
Income tax provision (benefit) (80) (43) (770) 28

Net loss $ (16,443) $ (17,558) $ (35,798) $ (41,318)

Other comprehensive income:
Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan liability

adjustment, net of tax — (18) — (18)

Total comprehensive loss $ (16,443) $ (17,540) $ (35,798) $ (41,300)

Net loss per share — Basic and Diluted $ (0.54) $ (0.58) $ (1.17) $ (1.36)
Weighted average shares outstanding — Basic and

Diluted 30,583 30,452 30,560 30,440

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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COLDWATER CREEK INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Unaudited)
(in thousands)

Six Months Ended

August 3,
2013

July 28,
2012

Operating activities:
Net loss $ (35,798) $ (41,318)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 21,794 26,580
Non-cash interest expense 4,597 777
Stock-based compensation expense 1,182 869
Supplemental executive retirement plan expense 227 294
Deferred credit card program revenue 14,832 84
Deferred rents (12,509) (9,159)
Gain on derivative liability (6,558) (2,349)
Series A Preferred Stock issuance costs — 1,070
Net loss on asset dispositions and other termination charges 1,082 1,320
Other (383) (146)
Net change in operating assets and liabilities:

Receivables (1,114) 1,055
Inventories 1,329 (1,640)
Prepaid and other current assets (830) (4,444)
Accounts payable 2,490 10,891
Accrued liabilities (4,810) (9,067)

Net cash used in operating activities (14,469) (25,183)
Investing activities:
Purchase of property and equipment (4,789) (9,784)
Proceeds from asset dispositions 15 —

Net cash used in investing activities (4,774) (9,784)
Financing activities:
Borrowings on revolving line of credit 18,000 10,000
Payments on revolving line of credit (3,000) (25,000)
Proceeds from the issuance of long-term debt — 65,000
Payments of long-term debt and capital lease obligations (273) (15,177)
Payment of debt and Series A Preferred Stock issuance costs — (5,809)
Other 53 105

Net cash provided by financing activities 14,780 29,119
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (4,463) (5,848)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning 21,734 51,365

Cash and cash equivalents, ending $ 17,271 $ 45,517

Supplemental Cash Flow Data:
Interest paid, net of amount capitalized $ 2,611 $ 1,511
Income taxes paid (refunded), net $ (450) $ 3,187
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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COLDWATER CREEK INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited)

1. Nature of Business and Organizational Structure

Coldwater Creek Inc., a Delaware corporation, together with its wholly-owned subsidiaries, headquartered in Sandpoint, Idaho, is a
multi-channel specialty retailer of women's apparel, jewelry and accessories. We conduct business in two operating segments: retail and
direct. The retail segment consists of our premium retail stores, factory stores and day spas. The direct segment consists of sales
generated through our e-commerce website and mobile applications as well as orders taken from customers over the phone and through
the mail.

The accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements are unaudited and have been prepared by management pursuant to the
rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC"). Certain information and footnote disclosures normally
included in our annual consolidated financial statements have been condensed or omitted. The condensed consolidated balance sheet as
of February 2, 2013 was derived from the audited consolidated balance sheet as of that date. The condensed consolidated financial
statements, in the opinion of management, reflect all normal recurring adjustments necessary to present fairly the financial position,
results of operations and cash flows for the interim periods presented and should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial
statements and related notes in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended February 2, 2013.

On October 4, 2012, we effected a reverse stock split of the Company's common stock following stockholder approval (the "Reverse
Stock Split"). As a result of the split, every four shares of common stock outstanding were consolidated into one share. Certain prior
period share and per share information in this Form 10-Q has been retroactively adjusted to reflect the Reverse Stock Split.

The condensed consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows for these interim periods are not necessarily
indicative of the financial position, results of operations or cash flows to be realized in future periods.

2. Significant Accounting Policies

Accounting Policies

The complete summary of significant accounting policies is included in the notes to the consolidated financial statements as presented in
our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended February 2, 2013.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Coldwater Creek Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. Intercompany
balances and transactions have been eliminated.

Fiscal Periods

References to a fiscal year refer to the calendar year in which the fiscal year begins. Our fiscal year ends on the Saturday nearest
January 31st.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of condensed consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts and timing of revenue and
expenses, the reported amounts and classification of assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. These
estimates and assumptions are embodied in our sales returns accrual, gift card breakage, inventory adjustments, derivative liability,
stock-based compensation, impairment of long-lived assets, contingent liabilities and income taxes. These estimates and assumptions
are based on historical results as well as management's future expectations. Actual results may vary from these estimates and
assumptions.
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Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

Accumulated other comprehensive loss is made up entirely of unrecognized net actuarial loss, net of tax, for the Supplemental
Executive Retirement Plan (the "SERP"). See Note 10. Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan, for amounts reclassified from
accumulated other comprehensive loss to net periodic benefit costs due to the amortization of net actuarial loss to selling, general and
administrative expenses.
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COLDWATER CREEK INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited)

Fair Value

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. Assets and liabilities recorded at fair value are categorized using defined hierarchical
levels related to the subjectivity associated with the inputs to fair value measurements as follows:

• Level 1 — Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

• Level 2 — Quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets or inputs that are observable; and

• Level 3 — Unobservable inputs in which little or no market activity exists.

On July 9, 2012, as disclosed in Note 8, we issued 1,000 shares of Series A Preferred Stock. The fair value of the Series A Preferred
Stock is recorded as a derivative liability and is measured on a recurring basis at fair value with Level 3 inputs using the Black-Scholes
option valuation model with the following inputs (retroactively adjusted to reflect the Reverse Stock Split):

August 3,
2013

February 2,
2013

July 28,
2012

Closing price of Company's common stock $ 2.66 $ 3.69 $ 2.64
Exercise price $ 3.40 $ 3.40 $ 3.40
Risk-free interest rate 2.4% 1.9% 1.6%
Expected volatility 77.4% 84.9% 89.3%
Expected life 8.9 years 9.4 years 10.0 years
Expected dividends $ — $ — $ —

The valuation model and the assumptions used in the model were determined based on the Series A Preferred Stock features and
Company specific historical experience, taking into consideration expected future activity. The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S.
Treasury strip rates in effect at the time of measurement with an equivalent remaining term. The expected volatility of our stock prices is
based on a combination of historical volatility and the implied volatility of our exchange traded options. Expected life is based on the
remaining term of the Series A Preferred Stock. To the extent any of these assumptions increases or decreases in isolation, the fair value
of the derivative liability increases or decreases accordingly. Other assumptions based on the Series A Preferred Stock features,
including anti-dilution provisions, were considered and determined to be insignificant to the valuation.

Changes in the fair value are recorded as other gain or loss, net, in our condensed consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive operations. Activity for the derivative liability was as follows:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

August 3,
2013

July 28,
2012

August 3,
2013

July 28,
2012

(in thousands)

Balance at beginning of period $ 17,757 $ — $ 18,683 $ —
Issuance of Series A Preferred Stock — 15,744 — 15,744
Gain on change in fair value (5,632) (2,349) (6,558) (2,349)

Balance at end of period $ 12,125 $ 13,395 $ 12,125 $ 13,395

We have financial assets and liabilities, not required to be measured at fair value on a recurring basis, which primarily consist of cash,
receivables, payables and debt. The carrying value of cash, receivables, payables and borrowing on our revolving line of credit
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approximate their fair values due to their short-term nature. As of August 3, 2013, the fair value of our senior secured term loan was
$62.5 million compared to the carrying value of $56.5 million, which includes accrued PIK interest and net of the loan discount. As of
July 28, 2012, the carrying value of our senior secured term loan approximated fair value as the debt was recently obtained during that
period on July 9, 2012. The fair value of the senior secured term loan was estimated using Level 3 inputs by discounting the cash flows
with an assumed interest rate that considers credit and liquidity risk.
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COLDWATER CREEK INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited)

Income Taxes

Management assesses the available positive and negative evidence to estimate if sufficient future taxable income will be generated to
utilize existing deferred tax assets. A significant piece of objective negative evidence evaluated was the cumulative pretax losses
(adjusted for permanent differences) incurred over the last three years. Such objective evidence limits the ability to consider other
subjective evidence. We have a valuation allowance to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount that is more likely than not to be
realized. The amount of the deferred tax asset considered realizable, however, could be adjusted if objective negative evidence in the
form of cumulative losses is no longer present and additional weight may be given to subjective evidence.

Reclassifications

Certain prior period reclassifications were made to conform with the current period presentation. On the condensed consolidated
balance sheets, prepaid and deferred marketing costs was combined with prepaid and other current assets, income taxes payable was
combined with accrued liabilities, and deferred marketing fees and revenue sharing was combined with other liabilities. On the
condensed consolidated statements of cash flows, deferred income taxes and valuation allowance adjustments were combined with other
and income taxes payable was combined with accrued liabilities.

3. Receivables

Receivables consisted of the following:

August 3,
2013

February 2,
2013

July 28,
2012

(in thousands)

Credit card receivables $ 3,793 $ 2,928 $ 4,513
Tenant allowances 1,281 484 920
Other 1,190 1,738 1,143

$ 6,264 $ 5,150 $ 6,576

Credit card receivables do not bear interest and are generally converted to cash in two to three days. We evaluate the credit risk
associated with our receivables to determine if an allowance for doubtful accounts is necessary. As of August 3, 2013, February 2, 2013
and July 28, 2012, no allowance for doubtful accounts was deemed necessary.

4. Property and Equipment, net

Property and equipment, net, consisted of the following:

August 3,
2013

February 2,
2013

July 28,
2012

(in thousands)

Land $ 221 $ 242 $ 242
Building and land improvements 29,634 29,655 29,656
Leasehold improvements 254,607 258,765 264,213
Furniture and fixtures 113,810 114,709 117,227
Technology hardware and software 92,207 89,992 90,406
Machinery and equipment and other 33,616 34,341 35,009
Capital leases 12,805 12,805 12,805
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Construction in progress 16,792 16,480 16,613
553,692 556,989 566,171

Less — Accumulated depreciation and amortization (400,985) (387,982) (376,011)
$ 152,707 $ 169,007 $ 190,160
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COLDWATER CREEK INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited)

5. Accrued Liabilities

Accrued liabilities consisted of the following:

August 3,
2013

February 2,
2013

July 28,
2012

(in thousands)

Accrued payroll and benefits $ 11,413 $ 12,356 $ 14,978
Gift cards and certificates 14,151 18,427 15,842
Derivative liability 12,125 18,683 13,395
Current portion of deferred rents 22,232 20,756 20,825
Current portion of deferred credit card revenue 8,167 4,484 5,590
Deferred sales royalty 2,819 3,106 3,346
Accrued sales returns 2,805 3,738 2,923
Accrued taxes 2,975 4,200 4,071
Other 2,072 2,165 2,208

$ 78,759 $ 87,915 $ 83,178

6. Debt and Capital Lease Obligations

Debt and capital lease obligations consisted of the following:

August 3,
2013

February 2,
2013

July 28,
2012

(in thousands)

Secured term loan, including accrued PIK interest due at maturity $ 70,464 $ 67,866 $ 65,271
Revolving line of credit 15,000 — —
Capital lease obligations 11,634 11,901 12,163
Total debt and capital lease obligations 97,098 79,767 77,434
Less:

Secured term loan discount (13,920) (15,406) (16,892)
Current maturities of debt (15,000) — —
Current maturities of capital lease obligations (710) (577) (544)

Long-term debt and capital lease obligations $ 67,468 $ 63,784 $ 59,998

On July 9, 2012, we obtained a five-year, $65.0 million senior secured term loan (the "Secured Term Loan") provided by an affiliate of
Golden Gate Capital. The Secured Term Loan bears interest at a rate of 5.5% to be paid in cash quarterly and 7.5% due and payable in
kind ("PIK") upon maturity. The Secured Term Loan is collateralized by a second lien on our inventory and credit card receivables, and
a first lien on our remaining assets. The Secured Term Loan is scheduled to mature upon the earlier of July 9, 2017 or the date that the
obligations under the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement with Wells Fargo Bank dated May 16, 2011 (the "Credit Agreement")
mature or are accelerated. Upon maturity of the Secured Term Loan, the principal balance and any unpaid interest, including $29.8
million of PIK interest, will become due and payable. As of August 3, 2013, $5.5 million of PIK interest has been accrued. Also on July
9, 2012 in conjunction with the Secured Term Loan, we issued 1,000 shares of Series A Preferred Stock and the initial fair value of
$15.7 million was recorded as a discount to the Secured Term Loan. This discount is being amortized to interest expense based on the
effective interest rate method.
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In May 2011, we entered into the Credit Agreement with a maturity date of May 16, 2016, which is secured primarily by our inventory,
credit card receivables and certain other assets. The Credit Agreement provides a revolving line of credit of up to $70.0 million, with
subfacilities for the issuance of up to $70.0 million in letters of credit and swingline advances of up to $10.0 million. The amount of
credit that is available under the revolving line of credit is limited to a borrowing base that is determined according to, among other
things, a percentage of the value of eligible inventory and credit card receivables, as reduced by certain reserve amounts required by
Wells Fargo Bank. The actual amount that is available under our revolving line of credit fluctuates due to factors including, but not
limited to, eligible inventory and credit card receivables, reserve amounts,
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COLDWATER CREEK INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited)

outstanding letters of credit, and borrowing under our revolving line of credit. Consequently, it is possible that should we need to access
any additional funds from our revolving line of credit, it may not be available in full. We have had continuing significant operating
losses and, if our future operating performance is significantly below our expectations or our revolving line of credit is not fully
available to us, our liquidity could be adversely impacted and it may be necessary to seek additional sources of liquidity. Additional
actions may include further reducing our expenditures, curtailing our operations, significantly restructuring our business, or
restructuring our debt. In connection with the closing of the Secured Term Loan, we amended the Credit Agreement and repaid the
separate term loan previously provided by Wells Fargo Bank. The amendment did not materially change the terms of the Credit
Agreement. As of August 3, 2013, the revolving line of credit was limited to a borrowing base of $64.0 million with $15.0 million in
borrowings and $5.8 million in letters of credit issued, resulting in $43.2 million available for borrowing under our revolving line of
credit.

Pursuant to the Credit Agreement, borrowings issued under the revolving line of credit will generally accrue interest at a rate ranging
from 1.00% to 2.50% (determined according to the average unused availability under the credit facility (the "Availability")) over a
reference rate of, at our election, either LIBOR or a base rate (the "Reference Rate") with an interest rate of 2.25% as of August 3, 2013.
Letters of credit issued under the revolving line of credit will accrue interest at a rate ranging from 1.50% to 2.50% (determined
according to the Availability) with an interest rate of 2.00% as of August 3, 2013. Commitment fees accrue at a rate ranging from
0.375% to 0.50% (determined according to the Availability), which is assessed on the average unused portion of the credit facility
maximum amount.

Both the Secured Term Loan and Credit Agreement have restrictive covenants that subject us to capital expenditure limitations based on
our approved annual plan, maintaining a minimum of $95.0 million of inventory, and maintaining a minimum of $15.0 million of
liquidity and a minimum excess availability of 15 percent of our borrowing base, as defined in the Credit Agreement. The Secured Term
Loan and Credit Agreement also contain various covenants relating to customary matters, such as indebtedness, liens, investments,
acquisitions, mergers, dispositions, dividends and other various conditions. Our current plan to close up to 45 stores under our store
optimization program and the related transfer or disposition of store assets is not limited by our Secured Term Loan or Credit
Agreement. We were in compliance with all covenants for all periods presented.

Both the Secured Term Loan and Credit Agreement contain customary events of default. Upon an event of default that is not cured or
waived within any applicable cure periods, in addition to other remedies that may be available to the lenders, the obligations may be
accelerated, outstanding letters of credit may be required to be cash collateralized and remedies may be exercised against the collateral.

7. Net Income (Loss) Per Common Share

Basic net income (loss) per common share is computed by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted average number of common
shares outstanding during the period. Diluted net income per common share is computed by dividing net income by the combination of
other potentially dilutive common shares and the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Other
potentially dilutive weighted average common shares include the dilutive effect of shares of Series A Preferred Stock, stock options,
restricted stock units ("RSUs") and shares to be purchased under our Employee Stock Purchase Plan ("ESPP") for each period using the
treasury stock method. Under the treasury stock method, the exercise price of a share, the amount of compensation expense, if any, for
future service that has not yet been recognized, and the amount of excess tax benefits, if any, that would be recorded in additional paid-
in-capital when the share is exercised are assumed to be used to repurchase shares in the current period.
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COLDWATER CREEK INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited)

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net loss per common share (retroactively adjusted to reflect the
Reverse Stock Split):

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

August 3,
2013

July 28,
2012

August 3,
2013

July 28,
2012

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Net loss $ (16,443) $ (17,558) $ (35,798) $ (41,318)
Weighted average common shares outstanding during the

period (for basic calculation) 30,583 30,452 30,560 30,440
Dilutive effect of other potential common shares — — — —
Weighted average common shares and potential common

shares (for diluted calculation) 30,583 30,452 30,560 30,440

Net loss per common share—Basic $ (0.54) $ (0.58) $ (1.17) $ (1.36)

Net loss per common share—Diluted $ (0.54) $ (0.58) $ (1.17) $ (1.36)

During the three months ended August 3, 2013 and July 28, 2012, 2.4 million and 1.4 million, respectively, of stock options, RSUs and
shares to be purchased under our ESPP were outstanding but were excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per share because
the effect would be antidilutive. During the six months ended August 3, 2013 and July 28, 2012, 2.2 million and 1.3 million,
respectively, of stock options, RSUs and shares to be purchased under our ESPP were outstanding but were excluded from the
computation of diluted net loss per share because the effect would be antidilutive. The conversion rights available to outstanding shares
of Series A Preferred Stock were also excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per share because the effect would be
antidilutive.

8. Stockholders' Equity

Reverse Stock Split

On October 4, 2012, we effected a reverse stock split of the Company's common stock following stockholder approval. As a result of
the split, every four shares of common stock outstanding were consolidated into one share, reducing the number of common shares
outstanding on the effective date from 122.0 million shares to 30.5 million shares. The shares of Series A Preferred Stock outstanding
remained the same. However, the number of shares of common stock each share of Series A Preferred Stock is convertible into and the
related exercise price has been adjusted proportionally. The Reverse Stock Split did not affect the registration of our common stock
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the listing of our common stock under the symbol "CWTR." Our
stockholders' equity has been retroactively adjusted to reflect the Reverse Stock Split for all periods presented by reducing common
stock and increasing additional paid-in capital, with no change to stockholders' equity in the aggregate. Certain prior period share and
per share information in this Form 10-Q has been retroactively adjusted to reflect the Reverse Stock Split.

Series A Preferred Stock

On July 9, 2012 in conjunction with the Secured Term Loan, we issued 1,000 shares of Series A Preferred Stock to an affiliate of
Golden Gate Capital which gives that affiliate the right to purchase up to 6.1 million shares of our common stock through July 9, 2022.
Shares of Series A Preferred Stock have an initial exercise price of $3.40 per share of underlying common stock. The Series A Preferred
Stock is considered a derivative liability due to the net settlement features and is included in accrued liabilities.
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COLDWATER CREEK INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited)

9. Stock-Based Compensation

Total stock-based compensation recognized primarily in selling, general and administrative expenses from stock options and RSUs
consisted of the following:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

August 3,
2013

July 28,
2012

August 3,
2013

July 28,
2012

(in thousands)

Stock options $ 238 $ 315 $ 451 $ 545
RSUs 312 206 731 324

$ 550 $ 521 $ 1,182 $ 869

All share and per share information has been retroactively adjusted to reflect the Reverse Stock Split.

During the six months ended August 3, 2013 and July 28, 2012, employees were granted 109,000 and 271,575 stock options,
respectively. The fair value of stock option awards was estimated at the grant date using the Black-Scholes option valuation model with
the following weighted average assumptions:

Six Months Ended

August 3,
2013

July 28,
2012

Risk-free interest rate 0.8% 0.7%
Expected volatility 91.2% 89.8%
Expected life 5.0 years 4.9 years
Expected dividends $ — $ —
Weighted average fair value per share $ 2.45 $ 3.04

During the six months ended August 3, 2013 and July 28, 2012, employees were granted 786,458 and 140,274 RSUs, respectively, at a
weighted average fair value of $3.01 and $4.15, respectively. During the six months ended July 28, 2012, employees were also granted
123,500 performance RSUs at a weighted average grant date fair value of $4.64. For the performance RSUs granted during the six
months ended July 28, 2012, half of the RSUs are subject to the achievement of combined operating income targets for fiscal years
2012, 2013 and 2014, and half of the RSUs are subject to the achievement of sales targets for fiscal years 2012, 2013 and 2014. The
number of shares actually awarded under performance RSUs will range from 0% to 200% of the base award amount, depending on the
results during the performance period.

10. Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan

Net periodic benefit cost of the SERP consisted of the following:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

August 3,
2013

July 28,
2012

August 3,
2013

July 28,
2012

(in thousands)

Interest cost $ 114 $ 138 $ 227 $ 276
Amortization of net actuarial loss — 9 — 18
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$ 114 $ 147 $ 227 $ 294

As the SERP is an unfunded plan, we were not required to make any contributions during fiscal 2013 and 2012. During the six months
ended August 3, 2013 and July 28, 2012, we made benefit payments of $355,000 and $83,000, respectively.
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COLDWATER CREEK INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited)

11. Commitments and Contingencies

Operating Leases

As of August 3, 2013, our minimum operating lease payment requirements, which include the predetermined fixed escalations of the
minimum rentals and exclude contingent rental payments, common area maintenance costs ("CAM"), real estate taxes, and the
amortization of lease incentives for our operating leases, totaled $383.4 million.

Legal Proceedings

We are, from time to time, involved in various legal proceedings incidental to the conduct of business. Actions filed against us from
time to time include commercial, intellectual property infringement, customer and employment claims, including class action lawsuits
alleging that we violated federal and state wage and hour and other laws. We believe that we have meritorious defenses to all lawsuits
and legal proceedings currently pending against us. Though we will continue to vigorously defend such lawsuits and legal proceedings,
we are unable to predict with certainty whether or not we will ultimately be successful. However, based on management's evaluation,
we believe that the resolution of these matters, taking into account existing contingency accruals and the availability of insurance and
other indemnifications, will not materially impact our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

Tax Contingencies

Our multi-channel business model subjects us to state and local taxes in numerous jurisdictions, including franchise, and sales and use
tax. We collect these taxes in jurisdictions in which we have a physical presence. While we believe we have paid or accrued for all taxes
based on our interpretation of applicable law, tax laws are complex and interpretations differ from state to state. In the past, we have
been assessed additional taxes and penalties by various taxing jurisdictions, asserting either an error in our calculation or an
interpretation of the law that differed from our own. It is possible that taxing authorities may make additional assessments in the future.
In addition to taxes, penalties and interest, these assessments could cause us to incur legal fees associated with resolving disputes with
taxing authorities.

Additionally, changes in state and local tax laws, such as temporary changes associated with "tax holidays" and other programs, require
us to make continual changes to our collection and reporting systems that may relate to only one taxing jurisdiction. If we fail to update
our collection and reporting systems in response to these changes, any over collection or under collection of sales taxes could subject us
to interest and penalties, as well as private lawsuits and damage to our reputation. In the opinion of management, resolutions of these
matters will not have a material impact on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

Other

As of August 3, 2013, we had non-cancelable inventory purchase commitments of $125.5 million.

12. Credit Card Program

On July 26, 2013, we entered into a Credit Card Program Agreement (the "Program Agreement") with Comenity Bank, a bank
subsidiary of Alliance Data Systems Corporation ("ADS"). Under the Program Agreement, ADS will issue co-branded credit cards and
private label credit cards to approved new and existing customers. ADS will also purchase the existing co-branded credit card portfolio
at a future date from Chase Bank USA, N.A. ("Chase"). During the three months ended August 3, 2013, we received an up-front
incentive payment of $11.5 million, which was deferred and will be amortized over the term of the Program Agreement. On September
11, 2013, ADS and Chase executed the purchase agreement for the existing co-branded credit card portfolio, triggering the second
incentive payment of $11.5 million to Coldwater Creek. We will receive an additional $2.0 million upon the launch of a new private
label credit card program. We will also be entitled to future payments after ADS begins issuing credit cards under the Program
Agreement for revenue sharing based on a percentage of credit card sales, certain new credit card accounts opened and activated, and
profit sharing based on certain profitability measures of the program. The term of the Program Agreement is seven years from ADS's
purchase of the co-branded credit card portfolio from Chase, with automatic extensions for successive one year terms.
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COLDWATER CREEK INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited)

Deferred Credit Card Revenue

The deferred credit card revenue activity was as follows:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

August 3,
2013

July 28,
2012

August 3,
2013

July 28,
2012

(in thousands)

Balance at beginning of period $ 7,063 $ 8,148 $ 7,752 $ 8,800
Incentive payment received 11,500 — 11,500 —
Marketing fees received 890 996 1,756 1,859
Revenue sharing received 9,782 2,946 9,782 2,946
Marketing fees recognized to revenue (1,071) (1,117) (2,188) (2,192)
Revenue sharing recognized to revenue (5,580) (2,089) (6,018) (2,529)
Balance at end of period 22,584 8,884 22,584 8,884
Less — Current deferred credit card revenue (8,167) (5,590) (8,167) (5,590)

Long-term deferred credit card revenue $ 14,417 $ 3,294 $ 14,417 $ 3,294

Sales Royalty

The amount of sales royalty recognized as revenue during the three months ended August 3, 2013 and July 28, 2012 was $1.8 million
and $1.8 million, respectively. During the six months ended August 3, 2013 and July 28, 2012, sales royalty revenue was approximately
$3.9 million and $3.7 million, respectively.

13. Segment Reporting

The following table provides certain financial data for the retail and direct segments as well as reconciliations to the condensed
consolidated financial statements:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

August 3,
2013

July 28,
2012

August 3,
2013

July 28,
2012

(in thousands)

Net sales (a):
Retail $ 118,644 $ 129,939 $ 236,398 $ 261,141
Direct 31,058 33,751 69,033 72,433

Net sales $ 149,702 $ 163,690 $ 305,431 $ 333,574
Segment operating income (loss):

Retail $ 1,124 $ 4,486 $ 1,511 $ 5,409
Direct 5,000 3,710 12,686 8,499

Total segment operating income 6,124 8,196 14,197 13,908
Unallocated corporate and other (24,646) (25,350) (50,117) (54,190)

Loss from operations $ (18,522) $ (17,154) $ (35,920) $ (40,282)
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(a) There were no sales between the retail and direct segments during the reported periods.
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

The following discussion contains various statements regarding our current initiatives, financial position, results of operations, cash
flows, operating and financial trends and uncertainties, as well as certain forward-looking statements regarding our future expectations.
When used in this discussion, words such as "anticipate," "believe," "estimate," "expect," "could," "may," "will," "should," "plan,"
"predict," "potential," and similar expressions are intended to identify such forward-looking statements. Our forward-looking statements
are based on our current expectations and are subject to numerous risks and uncertainties. As such, our actual future results,
performance or achievements may differ materially from the results expressed in, or implied by, our forward-looking statements. Refer
to Part II, 1A. Risk Factors, in this Form 10-Q and other reports we file with the SEC. We assume no obligation to update our forward-
looking statements to conform these statements to actual results or revised guidance.

Overview

We encourage you to read this Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations in conjunction
with the accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements and related notes. References to a fiscal year are to the calendar
year in which the fiscal year begins.

On October 4, 2012, we effected a reverse stock split of the Company's common stock following stockholder approval (the "Reverse
Stock Split"). As a result of the split, every four shares of common stock outstanding were consolidated into one share. Certain prior
period share and per share information in this Form 10-Q has been retroactively adjusted to reflect the Reverse Stock Split.

Executive Summary

Net sales decreased to $149.7 million for the three months ended August 3, 2013, compared to $163.7 million for the three months
ended July 28, 2012. The decrease in net sales was primarily driven by a decrease in comparable premium retail store sales(1) of 7.3
percent, the impact of store closures, the impact of the shift in weeks as a result of the 53rd week in fiscal 2012, and a decrease of 8.0
percent in our direct sales, partially offset by an increase in credit card revenue recognized.

Gross profit was $44.0 million, or 29.4 percent of net sales, for the three months ended August 3, 2013, compared to $48.5 million, or
29.6 percent of net sales, for the three months ended July 28, 2012. This decrease in gross profit margin was primarily due to lower
merchandise margins as a result of increased promotional activity partially offset by increased leverage of occupancy costs.

Selling, general and administrative expenses ("SG&A") were $62.6 million, or 41.8 percent of net sales, for the three months ended
August 3, 2013, compared to $65.7 million, or 40.1 percent of net sales, for the three months ended July 28, 2012. The decrease of $3.1
million in SG&A was primarily due to lower employee-related and marketing expenses.

Net loss for the three months ended August 3, 2013 was $16.4 million, or $0.54 per share, and included other gain, net, of $5.6 million,
or $0.18 per share, due to the change in the fair value of the derivative liability related to the Series A Preferred Stock that we issued in
July 2012. This compares to a net loss for the three months ended July 28, 2012 of $17.6 million, or $0.58 per share, and included other
gain, net, of $1.3 million, or $0.04 per share, due to the change in the fair value of the derivative liability net of issuance costs related to
the Series A Preferred Stock.

We ended the second quarter of fiscal 2013 with $17.3 million in cash and cash equivalents compared to $45.5 million at the end of the
second quarter of fiscal 2012. As of August 3, 2013, we had $15.0 million of borrowings outstanding under our revolving line of credit
compared to no outstanding borrowings as of July 28, 2012. At the end of the second quarter of fiscal 2013, working capital was $9.8
million compared to $49.9 million at the end of the second quarter of fiscal 2012. Retail inventory per square foot, which includes
inventory in our premium retail stores, factory stores, and in our distribution center, decreased 7.5 percent compared to the second
quarter of fiscal 2012. Total inventory decreased 7.3 percent to $123.9 million at the end of the second quarter of fiscal 2013 from
$133.6 million at the end of the second quarter of fiscal 2012.

____________________________________________________________
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(1) Change in comparable store sales is calculated based on the net sales for stores that have been open for at least 16 consecutive months. Stores where square footage
has been changed by more than 20 percent and stores relocated are treated as a new store upon reopening. Net sales for stores closed during the year are included in
the change in comparable store sales up until the store closes. In a fiscal year with 53 weeks, the change in comparable store sales excludes the additional week. The
calculation of comparable store sales varies across the retail industry and, as a result, the calculations of other retail companies may not be consistent with our
calculation. Due to the extensive promotions that occur as part of a store opening or reopening, we believe waiting 16 months to consider a store to be comparable
provides a better view of the change in store sales.
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Company Initiatives

For fiscal 2013, we are focused on the following strategic initiatives:

Our first initiative is to strengthen the Coldwater Creek brand by continuing to reposition Coldwater Creek as a leader in the
marketplace, providing our customers with trend-right, age-appropriate fashion, and a consistent multi-channel experience. During
fiscal 2013, we completed a comprehensive study of our target customer, which is guiding our decision making and is expected to
enable our organization to execute more consistently.

In merchandising and design, we are continuing to build on the base that we established in 2012. We are broadening our core product
offering by introducing new categories, and we are committed to executing our assortment architecture to ensure that our merchandise
consistently offers the appropriate balance of color, print, and pattern and fit to flatter outfits in each and every product flow.

We are refining our marketing platform to drive traffic to all channels by leveraging our loyalty program, which was rolled out in fiscal
2012. In the second quarter we combined our legacy One Creek loyalty program with our new Rewards program into one
comprehensive tiered loyalty platform with benefits and incentives associated with different levels of spend. In addition, we are focused
on adding new loyalty members and increasing the shopping frequency of our current members.

We remain focused on improving our inventory productivity through tighter inventory commitments by adjusting the depth, while
maintaining the breadth of styles and color choices, in our assortments. In the first quarter of fiscal 2013, we implemented a new
inventory planning system, which is expected to enable us to improve our budgeting and forecasting, make better buying decisions and
react more quickly to a product's demand.

We are continuing to execute our real estate optimization program, which we began in fiscal 2011. Through August 3, 2013, we have
closed a total of 39 under-performing stores and expect to close an additional 6 stores, which would bring the total number of closures to
45 stores by the end of fiscal 2013, with the potential to close more under-performing stores beyond fiscal 2013. Additionally, as part of
our strategy to reduce the average store size over time, we will continue to opportunistically downsize and relocate stores in certain
markets.

We have also been focusing on optimizing our supply chain capabilities, which should enable us to reduce our cycle time and lower our
cost of goods. We plan to reduce our cycle time by streamlining our product development processes, improving our forecasting and
planning of capacity and raw materials, and enhancing our overall logistics model.

Outlook

We have made significant changes to both people and processes over the past few years to enable us to evolve the Coldwater Creek
brand to what customers are looking for today. We are continuing to see the year-over-year benefits of these investments in the form of
higher margins and reductions in losses, which gives us confidence that we are moving in the right direction. However, our turnaround
has taken longer than we expected and we have not seen a consistent growth in sales. Our continued significant operating losses have
adversely impacted our liquidity, including cash and availability under our revolving line of credit. Given these constraints, we remain
committed to disciplined management of expenditures and inventory and expect to reduce SG&A year-over-year by $18.0 million to
$23.0 million in fiscal 2013. Also, for fiscal 2013, we expect capital expenditures to be $10.0 million to $12.0 million and depreciation
and amortization expense to be approximately $40.0 million to $45.0 million.

We expect that a competitive promotional environment will continue. In addition, weakness in consumer spending persists as a result of
continued uncertain macroeconomic conditions reflected in reduced household incomes and high unemployment. We believe these
conditions could continue to have a negative impact on our sales, gross margin and operating performance.

Other Developments

On July 26, 2013, we entered into a Credit Card Program Agreement (the "Program Agreement") with Comenity Bank, a bank
subsidiary of Alliance Data Systems Corporation ("ADS"). Under the Program Agreement, ADS will issue co-branded credit cards and
private label credit cards to approved new and existing customers. ADS will also purchase the existing co-branded credit card portfolio
at a future date from Chase Bank USA, N.A. ("Chase"). During the three months ended August 3, 2013, we received an up-front
incentive payment of $11.5 million, which was deferred and will be amortized over the term of the Program Agreement. On September
11, 2013, ADS and Chase executed the purchase agreement for the existing co-branded credit card portfolio, triggering the second
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incentive payment of $11.5 million to Coldwater Creek. We will receive an additional $2.0 million upon the launch of a new private
label credit card program. We will also be entitled to future payments after ADS begins issuing credit cards under the Program
Agreement for revenue sharing based on a percentage of credit card sales, certain new credit card accounts opened and activated, and
profit sharing based on certain profitability measures of the program. The term of the Program Agreement is seven years from ADS's
purchase of the co-branded credit card portfolio from Chase, with automatic extensions for successive one year terms.
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Results of Operations

Comparison of the Three Months Ended August 3, 2013 with the Three Months Ended July 28, 2012:

Three Months Ended

August 3,
2013

% of
net sales

July 28,
2012

% of
net sales $ change % change

(dollars in thousands, except per share data)

Net sales:
Retail $ 118,644 79.3 % $ 129,939 79.4 % $ (11,295) (8.7)%
Direct 31,058 20.7 33,751 20.6 (2,693) (8.0)

149,702 100.0 163,690 100.0 (13,988) (8.5)
Cost of sales 105,662 70.6 115,170 70.4 (9,508) (8.3)

Gross profit 44,040 29.4 48,520 29.6 (4,480) (9.2)
Selling, general and administrative expenses 62,562 41.8 65,674 40.1 (3,112) (4.7)

Loss from operations (18,522) (12.4) (17,154) (10.5) (1,368) 8.0
Other gain, net (5,632) (3.8) (1,278) (0.8) (4,354) 340.7
Interest expense, net 3,633 2.4 1,725 1.1 1,908 110.6

Loss before income taxes (16,523) (11.0) (17,601) (10.8) 1,078 (6.1)
Income tax benefit (80) (0.1) (43) — (37) 86.0

Net loss $ (16,443) (11.0)% $ (17,558) (10.7)% $ 1,115 (6.4)%

Net loss per share — Basic and Diluted $ (0.54) $ (0.58) $ 0.04 (6.9)%
Premium Retail Store Count:
Beginning of the period 347 359
Opened — —
Closed 3 4

End of the period 344 355

Net Sales

The $11.3 million decrease in retail segment net sales for the three months ended August 3, 2013 as compared to the three months ended
July 28, 2012 is primarily the result of a 7.3 percent decrease in comparable premium retail store sales, the impact of 11 net store
closures since the end of the second quarter of fiscal 2012, and the impact of the shift in weeks as a result of the 53rd week in fiscal
2012, partially offset by an increase in credit card revenue recognized. The decrease in comparable premium retail store sales was
primarily driven by a 7.1 percent decrease in comparable average transaction value and a 5.0 percent decrease in traffic, partially offset
by a 5.0 percent increase in conversion.

The $2.7 million decrease in direct segment net sales for the three months ended August 3, 2013 as compared to the three months ended
July 28, 2012 is primarily the result of the impact of the shift in weeks as a result of the 53rd week in fiscal 2012 and lower order
volume, offset by an increase in average transaction value.

Gross Profit

Gross profit margin decreased by 0.2 percentage points during the three months ended August 3, 2013 as compared to the three months
ended July 28, 2012. Gross profit margin was unfavorably impacted by lower merchandise margins due to increased promotional
activity in the three months ended August 3, 2013 as compared to the three months ended July 28, 2012, partially offset by increased
leverage of occupancy costs.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
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SG&A decreased $3.1 million during the three months ended August 3, 2013 as compared to the three months ended July 28, 2012,
primarily due to lower employee-related and marketing expenses.
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Loss from Operations

We evaluate the performance of our operating segments based upon segment operating income, as shown below, along with segment net
sales:

Three Months Ended

August 3,
2013

% of
Segment

Sales
July 28,

2012

% of
Segment

Sales
%

Change

(dollars in thousands)

Segment operating income (loss):
Retail $ 1,124 0.9% $ 4,486 3.5% (74.9)%
Direct 5,000 16.1 3,710 11.0 34.8

Total segment operating income 6,124 8,196 (25.3)
Unallocated corporate and other (24,646) (25,350) (2.8)

Loss from operations $ (18,522) $ (17,154) 8.0 %

Retail segment operating income rate expressed as a percent of retail segment sales for the three months ended August 3, 2013 as
compared to the three months ended July 28, 2012 decreased by 2.6 percentage points. The retail segment operating income rate was
negatively impacted by 1.6 percentage points due to lower margins as well as higher employee-related expenses as a percentage of sales,
partially offset by lower marketing expenses.

Direct segment operating income rate expressed as a percent of direct segment sales for the three months ended August 3, 2013 as
compared to the three months ended July 28, 2012 increased by 5.1 percentage points. The direct segment operating income rate was
favorably impacted by 3.4 percentage points due to higher margins, as well as lower fixed and variable expenses.

Unallocated corporate and other expenses decreased $0.7 million for the three months ended August 3, 2013 as compared to the three
months ended July 28, 2012, primarily due to lower employee-related and marketing expenses, partially offset by higher fixed and
variable expenses.

Other Gain, net

During the three months ended August 3, 2013, we recorded a $5.6 million gain from the fair value adjustment related to the derivative
liability as compared to the $2.3 million gain from a fair value adjustment related to the derivative liability partially offset by $1.1
million of issuance costs related to the Series A Preferred Stock recorded during the three months ended July 28, 2012.

Interest Expense, net

The increase in interest expense, net, for the three months ended August 3, 2013 as compared to the same period in the prior year is
primarily the result of interest on borrowings under the Secured Term Loan that closed in the second quarter of fiscal 2012. For the three
months ended August 3, 2013, interest expense includes non-cash interest expense of $2.3 million as compared to $0.8 million for the
same period in the prior year, which primarily includes accrued PIK interest expense and amortization of loan discounts and deferred
debt issuance costs.

Income Tax Benefit

The income tax benefit primarily reflects the continuing impact of the valuation allowance against our deferred tax assets, various state
taxation requirements and certain discrete items.

18

Copyright © 2013 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document

http://www.secdatabase.com


Table of Contents

Comparison of the Six Months Ended August 3, 2013 with the Six Months Ended July 28, 2012:

Six Months Ended

August 3,
2013

% of
net sales

July 28,
2012

% of
net sales $ change % change

(dollars in thousands, except per share data)

Net sales:
Retail $ 236,398 77.4 % $ 261,141 78.3 % $ (24,743) (9.5)%
Direct 69,033 22.6 72,433 21.7 (3,400) (4.7)

305,431 100.0 333,574 100.0 (28,143) (8.4)
Cost of sales 210,427 68.9 230,663 69.1 (20,236) (8.8)

Gross profit 95,004 31.1 102,911 30.9 (7,907) (7.7)
Selling, general and administrative expenses 130,924 42.9 143,193 42.9 (12,269) (8.6)

Loss from operations (35,920) (11.8) (40,282) (12.1) 4,362 (10.8)
Other gain, net (6,558) (2.1) (1,278) (0.4) (5,280) 413.1
Interest expense, net 7,206 2.4 2,286 0.7 4,920 215.2

Loss before income taxes (36,568) (12.0) (41,290) (12.4) 4,722 (11.4)
Income tax provision (benefit) (770) (0.3) 28 — (798) *

Net loss $ (35,798) (11.7)% $ (41,318) (12.4)% $ 5,520 (13.4)%

Net loss per share — Basic and Diluted $ (1.17) $ (1.36) $ 0.19 (14.0)%
Premium Retail Store Count:
Beginning of the period 349 363
Opened — —
Closed 5 8

End of the period 344 355

____________________________________________________________

* Percentage comparisons for changes are not considered meaningful.

Net Sales

The $24.7 million decrease in retail segment net sales for the six months ended August 3, 2013 as compared to the six months ended
July 28, 2012 is primarily the result of a 9.0 percent decrease in comparable premium retail store sales and the impact of 11 net store
closures since the end of the second quarter of fiscal 2012, partially offset by an increase in credit card revenue recognized. The
decrease in comparable premium retail store sales was primarily driven by a 7.6 percent decrease in comparable average transaction
value and a 7.5 percent decrease in traffic, partially offset by a 6.6 percent increase in conversion.

The $3.4 million decrease in direct segment net sales for the six months ended August 3, 2013 as compared to the six months ended
July 28, 2012 is primarily the result of a 14.2 percent decrease in order volume, partially offset by a 12.3 percent increase in average
transaction value and an increase in shipping revenue during the six months ended August 3, 2013 as compared to the six months ended
July 28, 2012.

Gross Profit

Gross profit margin increased by 0.2 percentage points during the six months ended August 3, 2013 as compared to the six months
ended July 28, 2012. Gross profit margin was favorably impacted by a 0.4 percentage point improvement due to increased leverage of
buying and occupancy costs, partially offset by a decrease in merchandise margins due to increased promotional activity in the six
months ended August 3, 2013 as compared to the six months ended July 28, 2012.
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Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

SG&A decreased $12.3 million during the six months ended August 3, 2013 as compared to the six months ended July 28, 2012,
primarily due to lower expenses across all categories with the largest declines from marketing and employee-related expenses.
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Loss from Operations

We evaluate the performance of our operating segments based upon segment operating income, as shown below, along with segment net
sales:

Six Months Ended

August 3,
2013

% of
Segment

Sales
July 28,

2012

% of
Segment

Sales
%

Change

(dollars in thousands)

Segment operating income (loss):
Retail $ 1,511 0.6% $ 5,409 2.1% (72.1)%
Direct 12,686 18.4 8,499 11.7 49.3

Total segment operating income 14,197 13,908 2.1
Unallocated corporate and other (50,117) (54,190) (7.5)

Loss from operations $ (35,920) $ (40,282) (10.8)%

Retail segment operating income rate expressed as a percent of retail segment sales for the six months ended August 3, 2013 as
compared to the six months ended July 28, 2012 decreased by 1.5 percentage points. The retail segment operating income rate was
negatively impacted by 1.7 percentage points due to lower margins as well as higher employee-related expenses as a percentage of sales,
partially offset by lower marketing expenses and the favorable impact of store closures since the end of the second quarter of fiscal 2012
as part of our store optimization program.

Direct segment operating income rate expressed as a percent of direct segment sales for the six months ended August 3, 2013 as
compared to the six months ended July 28, 2012 increased by 6.7 percentage points. The direct segment operating income rate was
favorably impacted by 4.9 percentage points due to higher margins, as well as lower expenses in all categories.

Unallocated corporate and other expenses decreased $4.1 million for the six months ended August 3, 2013 as compared to the six
months ended July 28, 2012, primarily due to lower marketing and employee-related expenses.

Other Gain, net

During the six months ended August 3, 2013, we recorded a $6.6 million gain from the fair value adjustment related to the derivative
liability as compared to the $2.3 million gain from a fair value adjustment related to the derivative liability partially offset by $1.1
million of issuance costs related to the Series A Preferred Stock recorded during the six months ended July 28, 2012.

Interest Expense, net

The increase in interest expense, net, for the six months ended August 3, 2013 as compared to the same period in the prior year is
primarily the result of interest on borrowings under the Secured Term Loan that closed in the second quarter of fiscal 2012. For the six
months ended August 3, 2013, interest expense includes non-cash interest expense of $4.6 million as compared to $0.8 million for the
same period in the prior year, which primarily includes accrued PIK interest expense and amortization of loan discounts and deferred
debt issuance costs.

Income Tax Provision (Benefit)

The income tax provision (benefit) primarily reflects the continuing impact of the valuation allowance against our deferred tax assets,
various state taxation requirements and certain discrete items.

Seasonality

Our results of operations and cash flows have fluctuated, and will continue to fluctuate, on a quarterly basis, as well as on an annual
basis, as a result of a number of factors, including, but not limited to, the following:
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• the composition, size and timing of various merchandise offerings;

• the timing and number of premium retail store openings and closings;

• the timing and number of promotions;

• the timing and number of catalog mailings;

• the ability to accurately estimate and accrue for merchandise returns and the costs of inventory disposition;

• the timing of merchandise shipping and receiving, including any delays resulting from labor strikes or slowdowns,
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adverse weather conditions, health epidemics or national security measures; and

• shifts in the timing of important holiday selling seasons relative to our fiscal quarters, including Valentine's Day, Easter, Mother's
Day, Thanksgiving and Christmas, and the day of the week on which certain important holidays fall.

Our results continue to depend materially on sales and profits from the November and December holiday shopping season. In
anticipation of traditionally increased holiday sales activity, we incur certain significant incremental expenses, including the hiring of
temporary employees to supplement the existing workforce.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Overview

Key measurements of liquidity and capital resources were as follows:

August 3,
2013

February 2,
2013

July 28,
2012

(dollars in thousands)

Cash and cash equivalents $ 17,271 $ 21,734 $ 45,517
Working capital (a) $ 9,758 $ 24,032 $ 49,941
Current ratio (a) 1.06 1.16 1.33
Borrowings under revolving line of credit $ 15,000 $ — $ —
Revolving line of credit availability $ 43,215 $ 48,348 $ 47,982

____________________________________________________________

(a) The working capital and current ratios as of August 3, 2013, February 2, 2013 and July 28, 2012, include the impact of the derivative liability of $12.1 million, $18.7
million and $13.4 million, respectively, which is included in accrued liabilities.

We rely on our cash resources to fund our operations and use our revolving line of credit to secure trade letters of credit and for
borrowings, both of which reduce the amount of available borrowings. The actual amount that is available under our revolving line of
credit fluctuates due to factors including, but not limited to, eligible inventory and credit card receivables, reserve amounts, outstanding
letters of credit, and borrowing under our revolving line of credit. Consequently, it is possible that, should we need to access any
additional funds from our revolving line of credit, it may not be available in full.

We believe we have sufficient liquidity, including cash and availability under our revolving line of credit, to fund our operations for the
next twelve months. However, we have had continued significant operating losses and, if our future operating performance is
significantly below our expectations or our revolving line of credit is not fully available to us, our liquidity could be adversely impacted
and it may be necessary to seek additional sources of liquidity, which may not be available in the amounts or on terms acceptable to us.
Additional actions may include further reducing our expenditures, curtailing our operations, significantly restructuring our business, or
restructuring our debt. Our current level of debt could adversely affect our ability to raise additional capital to fund our operations.

Net cash flow activities were as follows:

Six Months Ended

August 3,
2013

July 28,
2012

(in thousands)

Net cash used in operating activities $ (14,469) $ (25,183)
Net cash used in investing activities $ (4,774) $ (9,784)
Net cash provided by financing activities $ 14,780 $ 29,119

Operating Cash Flows
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Net cash used in operating activities decreased $10.7 million during the six months ended August 3, 2013 as compared with the six
months ended July 28, 2012, primarily due to the receipt of an $11.5 million incentive payment related to our new Credit Card Program
Agreement with ADS and the receipt of our annual revenue sharing payments under our current program, partially offset by an increase
in net loss, net of non-cash activity. Additionally, our cash balance was lower as of August 3, 2013 due to the timing of payments
impacted by the shift in weeks as a result of the 53rd week in fiscal 2012.
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Investing Cash Flows

Net cash used in investing activities principally consisted of cash outflows for capital expenditures which totaled $4.8 million and $9.8
million during the six months ended August 3, 2013 and July 28, 2012, respectively. Capital expenditures during the six months ended
August 3, 2013 and July 28, 2012 primarily related to the relocation and remodeling of certain existing stores and the additional
investment in our technology infrastructure.

Financing Cash Flows

Net cash provided by financing activities during the six months ended August 3, 2013 primarily reflects net borrowings on our
revolving line of credit. During the six months ended July 28, 2012, net cash provided by financing activities primarily reflects the new
Secured Term Loan with a portion of the proceeds used to pay down outstanding borrowings and related debt issuance costs.

Secured Term Loan

On July 9, 2012, we obtained a five-year, $65.0 million senior secured term loan (the "Secured Term Loan") provided by an affiliate of
Golden Gate Capital. The Secured Term Loan bears interest at a rate of 5.5% to be paid in cash quarterly and 7.5% due and payable in
kind ("PIK") upon maturity. The Secured Term Loan is collateralized by a second lien on our inventory and credit card receivables, and
a first lien on our remaining assets. The Secured Term Loan is scheduled to mature upon the earlier of July 9, 2017 or the date that the
obligations under the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement with Wells Fargo Bank dated May 16, 2011 (the "Credit Agreement")
mature or are accelerated. Upon maturity of the Secured Term Loan, the principal balance and any unpaid interest, including $29.8
million of PIK interest, will become due and payable. As of August 3, 2013, $5.5 million of PIK interest has been accrued. Also on July
9, 2012 in conjunction with the Secured Term Loan, we issued 1,000 shares of Series A Preferred Stock and the initial fair value of
$15.7 million was recorded as a discount to the Secured Term Loan. This discount is being amortized to interest expense based on the
effective interest rate method.

Credit Agreement

In May 2011, we entered into the Credit Agreement with a maturity date of May 16, 2016, which is secured primarily by our inventory,
credit card receivables and certain other assets. The Credit Agreement provides a revolving line of credit of up to $70.0 million, with
subfacilities for the issuance of up to $70.0 million in letters of credit and swingline advances of up to $10.0 million. The amount of
credit that is available under the revolving line of credit is limited to a borrowing base that is determined according to, among other
things, a percentage of the value of eligible inventory and credit card receivables, as reduced by certain reserve amounts required by
Wells Fargo Bank. In conjunction with the closing of the Secured Term Loan, we amended the Credit Agreement and repaid the separate
term loan previously provided by Wells Fargo Bank. The amendment did not materially change the terms of the Credit Agreement. As
of August 3, 2013, the revolving line of credit was limited to a borrowing base of $64.0 million with $15.0 million in borrowings and
$5.8 million in letters of credit issued, resulting in $43.2 million available for borrowing under our revolving line of credit.

Pursuant to the Credit Agreement, borrowings issued under the revolving line of credit will generally accrue interest at a rate ranging
from 1.00% to 2.50% (determined according to the average unused availability under the credit facility (the "Availability")) over a
reference rate of, at our election, either LIBOR or a base rate (the "Reference Rate") with an interest rate of 2.25% as of August 3, 2013.
Letters of credit issued under the revolving line of credit will accrue interest at a rate ranging from 1.50% to 2.50% (determined
according to the Availability) with an interest rate of 2.00% as of August 3, 2013. Commitment fees accrue at a rate ranging from
0.375% to 0.50% (determined according to the Availability), which is assessed on the average unused portion of the credit facility
maximum amount.

Debt Covenants

Both the Secured Term Loan and Credit Agreement have restrictive covenants that subject us to capital expenditure limitations based on
our approved annual plan, maintaining a minimum of $95.0 million of inventory, and maintaining a minimum of $15.0 million of
liquidity and a minimum excess availability of 15 percent of our borrowing base, as defined in the Credit Agreement. The Secured Term
Loan and Credit Agreement also contain various covenants relating to customary matters, such as indebtedness, liens, investments,
acquisitions, mergers, dispositions, dividends and other various conditions. Our current plan to close up to 45 stores under our store
optimization program and the related transfer or disposition of store assets is not limited by our Secured Term Loan or Credit
Agreement. We were in compliance with all covenants for all periods presented.
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Both the Secured Term Loan and Credit Agreement contain customary events of default. Upon an event of default that is not cured or
waived within any applicable cure periods, in addition to other remedies that may be available to the lenders, the obligations may be
accelerated, outstanding letters of credit may be required to be cash collateralized and remedies may be exercised against the collateral.
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Capital and Real Estate Plans

Capital expenditures for fiscal 2013 are expected to be between $10.0 million to $12.0 million. We currently plan to limit new store
openings to one factory store in fiscal 2013 and will continue to take advantage of real estate opportunities to improve the efficiency of
our store base, including relocating stores to more favorable locations and reducing overall store size.

In fiscal 2011, we announced a store optimization program where we expect to close up to 45 stores through fiscal 2013. Through
August 3, 2013, we have closed a total of 39 under-performing stores. There is potential to close more under-performing stores beyond
fiscal 2013. The optimization program is being achieved through a staged approach based primarily on natural lease expirations and
early termination rights. We typically do not incur significant termination costs or disposal charges as a result of store closures. Early
termination clauses generally relieve us of any future obligation under a lease if specified sales levels or certain occupancy targets are
not achieved by a specified date.

Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes our minimum contractual commitments and commercial obligations as of August 3, 2013:

Payments due by period

Total Less than 1 year 1-3 years 3-5 years
More than 5

years

(in thousands)

Operating leases (a) (d) $ 383,371 $ 67,561 $ 118,676 $ 76,717 $ 120,417
Contractual commitments (b) 127,131 127,131 — — —
Debt, including estimated interest payments (c) 127,602 19,031 9,031 99,540 —
Capital leases (d) 21,421 1,603 2,228 2,363 15,227
Benefit obligations (e) 13,673 2,246 1,803 1,291 8,333

$ 673,198 $ 217,572 $ 131,738 $ 179,911 $ 143,977

____________________________________________________________

(a) We have a significant operating lease for our 960,000 square foot distribution center located in Mineral Wells, West Virginia,
with a remaining lease commitment as of August 3, 2013 of $51.7 million. All other operating leases primarily pertain to
premium and factory retail stores, day spas and various equipment. Certain store leases have provisions to adjust the payment
based on certain criteria, for example additional rent for our store sales above a specified minimum or less rent based on
landlord vacancy rates below a specified minimum. The operating lease obligations noted above do not include any of these
adjustments or payments made for maintenance, insurance and real estate taxes. Several lease agreements provide renewal
options or allow for termination rights under certain circumstances. Future operating lease obligations would change if these
renewal options or termination rights were exercised.

(b) Contractual commitments include commitments to purchase inventory of $125.5 million and capital expenditures of $1.7
million. The timing of the payments is subject to change based upon actual receipt of the inventory or capital asset and the
terms of payment with the vendor.

(c) Upon maturity of the Secured Term Loan, $29.8 million of PIK interest will become due and payable.

(d) The primary capital lease is for our 69,000 square foot facility located in Coeur d'Alene, Idaho, which functions as a customer
contact center, IT data center and office space. This lease was amended on April 22, 2009 resulting in the lease classified as a
capital lease through July 2028, with a remaining capital lease commitment as of August 3, 2013 of $17.5 million, and as an
operating lease from August 2028 through July 2038, with a remaining operating lease commitment as of August 3, 2013 of
$16.5 million. All other capital leases pertain to various technology equipment and other real estate. The capital lease
obligations represent the minimum payments including principal and interest, and excluding maintenance, insurance and real
estate taxes.
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(e) Benefit obligations include the cash payments expected to be made related to the Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan and
other compensation arrangements.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Preparation of our consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America requires us to make estimates that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and the disclosure
of contingent assets and liabilities. We base our estimates on historical experience and on other assumptions that we believe are
reasonable. As a result, actual results could differ because of the use of estimates. The critical accounting policies used in the
preparation of our consolidated financial statements include those that require us to make estimates about matters that are uncertain and
could have a material impact to our consolidated financial statements. The description of critical accounting policies is included in our
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended February 2, 2013.

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

The market risk inherent in our financial instruments represents the potential loss arising from adverse changes in interest rates and the
market price of our common stock. We have not been materially impacted by fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates as
substantially all of our business is transacted in, and is expected to continue to be transacted in, U.S. dollars or U.S. dollar-based
currencies. We do not enter into financial instruments for trading or other speculative purposes.

As of August 3, 2013, we had outstanding borrowings of $15.0 million under our revolving line of credit. The impact of a hypothetical
10 percent adverse change in interest rates for our revolving line of credit would have resulted in an immaterial amount of additional
expense for the six months ended August 3, 2013. Our Secured Term Loan bears interest at a fixed rate and would not be affected by
interest rate changes.

The derivative liability, representing shares of Series A Preferred Stock, is measured at fair value using the Black-Scholes option
valuation model, which is significantly dependent on the market price of our common stock. Changes in the fair value are recorded as
gain or loss, net, in our consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive operations. A 10 percent increase (decrease) in the
closing price of our common stock at August 3, 2013, in isolation of the impact to the volatility assumption, would have increased
(decreased) the fair value of the derivative liability by approximately $1.4 million.

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain a system of disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our
reports under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), is recorded, processed, summarized and reported
within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to
management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding
required disclosure. In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognized that any controls and
procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control
objectives.

Our management, with the participation of our President and Chief Executive Officer and our Executive Vice President, Chief Operating
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in
Rule 13a-15(e) of the Exchange Act, as of August 3, 2013. Based on that evaluation, our President and Chief Executive Officer and our
Executive Vice President, Chief Operating Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures
were effective as of August 3, 2013.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the second quarter of fiscal 2013 that have materially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

See Note 11. Commitments and Contingencies, to our condensed consolidated financial statements.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

In addition to the other information set forth in this report, you should carefully consider the following risk factors which could
materially affect our business, financial condition or future results. We have updated the following risk factors to reflect changes during
the six months ended August 3, 2013 we believe to be material to the risk factors set forth in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
fiscal year ended February 2, 2013 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Other risks that we face are more fully
described in our Annual Report on Form 10-K and in other reports we file with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Additional
risks and uncertainties that are not currently known or currently deemed immaterial may also adversely affect the business, financial
condition, or future results of the Company.

We have a history of significant operating losses, and our failure to generate sufficient net sales and improve our results of
operations in the future will impair our ability to continue to fund our operations without additional sources of financing, which
may not be available to us in amounts or on terms acceptable to us.

Continued significant operating losses have adversely impacted our liquidity, including cash and availability under our revolving line of
credit. In order to achieve and sustain improved financial results, we must increase our net sales. We expect our future net sales will
depend on a variety of factors, including our ability to successfully anticipate and deliver merchandise assortments that resonate with
customers, improve our brand value and increase customer traffic to all of our sales channels. If we are unable to achieve improved
results, our liquidity will be adversely impacted and it will be necessary to seek additional sources of liquidity, which may not be
available to us in amounts or on terms acceptable to us and may also include further reducing our expenditures, curtailing our
operations, significantly restructuring our business, or restructuring our debt. Our current level of debt could adversely affect our ability
to raise additional capital to fund our operations. There is no assurance that debt or equity financing will be available in the amounts or
on terms acceptable to us.

Our Secured Term Loan and Credit Agreement have restrictions that limit our ability to fund operations, which could adversely
affect our business.

Both our Secured Term Loan and Credit Agreement have covenants that may restrict the manner in which we operate our business.
These covenants subject us to capital expenditure limitations based on our approved annual plan, maintaining a minimum amount of
$95.0 million of inventory, and maintaining a minimum of $15.0 million of liquidity and a minimum excess availability of 15 percent of
our borrowing base (as defined), along with various other conditions. Should we fail to comply with the covenants and conditions, our
indebtedness could be accelerated if not cured or waived. If our indebtedness is accelerated, we may not have sufficient cash resources
to satisfy our debt obligations without restructuring our debt and we may not be able to continue our operations as planned.

We use the revolving line of credit provided under our Credit Agreement to secure trade letters of credit and for borrowings, both of
which reduce the amount of available borrowings. The actual amount available under our revolving line of credit fluctuates due to
factors including, but not limited to, eligible inventory and credit card receivables, reserve amounts, outstanding letters of credit, and
borrowing under our revolving line of credit. Consequently, it is possible that should we need to access any additional funds from our
revolving line of credit, it may not be available in full. As of August 3, 2013, the revolving line of credit was limited to a borrowing
base of $64.0 million with $5.8 million in letters of credit issued and $15.0 million in borrowings on our revolving line of credit,
resulting in $43.2 million available for borrowing under our revolving line of credit.

We must successfully gauge fashion trends and changing consumer preferences or our sales, results of operations, and liquidity
will be adversely affected.

Forecasting consumer demand for our merchandise can be challenging given the nature of changing fashion trends and consumer
preferences. In addition, our merchandise assortment differs in each seasonal flow and at any given time our assortment may not
resonate with our customers. On average, we begin the design process for apparel nine to ten months before merchandise is available to
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consumers, and we typically begin to make purchase commitments four to eight months in advance. These lead times make it difficult
for us to respond quickly to changes in demand for our merchandise. To the extent we misjudge the market for our merchandise or the
products suitable for local markets, our sales and results of operations will be adversely affected. If the demand for our merchandise is
lower than expected, causing us to hold excess inventory, we would be forced to further discount merchandise, which reduces our gross
margins and negatively impacts results of operations and operating cash flows. If the demand for merchandise is stronger than expected,
we may not be able to reorder merchandise on a timely basis to meet demand, which may adversely affect sales and customer
satisfaction.
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We continue to update our style orientation to reinvigorate our brand, which includes improving the balance of our assortment to
address more aspects of our customers' lifestyle and rebuilding our under-performing categories. If these changes do not resonate with
our customers, our sales, results of operations, and liquidity will be adversely affected.

We may be unable to improve the value of our brand and our failure to do so may adversely affect our sales, results of
operations, and liquidity.

Our success is driven by the value of the Coldwater Creek brand, which is largely dependent on the success of our product design,
merchandise assortment, and marketing efforts and our ability to provide a consistent, high quality customer experience. Our marketing
programs, which include loyalty programs, e-commerce platforms and programs, and print media, are designed to improve Coldwater
Creek's brand value and to increase traffic to all channels. If we are not able to improve our brand perception and increase traffic, our
sales, results of operations, and liquidity may be adversely affected.

We are subject to significant risks associated with our management information systems, which, if not working properly, could
adversely affect our business and results of operations.

We have a number of complex management information systems that are critical to our operations, including systems such as
accounting, human resources, inventory purchasing and management, financial planning, direct segment order processing, and retail
segment point-of-sale systems. While we regularly evaluate the capabilities and requirements of our information systems, there can be
no assurances that our existing information systems will be adequate to support the future needs of our business. We are currently
undertaking certain significant information system implementations, modifications and upgrades. Installing new systems and
maintaining and upgrading existing systems carries substantial risk, including potential loss of data or information, cost overruns,
disruption of operations, lower customer satisfaction, inability to deliver merchandise to our stores or our customers and our potential
inability to meet regulatory requirements, any of which would harm our business and may adversely affect our results of operations.

Our reliance on foreign vendors subjects us to uncertainties that could adversely affect our business.

We continue to source the majority of our apparel directly from foreign vendors, particularly those located in Asia, India and Central
America. Irrespective of our direct sourcing from foreign vendors, substantially all of our merchandise, including that which we buy
from domestic vendors, is manufactured overseas. This exposes us to risks and uncertainties which could substantially impact our
ability to realize any perceived cost savings or could damage our reputation or disrupt the production of our merchandise. These risks
include, among other things:

• burdens associated with doing business overseas, including the imposition of, or increases in, tariffs or import duties, or import/
export controls or regulations, as well as credit assurances we are required to provide to foreign vendors;

• declines in the relative value of the U.S. dollar to foreign currencies;

• volatile labor, fuel, energy and raw material costs;

• failure of vendors to adhere to our quality assurance standards, code of conduct and other environmental, labor, health, and
safety standards for the benefit of workers;

• financial instability of a vendor or vendors, including their potential inability to obtain credit to manufacture the merchandise
they produce for us;

• the potential inability of our vendors to meet our production needs due to raw material or labor shortages;

• changing, uncertain or negative economic conditions, political uncertainties or unrest, natural disasters or health-related events
in foreign countries resulting in the disruption of trade from exporting countries; and

• restrictions on the transfer of funds or transportation delays or interruptions.

If we experience a change in the amount of merchandise returns than what is currently anticipated, our results of operations
could be adversely affected.
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We recently changed our return policy to be more restrictive than the previous return policy. We make allowances in our financial
statements for anticipated merchandise returns based on historical return rates and future expectations. These allowances may differ
from actual merchandise returns as a result of many factors, including the change to our return policy and changes in the merchandise
mix, size and fit, actual or perceived quality, differences between the actual product and its presentation in catalogs or on the website,
timeliness of delivery, competitive offerings and consumer preferences or confidence. Any significant increase in merchandise returns
that exceeds our estimate would result in adjustments to revenue and to cost of sales and may adversely affect our results of operations
and cash flows. In addition, due to the change to our return policy, customers may be more reluctant to make purchases and sales could
be adversely affected.
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If we are unsuccessful in transitioning service providers of our credit card program, our liquidity and results of operations could
be adversely affected.

On July 26, 2013, we entered into a Credit Card Program Agreement (the "Program Agreement") with Comenity Bank, a bank
subsidiary of Alliance Data Systems Corporation ("ADS"). Under the Program Agreement, ADS will issue co-branded credit cards and
private label credit cards to approved new and existing customers. ADS will also purchase the existing co-branded credit card portfolio
at a future date from Chase Bank USA, N.A. ("Chase"). During the three months ended August 3, 2013, we received an up-front
incentive payment of $11.5 million, which was deferred and will be amortized over the term of the Program Agreement. On September
11, 2013, ADS and Chase executed the purchase agreement for the existing co-branded credit card portfolio, triggering the second
incentive payment of $11.5 million to Coldwater Creek. We will receive an additional $2.0 million upon the launch of a new private
label credit card program. We will also be entitled to future payments after ADS begins issuing credit cards under the Program
Agreement for revenue sharing based on a percentage of credit card sales, certain new credit card accounts opened and activated, and
profit sharing based on certain profitability measures of the program. Our current credit card program with Chase will remain in place
until ADS acquires the existing co-branded credit card portfolio, which is expected to occur in the first half of fiscal 2014. If the efforts
to complete the portfolio acquisition are unsuccessful, or if we experience difficulties in the ensuing conversion to ADS systems and
support infrastructure, a decrease in credit card sales from our customers, a loss of future payments from the program, and a repayment
of the up-front incentive payments may result.

Our success is dependent upon our ability to attract and retain qualified employees and the failure to do so could adversely
affect our business.

Our future success depends largely on the contributions and abilities of our employees. For the past few years, we have operated in
challenging macroeconomic conditions, and within that environment the performance of our business has lagged behind most of our
competitors, as our turnaround has taken longer than we expected. Our cost containment initiatives have placed a significant burden on
our employees, who continue to operate with limited resources. In addition, further cost containment initiatives that we may implement
in the future could result in additional employee turnover, causing additional stress on our operational capabilities and potentially
harming our ability to operate our business in the manner we have done so in the past. Furthermore, the location of our corporate
headquarters in Sandpoint, Idaho, may make it more difficult or costly to attract qualified employees.

ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

None

ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES

None

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.

ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION

None
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ITEM 6. EXHIBITS

(A) Exhibits:

Exhibit
Number Description of Document

10.1* Credit Card Program Agreement by and between Coldwater Creek U.S. Inc. and Comenity Bank dated July 26,
2013 (confidential treatment has been requested for portions of this agreement)

31.1* Certification by Jill Brown Dean of periodic report pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a)
31.2* Certification by James A. Bell of periodic report pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a)
32.1° Certification by Jill Brown Dean and James A. Bell pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
101.INS^ XBRL Instance
101.SCH^ XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema
101.CAL^ XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation
101.DEF^ XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition
101.LAB^ XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label
101.PRE^ XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation

____________________________________________________________

* Filed electronically herewith.

° Furnished electronically herewith.

^ Pursuant to Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, these interactive data files are deemed not filed or part of a registration statement or
prospectus for purposes of Section 11 or 12 of the Securities Act of 1933 or Section 18 of the Securities Act of 1934 and otherwise
are not subject to liability under these sections.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Sandpoint, State of Idaho, on this 12th day of September 2013.

COLDWATER CREEK INC.

By: /s/ Jill Brown Dean
Jill Brown Dean
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

By: /s/ James A. Bell
James A. Bell
Executive Vice President, Chief Operating Officer and
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

By: /s/ Mark A. Haley
Mark A. Haley
Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer
(Principal Accounting Officer)
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit
Number Description of Document

10.1* Credit Card Program Agreement by and between Coldwater Creek U.S. Inc. and Comenity Bank dated July 26, 2013
(confidential treatment has been requested for portions of this agreement)

31.1* Certification by Jill Brown Dean of periodic report pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a)
31.2* Certification by James A. Bell of periodic report pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a)
32.1° Certification by Jill Brown Dean and James A. Bell pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
101.INS^ XBRL Instance
101.SCH^ XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema
101.CAL^ XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation
101.DEF^ XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition
101.LAB^ XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label
101.PRE^ XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation

____________________________________________________________

* Filed electronically herewith.

° Furnished electronically herewith.

^ Pursuant to Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, these interactive data files are deemed not filed or part of a registration statement or
prospectus for purposes of Section 11 or 12 of the Securities Act of 1933 or Section 18 of the Securities Act of 1934 and otherwise
are not subject to liability under these sections.
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Confidential Treatment Requested. Confidential portions of this document have been redacted and have been separately filed with the
Commission.

Exhibit 10.1

EXECUTION VERSION

CREDIT CARD PROGRAM AGREEMENT

by and between

COLDWATER CREEK U.S. INC.

and

COMENITY BANK
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CREDIT CARD PROGRAM AGREEMENT

This Credit Card Program Agreement is made as of the 26th day of July, 2013, by and between Coldwater Creek U.S. Inc., a
Delaware corporation (the “Company”) and Comenity Bank, a bank organized under the laws of the State of Delaware (the “Bank”).

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, concurrently with the execution of this Agreement, the Bank and The Chase Manhattan Bank USA, National
Association, are in negotiations with respect to the execution and delivery of a purchase and sale agreement (the “Chase Purchase
Agreement”) pursuant to which the Bank shall purchase the Chase Program Assets (as defined below) currently governed by the Chase
Program Agreement (as defined below) and shall assume certain liabilities related thereto;

WHEREAS, the Company has requested that the Bank establish a program pursuant to which, following the Effective Date of
this Agreement, the Bank shall issue Company Credit Cards (as defined below) to be serviced, marketed and promoted in accordance
with the terms hereof; and

WHEREAS, the Parties hereto agree that the goodwill associated with the Company Licensed Marks (as defined below)
contemplated for use hereunder are of substantial value that is dependent upon the maintenance of high quality services and appropriate
use of the Company Licensed Marks pursuant to this Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the terms, conditions and mutual covenants contained herein, and for good and
valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows:

ARTICLE I

DEFINITIONS

1.1 Generally. The following terms shall have the following meanings when used in this Agreement:

“Account” means any unsecured, open-end line of credit account established by the Bank in favor of a Cardholder pursuant to
a Credit Card Agreement (or acquired by Bank pursuant to the Chase Purchase Agreement) which may be used by a Cardholder (a) to
finance purchases, (b) with respect to Co-Branded Accounts only, for cash advances, convenience check or balance transfer transactions
and (c) for such other purposes as may be agreed by the Parties. For the avoidance of doubt, the term Account shall include the accounts
constituting part of the Chase Program Assets, the Private Label Accounts and the Co-Branded Accounts.

“Account Documentation” means, with respect to an Account, any and all documentation relating to that Account, including
Credit Card Documentation, checks or other forms of payment with respect to an Account, notices to Cardholders, credit bureau reports
(to the extent not prohibited from transfer by contract with the credit bureau), adverse action notices, change of terms notices, other
notices, correspondence, memoranda, documents, stubs, instruments, certificates, agreements, magnetic tapes, disks, hard copy formats
or other computer-readable data transmissions, any microfilm, electronic or other copy of any of the foregoing, and any other written,
electronic or other records or materials of whatever form or nature, including tangible and intangible information, arising from or
relating or pertaining to any of the foregoing to the extent related to the Program; provided that Account Documentation shall not
include the Company's or any of its Affiliates' register tapes, invoices, sales or shipping slips, delivery or other receipts or other indicia
of the sale of Goods and Services, any reports, analyses or other documentation prepared by the Company or its Affiliates for use in the
retail business operated by the Company and its Affiliates, regardless of whether derived in whole or in part from the Account
Documentation; provided, further,
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that notwithstanding that certain information included in the Account Documentation might also constitute Shopper Data, nothing in
this definition shall limit the Company's rights in and to the Shopper Data as set forth in Section 6.3.

“Accountants” has the meaning set forth in Section 12.3 hereof.

“Affiliate” means, with respect to any Person, each Person that controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with,
such Person. For purposes of this definition, “control” of a Person means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or
cause the direction of its management or policies, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise.

“Agreement” means this Credit Card Program Agreement, together with all of its schedules and exhibits, as amended,
supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time.

“Applicable Law” means, with respect to any Party, any United States federal, state or local law (including common law),
statute, rule or regulation, or any written interpretation of a Governmental Authority thereunder applicable to or binding upon such
Party, or any Applicable Order with respect to such Party, as the foregoing may be amended and in effect from time to time during the
Term, including (i) the Truth in Lending Act and Regulation Z; (ii) the Equal Credit Opportunity Act and Regulation B; (iii) the Fair
Debt Collection Practices Act; (iv) the Fair Credit Reporting Act; (v) the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act; (vii) the USA PATRIOT Act; and
(vii) the Unfair and Deceptive Trade Practices Act, and, in each case, any implementing regulations or written interpretations issued
thereunder.

“Applicable Order” means, with respect to any Person, a judgment, injunction, writ, decree or order of any Governmental
Authority, in each case legally binding on that Person.

“Applicant” means an individual that has submitted an Application under the Program.

“Application” means the credit application that must be completed and submitted in order to establish an Account (including
any such application submitted at the POS (whether through Instant Credit procedures or in paper form), by phone, by mail or via the
internet).

“Approved Ancillary Products” means the products listed on Schedule 1.1(a) and any other Credit Card enhancement products
(other than the Company Credit Cards) approved by the Operating Committee for offering to Cardholders under the Program from time
to time.

“Bank” has the meaning set forth in the preamble hereof.

“Bank Designee” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.2(b) hereof.

“Bank Event of Default” means the occurrence of any one of the events listed in Section 15.2 hereof or an Event of Default
where the Bank is the defaulting Party.

“Bank Licensed Marks” means those trademarks, trade names, service marks, logos, trade dress, internet domain names,
corporate names and other source indicators and proprietary designations of the Bank that are listed on Schedule 1.1(b), as such
schedule may be amended from time to time by the Bank.

“Bank Material Adverse Effect” means any change, circumstance, occurrence, event or effect that, individually or in the
aggregate, has had or would be reasonably expected to have a material adverse effect upon the financial condition of Bank Parent or the
Bank, the Program or the Accounts taken as a whole or the ability of the Bank to perform its obligations pursuant to this Agreement.

“Bank Matters” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.2(f) hereof.
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“Bank Parent” means Alliance Data Systems Corporation, a Delaware corporation.

“Bank Prospects” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.8 hereof.

“Bank Systems” means Systems owned, leased or licensed by and operated by or on behalf of the Bank or any of its Affiliates.

“Bankruptcy Code” means Title 11 of the United States Code, as amended, or any other applicable state or federal bankruptcy,
insolvency, moratorium or other similar law and all laws relating thereto.

“Batch Prescreen” shall mean a process where the Bank's offer of credit is made to certain customers prequalified by Bank (per
its criteria), in a batch mode (often but not exclusively within a direct to consumer environment).

“Billing Cycle” means the interval of time between regular periodic Billing Dates for an Account.

“Billing Date” means, for any Account, the day as of when the Account is billed.

“Billing Statement” means a summary of Account credit and debit transactions for a Billing Cycle including a descriptive
statement covering purchases, charges, past due account information and Loyalty Program information.

“Business Day” means any day, other than a Saturday or Sunday, on which both of the Bank and the Company are open for
business at their respective U.S. headquarters.

“Card Association” means a card association or card network (which may be Visa, MasterCard, American Express, Discover or
any successor thereto or any other card association or card network from time to time) to the extent that the Company has approved the
issuance pursuant hereto of Co-Branded Credit Cards bearing the mark of such card association or card network.

“Cardholder” means an individual who has been issued a Company Credit Card (including, as applicable in accordance with
the context of the reference herein, any guarantor of the Account related to such Company Credit Card and any authorized user(s) of
such Accounts).

“Cardholder Data” means all personally identifiable information about a Cardholder (A) received by or on behalf of the Bank
from the Cardholder in connection with the Cardholder's application for or use of a Company Credit Card or Account or (B) otherwise
obtained by or on behalf of the Bank (other than from Company or its Affiliates) for inclusion in its database of Cardholder information.
For clarity, to the extent any particular data that is Cardholder Data also constitutes Shopper Data hereunder, such data may be used and
disclosed by Company in accordance with the provisions hereof applicable to Shopper Data and without regard to any additional
restrictions that may be applicable to Cardholder Data.

“Cardholder Indebtedness” means all amounts charged and owing to the Bank by Cardholders with respect to Accounts
(including (a) principal balances from outstanding charges, (b) charges for Approved Ancillary Products, (c) with respect to Co-Branded
Accounts only, balance transfers, convenience checks, cash advances, (d) finance charges, late charges, pay-by-phone fees and (e) any
other fees and charges, whether or not billed), less the amount of any credit balances owing by the Bank to Cardholders (including in
respect of any payments and any credits associated with returns of goods and/or services and other credits and similar adjustments,
whether or not billed).

“Cardholder List” means any list (whether in hardcopy, magnetic tape, electronic or other form) that identifies Cardholders,
including any such listing that sets forth the names, addresses, email addresses (as available), telephone numbers or social security
numbers of any or all Cardholders.
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“Change of Control” means, with respect to any Person (the “subject Person”):

(i) a Person or group (other than one or more wholly-owned subsidiaries of such Person's ultimate parent entity prior to the
transaction) becomes the “beneficial owner” (as defined in Rules 13d-3 and 13d-5 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (except
that a Person or group shall be deemed to own all securities it has the right to acquire)), directly or indirectly, of more than fifty percent
(50%) of the total voting power of the subject Person or of any Person of which the subject Person is a subsidiary;

(ii) such subject Person (or any Person of which such subject Person is a subsidiary) merges, consolidates, acquires, is acquired
by, or otherwise combines with any other Person (other than a wholly-owned subsidiary of such Person's ultimate parent entity prior to
the transaction) in a transaction in which the subject Person (or such Person of which such subject Person is a subsidiary) is not the
surviving entity or which constitutes a “merger of equals”, it being understood that a Person shall not be considered the “surviving
entity” of a transaction if either (A) the members of the board of directors of the Person immediately prior to the transaction constitute
less than a majority of the members of the board of directors of the ultimate parent entity of the entity surviving or resulting from the
transaction or (B) securities of such Person that are outstanding immediately prior to the transaction (or securities into which such
securities are converted in the transaction) represent less than fifty percent (50%) of the total voting power of the ultimate parent entity
of the entity surviving or resulting from the transaction;

(iii) the subject Person sells all or substantially all of its assets to a Person that is not a wholly-owned subsidiary of the ultimate
parent entity of such subject Person prior to such transaction; or

(iv) if the subject Person is the Bank, the subject Person (or any Affiliate thereof) (1) sells, transfers, conveys, assigns to a
Person that is not a wholly-owned subsidiary of Bank Parent or terminates all or a substantial part of the Bank's Credit Card business or
(other than as permitted pursuant to Section 19.1) any portion thereof that includes all or any portion of the Accounts or that services the
Accounts, (2) enters into any definitive agreement (whether or not subject to conditions) that would upon consummation in accordance
with its terms (and assuming the receipt of all approvals and satisfaction of all conditions contemplated thereby) result in any such sale,
transfer, conveyance, assignment or termination; or (3) enters into any other transaction, whether through a subcontracting arrangement,
change in directorships or otherwise, which has the purpose or effect of changing the Persons entitled to direct the affairs of such subject
Person or any parent entity thereof or the operations relating to the conduct of the Programs to any Person other than the ultimate parent
entity of Bank prior to such transaction or any wholly-owned Subsidiary thereof.

“Charge Transaction Data” means the transaction information (in the form of electronic information) submitted to the Bank
with regard to a charge on a Private Label Account with respect to each purchase of Goods and Services or Approved Ancillary
Products by a Cardholder on credit and each return of Goods and Services or Approved Ancillary Products for credit.

“Chase” means The Chase Manhattan Bank USA, National Association.

“Chase Closing Date” means the date on which the closing of the purchase and sale of the Chase Program Assets is
consummated under the Chase Purchase Agreement.

“Chase Program Agreement” means the Bankcard Joint Marketing Agreement, dated as of November 9, 2004, between the
Company and The Chase Manhattan Bank USA, National Association, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to
time.

“Chase Program Assets” means the “Accounts”, as defined in the Chase Program Agreement, and all associated account
balances and account information, documents, and files maintained by Chase in connection therewith, with the exception of any such
Accounts: (1) that are charged-off or should be charged-off in accordance with Chase's policies for reasons such as delinquency, fraud,
bankruptcy and deceased cardholder; or (2) as to which the Account holder has a mailing address outside of the United States or one of
its territories (with the exception of APO and AFO addresses).
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“Chase Purchase Agreement” has the meaning set forth in the recitals hereof.

“Co-Branded Account” means an Account linked to any Co-Branded Credit Card and usable for the purpose of financing (i)
purchases (and all fees and charges relating thereto) of goods and services, including Goods and Services.

“Co-Branded Credit Card” means a Credit Card that (i) bears a Company Licensed Mark and a trademark, tradename, service
mark, logo or other proprietary designation of a Card Association and (ii) is linked to a Co-Branded Account.

“Company” has the meaning set forth in the preamble hereof.

“Company Channels” means (i) all retail establishments owned or operated by the Company or its Affiliates(including
Licensee departments therein), (ii) all websites owned or operated by the Company or its Affiliates or their Licensees, and (iii) all mail
order, catalog and other direct access media (including all mobile media, whether or not accessible through a website) that are owned or
operated by the Company or its Affiliates or their Licensees.

“Company Credit Card” means a Co-Branded Credit Card or a Private Label Credit Card.

“Company Designee” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.2(b) hereof.

“Company Event of Default” means the occurrence of any one of the events listed in Section 15.3 hereof or an Event of
Default where the Company is the defaulting Party.

“Company Licensed Marks” means those trademarks, trade names, service marks, logos, trade dress, internet domain names,
corporate names and other source indicators and proprietary designations of the Company that are listed on Schedule 1.1(c), as such
schedule may be amended from time to time by the Company.

“Company Material Adverse Effect” means any change, circumstance, occurrence, event or effect that, individually or in the
aggregate, has had or would be reasonably expected to have a material adverse effect upon the financial condition of the Company, the
Program or the Accounts taken as a whole or the ability of the Company to perform its obligations pursuant to this Agreement.

“Company Matters” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.2(e) hereof.

“Company Systems” means Systems owned, leased or licensed by and operated by, or on behalf of, the Company or its
Affiliates.

“Comparable Partner Programs” means from time to time other major Credit Card programs of the Bank or any of its Affiliates
that are comparable to the Program in terms of program size, public profile, brand image or cardholder profile, as relevant in the
particular context. As of the date hereof, the “Comparable Partner Programs” include those listed on Schedule 1.1(d). For the avoidance
of doubt, if the Bank becomes the Credit Card issuer for any Competing Retail Programs , such Competing Retail Program shall become
a Comparable Partner Program.

“Competing Retail Programs” means from time to time Credit Card programs, whether or not the Bank or any of its Affiliates
participate therein, of retailer institution competitors of the Company. As of the date hereof, the “Competing Retail Programs” include
those listed on Schedule 1.1(e).

“Competitive” with respect to any feature or aspect of the Program, means that such feature or aspect is both (i) no less
favorable to the Company than comparable aspects and features of the Comparable Partner Programs and (ii) consistent and competitive
with the comparable aspects and features of the Competing Retail Programs (to the extent publicly known in the case of Competing
Retail Programs in which neither of the Parties or their respective Affiliates are participants).
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“Confidential Information” has the meaning set forth in Section 13.1 hereof.

“Credit Card” means a credit card pursuant to which the cardholder or authorized user may (i) purchase goods and services,
and (ii) with respect to Co-Branded Credit Cards only, obtain cash advances or convenience checks, and transfer balances, in each case
through open-end revolving credit; and for the avoidance of doubt the term does not include: (i) any gift card; (ii) any debit card, smart
card, stored value card, electronic or digital cash card or any other card that does not provide the holder thereof with the ability to obtain
credit other than through an overdraft line or similar feature; (iii) any secured card, including any card secured by a lien on real or other
property or by a deposit; (iv) any card issued to the holder of a securities brokerage account that allows the holder to obtain credit
through a margin account or (v) any purchasing or travel and entertainment card issued to any employee of the Company.

“Credit Card Agreement” means the agreement between the Bank (including as assignee of Chase or any predecessor issuer
thereto) and a Cardholder (and any replacement of such agreement), governing the use of an Account, together with any amendments,
modifications or supplements thereto (including through issuance of a change in terms notice).

“Credit Card Documentation” means, with respect to the Accounts, all Applications, Credit Card Agreements, Company Credit
Cards, Billing Statements, POS brochures, welcome brochures and new Account membership kits relating to such Accounts, in each
case, in every form, whether printed, mobile or online.

“Disclosing Party” has the meaning set forth in Section 13.1(d) hereof.

“Effective Date” means the date as mutually agreed to by the Parties on which the Bank starts issuing Company Credit Cards
pursuant to this Agreement, which for the avoidance of doubt shall occur no later than the Chase Closing Date.

“Employee Fraud” means an instance in which an employee of the Company or its Subsidiaries has committed fraud as
evidenced by (i) a written or email admission of guilt by the relevant employee, (ii) a conviction of such employee for fraud in a court
of law, (iii) the written determination of both the Company's and the Bank's loss prevention teams agreeing that the instance involved
fraud by such an employee or (iv) determination of such fraud by the Operating Committee.

“Event of Default” means the occurrence of any one of the events listed in Section 15.1 hereof.

“Existing Receivables” means as of any day, the gross receivables purchased by the Bank on the Chase Closing Date pursuant
to the Chase Purchase Agreement that remain outstanding.

“FDIC” means the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation.

“Federal Funds Rate” means the offered rate as reported in The Wall Street Journal in the “Money Rates” section for reserves
traded among commercial banks for overnight use in amounts of one million dollars ($1,000,000) or more or, if no such rate is
published for a day, the rate published for the preceding Business Day, calculated on a daily basis based on a 365 day year.

“Fiscal Month” means each four (4) or five (5) week period designated as such in the calendar published by the National Retail
Federation for retailers on a Fiscal Year-reporting basis; provided that the Fiscal Month in which the Effective Date occurs shall be
deemed to begin on the Effective Date and end on the last Saturday of that Fiscal Month.

“Fiscal Year” means the fiscal year set forth in the calendar published by the National Retail Federation setting forth the fiscal
year for retailers on a 52/53 week fiscal year ending on the Saturday closest to January 31; provided that the first Fiscal Year under this
Program shall be the period beginning on the Effective Date and ending on the Saturday closest to January 31, 2015.

001549-0001-13793-Active.14250169.10

6

Copyright © 2013 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document

http://www.secdatabase.com


“Force Majeure Event” has the meaning set forth in Section 19.17 hereof.

“GAAP” means United States generally accepted accounting principles, consistently applied, provided that to the extent any
calculation pursuant to Article IX hereof shall be made in accordance with GAAP, unless otherwise agreed by the Parties, such
calculation shall be made in accordance with GAAP as in effect on the date hereof, as consistently applied.

“Goods and Services” means the products and services sold, charged or offered by or through Company Channels, including
accessories, delivery services, protection agreements, gift cards, shipping and handling, and work or labor to be performed for the
benefit of customers of the Company Channels.

“Governmental Authority” means any United States federal, state or local governmental or regulatory authority, agency, court,
tribunal, commission or other entity exercising executive, legislative or judicial functions of or pertaining to government in the United
States.

“Indemnified Party” has the meaning set forth in Section 18.3 hereof.

“Indemnifying Party” has the meaning set forth in Section 18.3 hereof.

“Independent Appraiser” means a nationally recognized investment banking firm, valuation firm or firm of independent
certified public accountants of recognized standing that is experienced in the business of appraising credit card businesses or
receivables, and that is not an Affiliate of the Company or the Bank, as applicable, and that is not either Party's principal auditor.

“Industry Standards” means all procedures, rules and regulations of the credit card industry, including, at a minimum, the
Payment Credit Industry Data Security Standards maintained by the PCI Security Standards Council, LLC or any successor organization
or entity.

“Initial Term” has the meaning set forth in Section 16.1 hereof.

“Inserts” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.3(a) hereof.

“Instant Credit” means an Application procedure designed to open Accounts as expeditiously as possible at POS, whereby the
Application information is communicated to the Bank systemically at POS or during the order entry process and without a paper
Application being completed by an Applicant, through the electronic submission by the Applicant of a credit card or other Bank-
approved identification to facilitate the necessary credit analysis required by the Risk Management Policies.

“Intellectual Property” means, on a worldwide basis, all intellectual property, including (i) copyrights, copyrighted works and
works of authorship including software; (ii) trade secrets and know-how; (iii) patents, designs, inventions, algorithms and other
industrial property rights; (iv) other intellectual and industrial property rights of every kind and nature, however designated, whether
arising by operation of law, contract, license or otherwise; and (v) applications, registrations, renewals, extensions, continuations,
divisions or reissues thereof now or hereafter in force (including any rights in any of the foregoing) but excluding trademarks, service
marks, trade dress, logos, trade names, internet domain names, corporate names and other source indicators and proprietary
designations.

“Interchange Fees” means the interchange fees or interchange reimbursement fees paid or payable to the Bank by the Card
Association with respect to the Accounts, in the Bank's capacity as a Credit Card issuer, and in connection with Cardholder usage of the
Accounts.

“Knowledge” means, (i) with respect to the Company, the actual knowledge of the Chief Executive Officer of the Company or
the Company's Manager and (ii) with respect to the Bank, the actual knowledge of the President of the Bank or the Bank's Manager.
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“Licensee” means any Person authorized by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to operate in and sell Goods and Services
from the Company Channels or under the Company Licensed Marks, solely with respect to such Person's or any of its Subsidiaries'
operation in and sale of Goods and Services from the Company Channels or under the Company Licensed Marks.

“Loyalty Program” means the program as initially described in Schedule 4.10, as such program may be modified by the
Company from time to time, or any other points-based or other program that rewards Credit Card usage or other Credit Card-related
metrics with points or other credits that may be redeemed for goods and/or services. For the avoidance of doubt, the “Loyalty Program”
shall not refer to any loyalty or reward program that Company or its Affiliates may adopt that is not tied to the Program or the Company
Credit Cards.

“Manager” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.3(a) hereof.

“Marketing Commitment” means the obligation of the Bank to fund the amount per Fiscal Month set forth on Schedule 5.2(b)
for the purposes set forth in Section 5.2(b).

“Marketing Fund” means an accounting entry on the books of the Bank representing the unused portion of the Marketing
Commitment, as set forth in Section 5.2(a).

“Marketing Plan” means the document that outlines the objectives, strategies and tactics, including marketing and promotional
programs, including with respect to new Account solicitation, usage and awareness programs for the applicable Fiscal Year.

“Net Credit Sales” means, for any date or measurement period, an amount equal to (A) gross credit sales on Accounts
(including gift card sales, sales tax, delivery charges, Licensee sales and any other amount included in the full amount charged by
Cardholders) charged by Cardholders in respect of any Account since the Retail Day preceding such date or the beginning of such
measurement period, minus (B) the sum of credits for returned goods and cancelled services and other credits on Accounts reflected in
the Charge Transaction Data since the Retail Day preceding such date or the beginning of such measurement period.

“New Portfolio” has the meaning set forth in Section 14.1 hereof

“Nominated Purchaser” has the meaning set forth in Section 17.2(a) hereof.

“Operating Committee” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.2(a) hereof.

“Operating Procedures” means the operating procedures for the Program in effect from time to time in accordance with Section
4.1(a) hereof.

“Parties” means the collective reference to the Company and the Bank.

“Person” means any individual, corporation, business trust, partnership, association, limited liability company or similar
organization, or any Governmental Authority.

“POS” means point of sale.

“Previously Disclosed” means a disclosure in writing setting forth an exception to the representations and warranties of the
Company or the Bank, as applicable, in each case as set forth in the corresponding Schedule to this Agreement, which Schedules are
being delivered by the Company and the Bank concurrently with the execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Parties.

“Privacy Policy” means the privacy policy and associated disclosures to be provided by the Bank to Cardholders in connection
with the Program, which shall initially be in the form set forth in Schedule 6.2(b), as the same may be modified from time to time in
accordance with this Agreement.

001549-0001-13793-Active.14250169.10

8

Copyright © 2013 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document

http://www.secdatabase.com


“Private Label Accounts” means the Accounts linked to Private Label Credit Cards and usable solely for the purpose of
financing the purchase of Goods and Services (and all fees and charges relating thereto) through any Company Channel.

“Private Label Credit Card” means a Credit Card that bears a Company Licensed Mark and may be used solely to finance
purchases of Goods and Services through any Company Channel.

“Private Label Launch Date” means a date to be mutually agreed upon by the Parties to launch the Private Label Credit Card
program, but in absence of any such agreement shall be July 1, 2014.

“Program” means the Co-Branded Credit Card and Private Label Credit Card program established pursuant to this Agreement.

“Program Assets” means the Accounts (including written off Accounts), Account Documentation, Cardholder List, Cardholder
Data, all Cardholder Indebtedness, and all rights, claims, credits, causes of action and rights of set-off against third parties to the extent
relating to the foregoing (in each case, whether held by the Bank or a third party). Program Assets shall not include the Shopper Data or
the Solicitation Material, which shall be and remain the property of the Company at all times.

“Program Objectives” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.1 hereof.

“Program Purchase Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 17.2(c) hereof.

“Program Website” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.8(a) hereof.

“Program Year” shall mean (i) the period from the Effective Date until the first anniversary of the Chase Closing Date (or if the
Chase Closing Date is not the first day of a calendar month, the first day of the first full calendar month following the Chase Closing
Date) and (ii) each consecutive twelve (12) month period commencing on the day following the last day of the first Program Year and
each anniversary of such last day.

“Purchase Notice” has the meaning set forth in Section 17.2(b) hereof.

“Real-Time Prescreen” means a process where a Bank's offer of credit is made to certain customers pre-qualified by the Bank
(per its criteria), in a real-time pre-approved manner, at the POS in any Company Channel at the time of a transaction.

“Receiving Party” has the meaning set forth in Section 13.1(c) hereof.

“Renewal Term” has the meaning set forth in Section 16.1 hereof.

“Representative” means a Person's employees, officers, directors, accountants, consultants and advisors (including outside
counsel).

“Retail Day” means any day on which a physical retail store owned or operated by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is
open for business.

“Retail Merchant” means the Company and any of its Affiliates or Licensees that accept the Company Credit Cards in
accordance with this Agreement.

“Risk Management Policies” means the underwriting and risk management policies, procedures and practices applicable to the
Program as determined and adopted by the Bank in its reasonable discretion in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, including
risk management policies, procedures and practices for credit and Account openings, transaction authorization, collections, credit line
assignment, increases and decreases, over-limit decisions, Account closures, payment crediting and charge-offs.
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“Sales Tax Refunds” means refunds, rebates, credits or deductions of sales and use tax by any taxing authority in respect of a
Private Label Account, and all allowable interest relating thereto.

“Second Look Program” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(b) hereof.

“Security Incident” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.1(c) hereof.

“Service Providers” means, with respect to a Person, the vendors, service providers and subcontractors utilized by such Person
in connection with the performance of services and obligations provided under this Agreement. For the avoidance of doubt, the Bank
and its Affiliates and their respective Service Providers shall not be deemed to be Service Providers of the Company for purposes of this
Agreement.

“Shopper” means any Person who makes purchases of Goods and Services or otherwise uses, enters or accesses Company
Channels or otherwise contacts or is contacted by the Company or its Affiliates in connection with their retail operation (whether or not
such Person makes any such purchases).

“Shopper Data” means (i) all personally identifiable information regarding a prospective or actual Shopper, including all
transaction, search, experience and purchase information obtained in connection with (A) such Shopper using, entering or accessing
Company Channels, submitting an Application or making a purchase of Goods and Services, (whether or not through use of a Company
Credit Card), including all Charge Transaction Data and all transaction, search and experience information collected by or on behalf of
the Company or an Affiliate thereof with respect to a Shopper and all line item purchase data and SKU level data collected about such
actual or prospective purchase of Goods and Services, or (B) such Shopper applying for membership in or being a member of the
Loyalty Program or any other loyalty program from time to time sponsored by the Company or its Affiliates and any transactions
pursuant to the Loyalty Program or other loyalty program, in each case in clause (A) or (B), whether such information is obtained by
Company and its Affiliates, from the Bank or otherwise and (ii) any personally identifiable information regarding a Shopper that is
otherwise obtained by (or on behalf of) the Company or any of its Affiliates at any time (including prior to the date hereof).

“SLA” means each individual performance standard set forth on Schedule 7.2(a).

“Solicitation Materials” means works of authorship, documentation, materials, artwork, copy, brochures and any other written
or recorded materials and any advertisements in any format or media (including television, radio and internet), used to promote or
identify the Program to Cardholders and potential Cardholders, including direct mail solicitation materials and coupons.

“Subsidiary” when used with respect to any Person, means another Person, an amount of the voting securities, other voting
ownership or voting partnership interests of which is sufficient to elect at least a majority of its board of directors or similar governing
body (or if there are not such voting interests, more than fifty percent (50%) of the equity interest of which) is owned directly or
indirectly by such first Person or by another Subsidiary of such Person.

“Systems” means software, databases, computer hardware, systems, networks and other computer, information technology and
telecommunications assets and equipment.

“Term” means the Initial Term and each Renewal Term.

“Termination Period” means the period beginning on the earlier of the date of expiration of this Agreement or the date of any
notice of termination pursuant to Article XVI and ending on either (i) the date the Program Assets are purchased pursuant to Section
16.2, if the Company or a Nominated Purchaser purchases the Program Assets, or (ii) the date that either (A) the Company delivers
written notice to the Bank of its election not to purchase the Program Assets or (B) the right of the Company to purchase the Program
Assets expires in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.
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“Trademark Style Guide” means any rules governing the manner of usage of trademarks, trade names, service marks, logos,
trade dress, internet domain names, corporate names and other source indicators and proprietary designations.

“Transaction” means any purchase, exchange or return of Goods and Services by a Cardholder using an Account.

“Transition Plan” shall mean the transition plan as to the actions the Parties shall take to initiate the Program in accordance
with this Agreement, which shall include the components set forth in Schedule 1.1(f) and such other provisions as the Parties may agree
in writing prior to the Effective Date.

“Unamortized Premium” shall mean, on any date, an amount equal to (i) (1/84th) of the payments received by the Company as
set forth in subsection (i) and, if the Private Label Launch Date has occurred, subsection (ii) of Schedule 9.1(b) multiplied by (ii) the
number of months, if any, rounded to the nearest integer, remaining before the seventh (7th) anniversary of the Effective Date.

“Unapproved Matter” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.2(d)(ii)(B) hereof.

“Value Proposition” means any loyalty, promotional, discount or reward program offered to Cardholders in respect of
Transactions.

“Year-End Settlement Sheet” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.1(b) hereof.

1.2 Miscellaneous.

(a) As used herein, references to:

(i) the preamble or the recitals, Sections or Schedules refer to the preamble, recitals, Sections or Schedules to
this Agreement,

(ii) any reference to an agreement (including this Agreement) refers to the agreement as amended, modified,
supplemented or replaced from time to time,

(iii) any statute or regulation refer to the statute or regulation as amended, modified, supplemented or
replaced from time to time,

(iv) any Governmental Authority include any successor to the Governmental Authority; and

(v) this Agreement means this Agreement and the Schedules hereto

(vi) the plural number shall include the singular number (and vice versa);

(vii) “herein,” “hereunder,” “hereof” or like words shall refer to this Agreement as a whole and not to any
particular section, subsection or clause contained in this Agreement;

(viii) “include,” “includes” or “including” shall be deemed to be followed by the words “without limitation”;

(ix) “$” or “dollars” shall be deemed references to United States dollars.

(b) The table of contents and headings contained in this Agreement are for reference purposes only and do not limit or
otherwise affect any of the provisions of this Agreement.
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(c) Unless the context otherwise requires, the word “or” when used in this Agreement will be deemed to have the
inclusive meaning represented by the phrase “and/or.”

(d) Unless otherwise explicitly set forth herein, any consent or approval that may be given by a Party hereunder may
be given or withheld in such Party's sole and absolute discretion.

(e) Unless specified as Business Days, Retail Days, Fiscal Months or Fiscal Years, all references herein to days,
months or years shall be deemed references to calendar days, calendar months or calendar years.

(f) Unless otherwise expressly specified herein, any document or payment that otherwise would be due on a day that is
not a Business Day shall be deemed to be due on the first Business Day thereafter.

(g) This Agreement is the product of negotiation by the parties having the assistance of counsel and other advisers. It is
the intention of the parties that this Agreement not be construed more strictly with regard to one party than with regard to the other.

ARTICLE II

ESTABLISHMENT OF THE PROGRAM

2.1 Credit Program.

(a) General. Beginning as of the Effective Date, the Bank shall offer and issue the Company Credit Cards. The Bank
and the Company shall each use commercially reasonable efforts to cause the Effective Date to occur no later than March 1, 2014, and
the Bank shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause Real-Time Prescreen and Batch Prescreen procedures and Instant Credit to
be available for use in the Program by the Effective Date. The Bank shall promptly open a new Account and issue a new Company
Credit Card with respect to each Application approved in accordance with the Risk Management Policies. Prior to the Private Label
Launch Date, each such new Company Credit Card issued shall be a Co-Branded Credit Card, and following the Private Label Launch
Date, each such new Company Credit Card shall be a Co-Branded Credit Card or Private Label Credit Card, as determined by the Bank
in accordance with Bank's best practices, provided, however, that (i) if any Applicant is qualified in accordance with the credit criteria
set forth in the Risk Management Policies to receive a Co-Branded Credit Card, such applicant shall receive a Co-Branded Credit Card
and (ii) notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 2.1(a) if any Applicant requests only a Co-Branded Credit Card or a
Private Label Credit Card, as the case may be, and is qualified in accordance with the credit criteria set forth in the Risk Management
Policies to receive such Company Credit Card, such Applicant shall be issued such Company Credit Card. Notwithstanding the
foregoing provisions of this Section 2.1(a), prior to the closing of the purchase and sale pursuant to the Chase Purchase Agreement, the
Bank shall not (i) directly market a Company Credit Card to any Person identified by the Company as a holder of a credit card serviced
and maintained pursuant to the Chase Program Agreement or (ii) issue a Company Credit Card to any such Person identified that has
been eliminated by the Bank (using commercially reasonable efforts) from the Bank's pre-screen process. Furthermore, subject to
Applicable Law, the Bank shall reasonably cooperate with the Company's commercially reasonable efforts to ensure that no Person that
is a holder of a credit card serviced and maintained pursuant to the Chase Program Agreement is issued a Company Credit Card, it being
understood for the avoidance of doubt that the Bank shall not be required pursuant to this provision to reject any submitted Application
on the basis that the relevant Applicant holds a credit card serviced and maintained pursuant to the Chase Program Agreement. To the
extent approved in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, the Program shall include and the Bank shall offer such Approved
Ancillary Products and other payment products as may be incorporated in the Program in the future.

(b) Notice to Cardholders. Prior to the Chase Closing Date, the Bank and the Company shall prepare jointly a form or
forms of notices to each Cardholder of an Account constituting part of the Chase Program Assets to the effect that such Cardholder's
Account has been acquired by the Bank and, if applicable, also containing any change of terms notices with respect to any change of
terms to be implemented pursuant to Section 4.7. Such notice shall be in the form approved by both Parties, which approval will not be
unreasonably withheld or delayed, and will
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comply with all requirements of Applicable Law. The Bank shall issue to existing Cardholders new Company Credit Cards in
accordance with Schedule 2.1(b) andshall maintain existing Account numbers on the Accounts purchased by the Bank pursuant to the
Chase Purchase Agreement to the extent technologically and operationally feasible and practicable. The costs of preparation and
mailings of such notices and new Company Credit Cards shall be borne by the Bank. The mailings shall be made in such manner and at
such time as the Bank and the Company may mutually agree.

2.2 Exclusivity.

(a) General. Except as otherwise provided in this Section 2.2, during the Term (excluding the Termination Period), the
Company agrees that it and its Subsidiaries shall not, by themselves or in conjunction with or pursuant to agreements with any bank or
other Credit Card issuer other than the Bank or its Affiliates, issue, or market the issuance of, in the United States a Credit Card bearing
a Company Licensed Mark, other than through the Program; provided, however, that nothing in this Agreement shall restrict the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries from negotiating and entering during the Term into an agreement with a third party to issue or
market the issuance of any such Credit Card subsequent to the Term.

(b) Second-Look Credit Card Program. Notwithstanding Section 2.2(a), Company and its Affiliates shall have the right
at any time during the Term to establish a program (the “Second Look Program”) for issuing Credit Cards, using the Company Licensed
Marks, to customers (i) whose Applications have been declined by the Bank or (ii) whose Accounts have been closed by the Bank for
any reason. Upon the request of the Company, to the extent permitted by Applicable Law, the Bank shall forward to the Company or a
provider of secondary financing the Applications or Account information with respect to such customers and shall take such other
actions as are reasonably requested by the Company in order to facilitate the issuance of Credit Cards to such customers pursuant to
such program.

(c) Retail Portfolio Acquisition. Notwithstanding Section 2.2(a), the Bank's sole rights with respect to Credit Card
portfolios acquired by the Company, its Subsidiaries or its Affiliates during the Term are set forth in Article XIV hereof.

(d) International Products. Notwithstanding Section 2.2(a), this Agreement does not restrict in any way the Company's
rights with respect to (i) any Credit Card, whether or not bearing a Company Licensed Mark, in any country, territory or jurisdiction
outside of the United States or (ii) any activities primarily directed at any Person whose primary residence is not in the United States.

(e) Other Products. Except to the extent expressly set forth in this Section 2.2, the Company and its Affiliates shall not
be restricted in any way with respect to any activities or payment products. For the avoidance of doubt, the Company, its Subsidiaries
and its Affiliates shall be free to do any of the following at any time:

(i) Issue or market the issuance of, whether itself or through an agreement with a third party, any payment
products not expressly covered in Section 2.2(a) (e.g., the Company and its Affiliates shall not be restricted from issuing, marketing or
otherwise taking action with respect to (A) gift cards, pre-paid cards, smartcards or stored value cards, whether or not bearing a
Company Licensed Mark, (B) debit cards, or (C) payment plans, in each case, regardless of form factor (e.g., card, virtual, mobile,
etc.));

(ii) accept any form of payment or payment product in any Company Channel;

(iii) participate in rewards programs and promotions by card associations or for cards not branded with any of
the Company Licensed Marks (e.g., American Express Membership Rewards) including, but not limited to, general purpose Credit
Cards, internet-only payment products, or internet-only or mobile payment products such as e-wallet, in any sales channel; or

(iv) modify the Loyalty Program or offer, establish, maintain or modify any other loyalty or rewards program
of any type that is not related to or integrated with Company Credit Cards, so long as (A) the
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Loyalty Program is providing at least the value to the Cardholder that it was providing before the modification and (B) at all times after
the Private Label Launch Date, the value of the Loyalty Program to the Cardholder is greater than the value of any other loyalty or
rewards program of any type that is not related to or integrated with Company Credit Cards.

ARTICLE III

PROGRAM MANAGEMENT AND ADMINISTRATION

3.1 Program Objectives. In performing its responsibilities with respect to the management and administration of the Program,
each Party shall be guided by the following Program objectives (the “Program Objectives”), which shall in no event override or limit
any of the express rights or obligations of the Parties hereunder:

(a) to drive Company retail sales and profitability;

(b) to optimize the Company's multi-channel strategy;

(c) to preserve and grow the Company's brand and deepen relationships with Shoppers;

(d) to maintain and improve customer insight and analysis and enhance the Company's customer experience; and

(e) to retain and grow Accounts and increase Company Credit Card usage to optimize Program economics for both the
Company and the Bank on a basis that is in the best interest of the business of the Company and its Affiliates.

3.2 Operating Committee.

(a) Establishment of the Operating Committee. The Company and the Bank hereby establish a committee (the
“Operating Committee”) to oversee and review the conduct of the Program pursuant to this Agreement and to perform any other action
that, pursuant to any express provision of this Agreement, requires its action.

(b) Composition of the Operating Committee. The Operating Committee shall initially consist of six (6) members, of
whom three (3) members shall be nominated by the Company (the “Company Designees”) and three (3)members shall be nominated by
the Bank (the “Bank Designees”). The initial Company Designees and the Bank Designees will be the Persons specified in Schedule
3.2(b). Each of the Company and the Bank shall have the option to appoint one (1) additional Company Designee or Bank Designee, as
applicable, to the Operating Committee. Each Party shall designate its Manager to serve as one of its designees on the Operating
Committee. Each Party shall at all times have as one of its designees the Person with overall responsibility for the performance of the
Program within his or her respective corporate organization, which in the case of the Bank, shall be the Chief Financial Officer or Chief
Client Officer of the Credit Card business of the Bank, and in the case of the Company, shall be the Chief Financial Officer or the Chief
Operating Officer. The Bank and the Company may each substitute its designees to the Operating Committee from time to time so long
as its designees continue to satisfy the above requirements, provided that each Party shall provide the other Party with as much prior
notice of any such substitution as is reasonably practicable under the circumstances. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the size of the
Operating Committee may be modified as the Company and the Bank may mutually agree.

(c) Functions of the Operating Committee. The Operating Committee shall:

(i) oversee Program marketing activities, including review and approval of the Marketing Plan;
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(ii) review collection strategies and collection metrics;

(iii) monitor activities of competitive programs and identify implications of market trends;

(iv) approve the use of any third Person, other than any Affiliate of the Bank, to perform any of the obligations to
be performed by the Bank under the Program that will involve direct contact between such Person and any
Cardholder, customer or employee of the Company or any of the Company's Affiliates or that is material to
the operation of the Program;

(v) approve the use of any offshore location (whether owned and operated by the Bank and its Affiliates or any
third Person) for the performance of any the Bank's Program servicing functions;

(vi) evaluate and review changes to the Risk Management Policies (which shall be submitted to the Operating
Committee no later than thirty (30) days prior to the date of such proposed change together with the expected
pro forma effects of such changes on key performance indicators such as open-to-buy, approval rates,
authorization rates, Net Credit Sales, and voluntary and involuntary Account attrition (to the extent known
and based upon historical analysis and forecasts)).

(vii) evaluate and approve any of the following:

(A) (i) changes to the Operating Procedures set forth in Schedule 4.1(a) and (ii) any changes to the
Bank's standard operating procedures that either (A) are not similarly applicable to all other Credit
Card programs and portfolios of the Bank and its Affiliates or (B) would create significant impact to
the Company Channels or create significant expense to the Company;

(B) offering of new Credit Cards or Approved Ancillary Products, or other payment products, as part of
the Program;

(C) changes to the Transition Plan; and

(D) changes to the SLAs applicable to the Program;

(viii) evaluate all changes in Account terms and approve any material changes in Account terms, it being
understood and agreed that any changes to any of the terms set forth on Schedule 4.7, and any imposition of
any additional fee or cost on Cardholders in respect of the Accounts not set forth in such Schedule shall be
deemed material and shall require such approval;

(ix) approve the design of Credit Card Documentation and any changes thereto;

(x) review customer service, collections and other servicing performance and reporting aspects of the Program
against SLAs and other requirements of this Agreement;

(xi) oversee compliance with Applicable Law, the Risk Management Policies, Operating Procedures and other
Program operations and procedures; and

(xii) carry out such other tasks as are assigned to it by this Agreement or jointly by the Parties.
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(d) Proceedings of the Operating Committee.

(i) Meetings and Procedural Matters. The Operating Committee shall meet (in person, telephonically or by
video conference) not less frequently than (A) monthly during the first six months after the Effective Date and (B) quarterly after the
first six months after the Effective Date, provided that unless otherwise agreed by all Operating Committee members, not less than one
(1) meeting per year shall be in person or by videoconference and not less than one (1) meeting per year shall be in person at the
Company's facilities. In addition, any member of the Operating Committee may call a special meeting by delivery of at least five (5)
Business Days' prior notice to all of the other members of the Operating Committee, which notice shall specify the purpose for such
meeting. Except to the extent expressly provided in this Agreement, the Operating Committee shall determine the frequency, place (in
the case of meetings in person) and agenda for its meetings, the manner in which meetings shall be called and all procedural matters
relating to the conduct of meetings and the approval or disapproval of matters thereat.

(ii) Actions.

(A) Except as provided otherwise below with respect to Company Matters and Bank Matters, all
decisions of the Operating Committee shall be unanimous decisions, with each Party having one vote (which may be
allocated to any Operating Committee designee of such Party (and which designee may be changed with respect to
any matter under consideration without prior notice to the other Party so long as only one designee of each Party shall
vote on each matter). A quorum, consisting of at least one (1) member (or permitted substitute or delegate) from each
of the Bank and the Company, must be present to transact business at any meeting.

(B) If the Operating Committee fails to approve any matter by the required unanimous approval of
each Party's voting Operating Committee member (an “Unapproved Matter”) within ten (10) Business Days after the
relevant initial vote, then the President of the Credit Card business of the Bank and the Chief Operating Officer of the
Company (or any other similarly ranking officer of the Bank or the Company, as the case may be, who is not an
Operating Committee member and shall have been designated in writing by the Company or the Bank, as applicable,
to the other Party) shall in good faith attempt to resolve the matter. Any such resolution by such senior officers shall
be deemed to be the action and approval of the Operating Committee for purposes of this Agreement. If after ten (10)
Business Days, the Unapproved Matter remains unresolved by such senior officers of the Company and the Bank, the
failure to agree shall constitute a deadlock. In the event of a deadlock, the final decision shall rest with the Company
in thecase of Company Matters and with the Bank in the case of Bank Matters. If a deadlock should occur with respect
to a matter that is neither a Company Matter nor a Bank Matter, the matter shall be deemed rejected by the Operating
Committee.

(C) Notwithstanding the foregoing, no changes to the Account terms or any other Program terms in
effect immediately prior to the Effective Date, other than the initial changes to the Account terms to be made as
described in Schedule 4.7 shall be made prior to the first anniversary of the Effective Date; provided, however, that if
a Party concludes that such a change is required by Applicable Law, such Party may make such change without regard
to this clause (C) if such Party would have final decision-making authority with respect to such change following the
first anniversary of the Effective Date.

(D) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, the Bank shall not override any vote
of the Company Designees in a way that would result in any aspect of the Program being more onerous or less
beneficial to the Cardholders or the Company than Comparable Partner Programs unless (i) the Bank's position on the
issue is required by Applicable Law and (ii) the Bank adopts, and certifies to the Company that it has adopted, the
same position with respect to each of its other Credit Card programs and portfolios that are similarly impacted by such
Applicable Law or to which such Applicable Law could similarly be applied.
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(e) Company Matters. In accordance with and subject to this Section 3.2, the Company shall have the ultimate decision
making authority with respect to any Unapproved Matters in respect of the following matters (the “Company Matters”):

(i) the look, feel, and marketing content and design, and changes thereto, of Company Credit Cards, Credit
Card Documentation, the Program Website, any Program related social media pages or “apps,” Solicitation Materials or other
communications to Cardholders (except for content thereof that is dictated by Applicable Law) and collateral aesthetics of any of the
foregoing;

(ii) look, feel and content of Billing Statements, except for content that is dictated by Applicable Law;

(iii) the Marketing Plan, the marketing and promotion of the Program, and the usage of the Marketing Fund;

(iv) any capital expenditures of the Company and its Affiliates, including in connection with any proposed
changes to the Company Systems (whether resulting from any change to any the Bank System or otherwise);

(v) the approval of any new Credit Card products, including Approved Ancillary Products (other than the
products listed on Schedule 1.1(a) as of the date hereof, which have already been approved) or other products and services proposed to
be offered to Cardholders and the approval of any compensation payable to the Company in respect thereof (provided that (i) the
Company shall not receive compensation in respect of those Approved Ancillary Products listed on Schedule 1.1(a) as of the date
hereof, and (ii) the economic terms and compensation arrangements related to other approved products or services must be acceptable to
both Parties);

(vi) the design, implementation, modification or any changes to any terms of the Loyalty Program;

(vii) the administration of the Program in Company Channels, including the implementation of Instant Credit,
Real-Time Prescreen and web applications, equipment and capabilities at POS, and determination of all marketing processes in
Company Channels;

(viii) the approval of any outsourcing arrangements in which the Service Provider would have direct contact
with Cardholders;

(ix) the provision of any servicing function applicable to the Program from any location other than locations
of the Bank or its Affiliates (or any permitted Service Provider thereof) in the United States;

(x) communications and/or contacts with Cardholders (other than as required to comply with Applicable
Law); and

(xi) any changes to the Company's privacy policies.

(f) Bank Matters. In accordance with and subject to this Section 3.2, the Bank shall have the ultimate decision making
authority with respect to any Unapproved Matters in respect of the following matters (“Bank Matters”):

(i) content and application of Risk Management Policies, subject to Bank's obligations under this Agreement
(including those obligations set forth in Section 4.6), and any changes to Risk Management Policies, provided that (A) the Bank shall
implement such changes only in accordance with Section 4.6 and (B) the Bank shall not exercise the right to adopt any such change
unless (1)(x) the change is dictated by Applicable Law or (y) the Bank has concluded such change is necessary to respond to an adverse
change in the creditworthiness of the
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Company's through the door population or Cardholder base, as applicable, and (2) the Bank certifies in writing that the Bank has
adopted and applies such Risk Management Policy in each of the Comparable Partner Programs and with respect to each segment of
Persons in each of the Bank's other Credit Card programs and portfolios that exhibit comparable credit qualities as the Applicants and/or
Cardholders affected by such change;

(ii) (A) changes in Account terms dictated by Applicable Law and (B) changes to the contract terms or legal
descriptions of the Accounts but solely to the extent such changes (1) are not in conflict with the cardholder terms set forth on Schedule
4.7 and (2) do not impose any additional fee or cost on Cardholders in respect of the Accounts;

(iii) content and implementation of the Privacy Policy, provided that the Privacy Policy may not restrict the
Company's access to or use of Cardholder Data or Shopper Data unless such restriction is dictated by Applicable Law and consistently
applied to Bank's and its Affiliates' other Credit Card programs and portfolios; and

(iv) content of Account Documentation and Solicitation Materials that is dictated by Applicable Law.

3.3 Program Relationship Managers; Program Team.

(a) The Company and the Bank shall each appoint one full-time employee as Program relationship manager (each, a
“Manager”). The Managers shall exercise day-to-day operational oversight of the Program, subject to the actions and decisions of the
Operating Committee, and coordinate the partnership efforts between the Company and the Bank, shall report to the designees on the
Operating Committee of the Party appointing such Manager and shall conduct their Program responsibilities in accordance with the
actions and decisions of the Operating Committee. Managers will collaborate to determine regular meeting dates, reporting
requirements, management processes, and critical business issues that should be brought to the Operating Committee. The Managers
shall also execute the annual business plan for the Program. The Company and the Bank shall endeavor to provide stability and
continuity in the Manager positions and each Party's other Program personnel.

(b) The initial Manager of the Company is set forth in Schedule 3.3(b).

(c) The initial Manager of the Bank is set forth in Schedule 3.3(c). The Bank's Manager shall report directly to the
Director of Client Sales assigned to the Program. The Bank's Manager's performance-based compensation shall be tied directly to the
performance of the Program. The Company shall have the right to require the reassignment of the Bank's Manager in the event that the
Company is dissatisfied with the Bank's Manager's performance and in such case the Bank shall fill the vacant Bank Manager position
subject to the terms of this Section 3.3(c). With respect to future the Bank Manager candidates, the Bank shall seek to propose
candidates with substantial Program relevant experience, including experience with the luxury retail businesses, ecommerce initiatives,
comparable customer demographics and loyalty programs, and the Company shall have the right to interview any new Manager
proposed to be appointed by the Bank.

(d) The Bank shall maintain a Program team having Competitive expertise and experience commensurate with a Credit
Card program of the size and nature of the Program and meeting the requirements and specifications set forth in Schedule 3.3(d). No
member of the Bank's Program team shall be concurrently assigned to any program operated by the Bank or any of its Affiliates
pursuant to any agreement or arrangement with any retail competitor, including those listed in Schedule 1.1(d), without the approval of
the Company.
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ARTICLE IV

PROGRAM OPERATIONS

4.1 Operation of the Program.

(a) The initial Operating Procedures applicable to various aspects of the operation of the Program shall be the
operating procedures attached hereto as Schedule 4.1(a). Changes to such Operating Procedures shall only be made with the approval of
the Operating Committee.

(b) The Bank shall use commercially reasonable efforts to ensure that the Program's features and functionality shall be
at a Competitive and industry-leading level.

4.2 Certain Responsibilities of the Company. In addition to its other obligations set forth elsewhere in this Agreement, the
Company agrees that during the Term and continuing until the end of the Termination Period it shall:

(a) in accordance with the Marketing Plan, solicit new Accounts through display in Company Channels of Solicitation
Materials and of Applications provided by the Bank, and, to the extent set forth herein, by providing a link to the Program Website and
by implementing in-store instant credit procedures as set forth in this Agreement and otherwise administer all marketing initiatives in
the Company Channels in accordance with such Marketing Plan;

(b) cooperate in the development and administration of the Marketing Plan in accordance with this Agreement;

(c) implement in a timely manner the aspects of the Transition Plan for which the Company is responsible;

(d) subject to the Bank's compliance with its training obligations pursuant to Section 5.4, integrate training with
respect to the Program into the Company's schedule and materials for the training of store personnel;

(e) install and implement Instant Credit, Real-Time Prescreen and web applications, procedures, devices and/or
facilities (as provided by the Bank) in physical store Company Channels at the customer service counter and/or POS locations, in each
case subject to Operating Committee approval (including approval regarding testing of such installation and the extent and timing of
such installation); and

(f) support the Program as set forth in Schedule 4.2(f).

4.3 Certain Responsibilities of the Bank. In addition to its other obligations set forth elsewhere in this Agreement, the Bank
agrees that during the Term and continuing until the end of the Termination Period it shall:

(a) cooperate in the development, implementation and administration of the Marketing Plan, implement its obligations
under the Marketing Plan in the Bank channels and fund Program expenses in accordance with this Agreement;

(b) review and process Applications in accordance herewith (including Applications submitted in each form (including
paper and electronically submitted) and through each Application channel);

(c) prepare, process and deliver an adequate supply of Account Documentation in accordance with the terms of this
Agreement;

(d) comply (and cause its applicable Affiliates to comply) with the terms of the Credit Card Agreements, the Privacy
Policy and all Cardholder opt-ins and opt-outs;
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(e) implement pre-screened Application programs in accordance with the Marketing Plans;

(f) maintain call centers and call center personnel necessary and adequate to respond to inquiries from Cardholders,
including in accordance with Section 4.11(a); address billing related claims and adjustments (including by making finance charge and
late fee reversals and rebates), establishing new Accounts, authorizing transactions, and assigning, increasing and decreasing credit
lines, all in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, the Risk Management Policies and the Operating Procedures;

(g) authorize or deny requests for authorization of transactions initiated with Company Credit Cards in accordance
with the Risk Management Policies, including by providing the Company with Instant Credit devices and/or facilities (in the form of
2-D barcode readers) for installation in accordance with Section 4.2(e) that (i) provide for real-time, immediate Application decisioning
and extension of credit to qualifying Persons for real-time purchases by such Persons and (ii) enable Cardholders and Company sales
associates to access certain information relating to the Cardholder's Account (such as Loyalty Program information, Transaction
information, open-to-buy limits and available rewards) at POS;

(h) extend credit on newly originated and existing Accounts in accordance with the Risk Management Policies;

(i) undertake required credit bureau reporting;

(j) implement in a timely manner the aspects of the Transition Plan for which the Bank is responsible;

(k) process remittances from Cardholders and process credit balance refunds in accordance with the Operating
Procedures;

(l) maintain adequate Systems and other equipment and facilities necessary or appropriate for servicing the Program;

(m) provide training with respect to the Program as further set forth in Section 5.4 below;

(n) ensure that the Account Documentation, the Solicitation Materials and any other documentation used in connection
with the Program comply with requirements of Applicable Law;

(o) provide all necessary support services to ensure the Program is fully operational in accordance with Applicable
Law and the requirements of this Agreement; and

(p) handle collection and recoveryefforts in respect of Accounts and the servicing of Accounts in accordance with the
Bank's policies and practices applicable to the Program from time to time, the terms of this Agreement, including the Program
Objectives, and Applicable Law.

4.4 Ownership of Accounts; Account Documentation.

(a) Except to the extent of the Company's ownership of the Company Licensed Marks, and without limiting the
Company's right to review and approve the form and content of the Credit Cards and Account Documentation pursuant to Section 4.5
hereof, the Bank shall be the sole and exclusive owner of all Accounts and Account Documentation and shall have all rights, powers,
and privileges with respect thereto as such owner; provided that the Bank shall exercise such rights consistent with the provisions of this
Agreement and Applicable Law. All purchases of Goods and Services in connection with the Accounts and the Cardholder Indebtedness
shall create the relationship of debtor and creditor between the relevant Cardholder and the Bank, respectively. The Company
acknowledges and agrees that (i) it has no right, title or interest (except for its right, title and interest in the Company Licensed Marks
and the option to purchase the Program Assets under Section 17.2) in or to, any of the Accounts or Account Documentation or any
proceeds of the foregoing, and (ii) the Bank extends credit directly to
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Cardholders. As between Company and the Bank, subject to the Bank's chargeback rights in Sections 8.4 and 8.5, all credit losses,
including fraud, credit, deceased, bankruptcy, or unauthorized transactions on Accounts, shall be borne solely by the Bank without
recourse to Company.

(b) Except as expressly provided herein (including in Section 9.1 and the Schedules referenced therein), the Bank shall
be entitled to (i) receive all payments made by Cardholders on Accounts, (ii) retain for its account all Cardholder Indebtedness and all
other fees and income authorized by the Credit Card Agreements and collected by the Bank with respect to the Accounts and
Cardholder Indebtedness, and (iii) retain for its account all income from selling Approved Ancillary Products as shall have been
approved by the Operating Committee in connection with the approval of the offering of such Approved Ancillary Products. For the
avoidance of doubt, the Company shall retain all revenues it receives from all Inserts (other than any Inserts promoting the Company
Credit Cards or Approved Ancillary Products that the Company may permit to be produced and distributed in accordance with the
Marketing Plan).

(c) The Bank shall fund all Cardholder Indebtedness on the Accounts.

(d) The Bank shall have the exclusive right to effect collection of Cardholder Indebtedness and shall notify
Cardholders to make payment directly to it in accordance with its instructions. The Company grants to the Bank a limited power of
attorney (coupled with an interest) to sign and endorse the Company's name upon any form of payment that may have been issued in the
Company's name in respect of any Account. The Bank shall, and shall ensure that any third party collectors, minimize the usage of the
Company Licensed Marks or other names or Marks of the Company in any collections efforts; provided, however, that the Bank, and its
third party collectors, may use the Company Licensed Marks or other names or marks of the Company in order to identify the Account.

4.5 Branding of Accounts/Company Credit Cards/Credit Card Documentation/Solicitation Materials.

(a) The Credit Card Documentation and the Solicitation Materials shall be in the design and format specified by the
Company and approved by the Operating Committee; provided that the Bank shall be responsible for ensuring that the Credit Card
Documentation and the Solicitation Materials comply with Applicable Law and for ensuring that the Solicitation Materials and Credit
Card Documentation are in conformity with the Credit Card Agreements.

(b) The Bank shall be responsible for, and bear the cost of, the design (to the Company's specifications), development,
production and delivery of the Credit Card Documentation and the Solicitation Materials, provided that the design, form and content of
the Credit Card Documentation shall be subject to the approval of the Operating Committee as set forth in Article III; provided, further,
that the Company may choose to design, develop and deliver any Solicitation Materials. Subject to the approval provisions of Section
5.2(c), out-of-pocket costs incurred by the Bank for the printing and delivery of Solicitation Materials (but not any costs incurred by the
Bank with respect to the design and development of the Solicitation Materials, which shall be borne solely by the Bank without
reimbursement) shall be reimbursed from the Marketing Fund. If a request or requirement (as applicable) of the Company with regard to
any Credit Card Documentation or Solicitation Materials requires a variation from the Bank's standard specifications, and such variation
causes an increase in any cost of the Bank, the Company shall bear the additional expense.

(c) Company Licensed Marks shall appear prominently on the face of the Company Credit Cards. The Company Credit
Cards shall not bear the Bank's Licensed Marks; provided, however, the Bank's name will appear on the back of the card in order to
identify the Bank as the credit provider under the Program, together with any other disclosures required by Applicable Law.

4.6 Underwriting and Risk Management.

(a) The Bank shall accept or reject any Application based solely upon application of the credit criteria contained in the
then-current Risk Management Policies. Upon satisfaction by an Applicant of the applicable credit criteria set forth in the Risk
Management Policies, the Bank shall promptly establish a Private Label Account or Co-
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Branded Account, as applicable, for such Applicant. In accordance with the Risk Management Policies, the Bank shall have the right,
power and privilege to review periodically the creditworthiness of Cardholders to determine the range of credit limits to be made
available to an individual Cardholder and whether or not to suspend or terminate credit privileges of such Cardholder. Underwriting and
credit decision actions taken by the Bank with respect to an Applicant or Cardholder under this Program shall not be less favorable to
the Company or such Applicant or Cardholder than actions the Bank would take with respect to an applicant or cardholder with the
same credit characteristics for eight-five percent (85%) of credit card programs or portfolios that are subject to supervision by Bank
Parent's risk management department, excluding any portfolios pursuant for which the Bank is directly compensated by its partner to
apply underwriting criteria that are less stringent than Bank's standard underwriting criteria. Beginning on the Effective Date and
continuing until the end of the Termination Period, the Bank shall make available to the Company Instant Credit in all Company
Channels approved by the Operating Committee.

(b) The Bank shall comply with the Risk Management Policies, as such Risk Management Policies may be amended
from time to time in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement. Each Party may propose modifications of any aspect of the Risk
Management Policies in accordance with this Section 4.6. In connection with any proposed material change to the Risk Management
Policies, the Bank shall, upon the request of the Company, offer the Company the opportunity to test such change for a limited period of
time on a segment of Accounts or region of stores (as reasonably determined by the Bank in consultation with the Company to be a
segment or region that is representative of the portfolio as a whole (or the portion of the portfolio to be impacted by the proposed
change) but sufficiently small so as not to have an impact on overall Program performance) and evaluate the results of such test with the
Bank. In addition, if the Bank proposes to make a modification to the Risk Management Policies, then, unless otherwise agreed by the
Company, the Bank shall deliver all of the following information relating to such proposed modification:

(i) a reasonable description of the proposed modification and the Bank's rationale for the proposed
modification;

(ii) a forecast reflecting the projected effects of the modification on key Program indicators (including
approval rates for new Accounts and Transactions, open-to-buy levels, Net Credit Sales and voluntary and involuntary attrition) and
estimated impact on Program profitability of such modification;

(iii) the results of any testing done with respect to, or other data or analysis supporting, the proposed
modification to the Risk Management Policies; and

(iv) the criteria for applying such modification, including the targeted population segment of Cardholders or
Applicants.

(c) The Bank shall not implement or require the Company to implement any significant change to the Risk
Management Policies between October 1 and January 15 of any year; provided, however, that the Bank may in any event implement a
change required by Applicable Law at any time such Applicable Law becomes effective (or in the case of any Applicable Law already
in effect, at any time such Applicable Law is determined to be required to be applied to the Bank or the Program).

(d) If the Bank has implemented or is planning to implement a change to the Risk Management Policies as a Bank
Matter, and such planned or implemented change has or is reasonably expected to have a material adverse effect on approval rates and
Net Credit Sales based upon a written pro forma analysis based upon reasonable assumptions or based upon other reasonable supporting
documentation delivered by the Company to the Bank, then, not later than the one hundred eightieth (180th) day following the
implementation of such change to the Risk Management Policies, the Company may, by notice to the Bank, initiate a thirty (30) day
negotiation period. If the Parties fail to agree to changes to the Agreement that eliminate the adverse effect in all material respects, the
Company shall be entitled to terminate this Agreement.
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(e) The Bank shall perform all necessary security functions in accordance with the Risk Management Policies to
minimize fraud in the Program due to lost, stolen or counterfeit cards and fraudulent applications. The Company agrees to use
commercially reasonable efforts to cooperate with the Bank in such functions.

(f) The Bank shall consider and propose from time to time changes to the Risk Management Policies designed to cause
the Risk Management Policies applicable to relevant Applicant and Cardholder segments of the Program to be at least as favorable to
such Applicant and Cardholder segments as are the risk management policies applied to the Comparable Partner Programs.

4.7 Cardholder Terms.(a) The terms and conditions of the Accounts purchased by the Bank pursuant to the Chase Purchase
Agreement shall be amended as soon as practicable following the Chase Closing Date to be, and the terms and conditions of all
Accounts originated following the Effective Date shall be, as set forth on Schedule 4.7. Changes to the terms and conditions of the
Accounts may be made only in accordance with the Operating Committee evaluation and approval requirements set forth in ARTICLE
III.

(b) The Card Association for all Co-Branded Credit Cards shall be a Card Association specified by the Company.
Except as otherwise approved by the Operating Committee, the Bank shall be, at all times during the Term, a member in good standing
in such Card Association and any successor thereto. The Company shall have the right to manage the Company's relationship with the
Card Association with respect to the Program, including by negotiating the level of marketing and financial support provided by the
Card Association. The Bank shall reasonably cooperate with the Company in good faith in connection with the Company's efforts to
obtain marketing and financial support and any other available benefits from the Card Association. Any financial, marketing or other
support provided by the Card Association to Company pursuant to Company's agreement with the Card Association to use the Card
Association for the Program shall belong entirely to Company. Subject to prior consultation with the Bank, the Company shall have the
right to elect to change the Card Association. The Bank shall be solely responsible for all membership, transaction or other fees,
assessments or charges at any time imposed by the Card Association with respect to the Program.

(c) Unless otherwise agreed by the Company, the account numbers, bank identification numbers and expiration dates
of all Accounts constituting part of the Chase Program Assets shall remain the same after the Chase Closing Date.

4.8 Program Website.

(a) Development of Program Website. The Bank shall develop and maintain, at the Bank's expense, a Company-
branded website providing internet services for Cardholders and potential Cardholders, with the look and feel consistent with the
Company's website (“Program Website”) which Program Website shall be operational commencing with the Effective Date and shall
include a mobile-optimized site for mobile and tablet devices. All written content of the Program Website (other than content thereon
constituting copies of or links to Account Documentation) shall be deemed Solicitation Materials subject to review and approval of the
Operating Committee in accordance with the provisions of Section 4.5. The Program Website shall be accessed solely by means of links
from the Company's website and other websites as agreed upon by the Operating Committee and shall contain or otherwise be
associated with only such material and links as shall be agreed by the Operating Committee from time to time. The Company will
provide such links on its website to the Program Website as the Operating Committee shall determine from time to time. The Program
Website shall include, at a minimum, the features and functionality set forth on Schedule 4.8 and any other features and functionality as
are made available by the Bank on the program websites of any other private label or co-branded credit card programs as to which the
Bank is issuer or servicer (which features and functionality shall be provided to Company as soon as reasonably practicable after
becoming available to such other Programs, unless otherwise elected by Company), and such other functions as may be approved by the
Operating Committee from time to time.

(i) Applications. The Program Website shall permit potential Cardholders to access an Application, to
complete and submit the Application online and receive real-time approvals of such Application in accordance with the Risk
Management Policies and Operating Procedures and shall be incorporated into the sales
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stream. Cardholders that submit Applications online and are not approved in accordance with the Risk Management Policies and
Operating Procedures shall not receive real-time declines but shall instead be notified that their Application requires further review. The
Program Website shall only make proactive offers of credit to potential Cardholders if such potential Cardholders have already been pre-
approved in accordance with the Risk Management Policies through a pre-screening process, provided that the Program Website shall
only make proactive offers of credit at such times and in such manner and through use of such Solicitation Materials as the Company
has previously approved in writing.

(ii) Cardholder Customer Service. The Program Website shall permit Cardholders to (i) view (A) the
Cardholder's Account information, Billing Statements, Transaction information, and all other information contained in such Billing
Statement and (B) via a dedicated rewards summary page, Loyalty Program Information, reward status and point accumulation; (ii)
view electronic copies of sales slips of the Cardholder's Transactions, including the Cardholder's signature (provided such sales slips and
signatures are transferred to the Bank in a digital format); and (iii) make payments on the Cardholder's Account via automated clearing
house transfer or other payment mechanism approved by the Operating Committee. The Program Website shall provide the ability to
deliver customized marketing messages and targeted offers or promotions to Cardholders on the basis of criteria such as shopping
behavior, customer profiles or geographic location.

(b) Performance Standards. The Bank shall provide the Program Website free from programming errors and defects in
workmanship and materials that impact functionality, accuracy or security of the Program Website or the ability of Cardholders to use
the Program Website and in accordance with Industry Standards. The Bank shall conform the Program Website to the performance
capabilities, characteristics, specifications, functions and other standards generally applicable to leading private label or co-branded
Credit Card program websites and required under this Agreement.

(c) Customer Privacy. The Bank shall ensure that the Privacy Policy is clearly and prominently posted on the pages of
the Program Website.

(d) Server Condition. The Bank shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause the server it will use to host the
Program Website to (i) be in good operating condition and current with evolving technologies, (ii) contain sufficient operating capability
to allow unlimited access to the Program Website, twenty-four (24) hours a day, seven (7) days a week, and (iii) operate and allow
access without interruption, subject to scheduled maintenance as set forth on Schedule 7.2(a).

(e) Program Website Maintenance. During the Term of this Agreement and continuing until the end of the Termination
Period, the Bank shall:

(i) ensure that the Program Website is at all times solely under the Bank's control (subject to the Company's
rights under this Agreement); and

(ii) ensure that the Bank at all times owns all Systems and content used in connection with the Program
Website, or has the license, right or privilege to use such Systems and content; and ensure that such Systems and content and the
operation thereof do not infringe or violate any Intellectual Property or other rights of any third party.

4.9 Sales Taxes. The Company and its Subsidiaries shall promptly pay any sales taxes due and payable by them relating to
the sale of any Goods and Services. The Bank shall notify the Company of any amounts written-off on Private Label Accounts by the
Bank, identified by Account, and shall sign such forms and provide any such other information as requested by the Company to enable
the Company to recover any Sales Tax Refunds attributable to any Private Label Account that has been written-off by the Bank. The
reasonable out-of-pocket costs incurred in connection with the Company's obtaining such Sales Tax Refunds shall be borne by the
Company. The Company shall be entitled to retain 100% of any recovered Sales Tax Refunds.
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4.10 Loyalty Program; Value Propositions.

(a) General. Subject to the terms and conditions hereof, the Company shall offer and fully fund the Value Proposition
to Cardholders (including rewards granted under the Loyalty Program) and be responsible for the design, terms and conditions of the
Value Proposition. Company shall manage and make all decisions with respect to the Value Proposition, and may make any
modifications thereto as Company may determine from time to time so long as the Value Proposition is providing at least the value to
the Cardholder that it was providing before the modification. For the avoidance of doubt, the Bank may not make any changes to any
element of the Loyalty Program or a Value Proposition without the Company's approval.

(b) Loyalty Program. All elements of the Loyalty Program shall remain in effect and shall be honored by the Parties
unless modified by the Company; provided that (i) following any such modification shall remain the primary Loyalty Program for the
Company Channels, (ii) no such modification shall have a material adverse effect on the Program, and (iii) the Loyalty Program is
providing at least the value to the Cardholder that it was providing before such modification. Without limiting the foregoing, as a
strategic priority for the Program, the Bank shall facilitate the Company's efforts to improve the effectiveness of the Loyalty Program in
driving Transactions in all Company Channels by actively proposing to the Company possible improvements in Loyalty Program
features and functionality, and providing at the Bank's cost reasonable analyses of the projected effects of such proposed improvements
on Net Credit Sales.

(c) Loyalty Program and Value Proposition Support. The Bank will provide the Company, at the Bank's sole cost and
expense, with system functionality tied to the Accounts to support the Loyalty Program, including recording the accumulation of loyalty
points, tracking, lookup/reporting, award certificate production and distribution and the other functions reasonably required to support
the Loyalty Program. The Bank shall be responsible for accounting and servicing of all rewards under other Value Propositions
associated with the Program, as well as value proposition testing (and reporting the results of such testing to the Company) as may be
reasonably requested by the Company from time to time. In the event the Company makes modifications to the Loyalty Program or
other Value Propositions, the Bank shall also provide, at its sole cost and expense, functionality to support such modifications so long as
such modifications require functionality that is compatible with the Bank's existing or future capabilities available to other clients of the
Bank or otherwise reasonably available to the Bank.

4.11 Program Competitiveness.

(a) Customer Experience. The Bank shall use commercially reasonable efforts to ensure that the Bank and its Affiliates
perform their obligations hereunder at all times (i) in such a way as to ensure a level of customer service to Cardholders and a consumer
experience to Shoppers that is (A) consistent with the Company's luxury brand, (B) commensurate with the demographic and the
expectations of the Shoppers and of customers of luxury brands at retailer institution competitors of the Company and (C) competitive
with the highest customer service level standards achieved by the Competing Retail Programs (to the extent publicly known). Without
limiting the foregoing, the Bank shall perform its obligations hereunder (x) with no less than a reasonable degree of care and diligence,
(y) with no less care and diligence than that degree of care and diligence employed by the Bank and its Affiliates with respect to its
obligations relating to the Comparable Partner Programs and (z) in all events with no less than the degree of care and diligence
employed by the Company prior to the Effective Date. The Bank and its Affiliates shall perform their respective obligations hereunder
at all times in such a way as to not disparage or embarrass the Company or its name or brands and in a manner designed to facilitate and
not impair achievement of the Program Objectives.

(b) Marketplace Developments. Not less than once every three (3) months and at such other times as the Company
may request, the Bank shall present information with respect to, and the Operating Committee shall consider, features, terms,
conditions, capabilities and other aspects of other Comparable Partner Programs and Competing Partner Programs (to the extent
publicly known) in order to identify marketplace developments for possible inclusion in the Program to ensure that the Program remains
Competitive and that the Company is offered the opportunity to incorporate enhanced Program features and capabilities as such features
and capabilities become available to other retail Credit Card programs in the marketplace. If the Company reasonably believes that a
feature
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or capability so available in the marketplace would enhance Program functionality or the Cardholder experience, upon request of the
Company, the Operating Committee shall develop a plan to implement such feature or capability. If within a reasonable timeframe (not
to exceed twelve (12) months from the date of the Company's request) the Bank is unwilling or unable or otherwise fails to develop the
feature or capability or otherwise meaningfully improve and remediate the impact on the customer experience with a reasonably similar
outcome to that which would be achieved through implementation of the marketplace capability, then the Company will have the right
to procure such capability from sources other than the Bank.

ARTICLE V

MARKETING

5.1 Promotion of Program. In accordance with the Marketing Plan, the Company and the Bank shall cooperate with each
other and actively support and promote the Program to both existing and potential Cardholders.

5.2 Marketing Commitment.

(a) On the Effective Date and no later than the first (1st) Business Day of each subsequent Fiscal Month, the Bank shall
make available to the Company an amount equal to the Marketing Commitment for such Fiscal Month, which amount shall be deposited
into the Marketing Fund.

(b) The Marketing Fund shall be used by the Company and its Affiliates to cover the cost (which cost may include
amounts payable to Service Providers, including temporary employees or consultants engaged in marketing activities including the
activities listed below) of such incremental marketing of the Company's Goods and Services, retail business, brand or the Program as
the Company and its Affiliates shall elect from time to time, which incremental marketing may include the following:

(i) in-store signage;

(ii) expenses incurred by the Company and its Affiliates in connection with Program-related updates on the
Company's website;

(iii) Company associate and store-level account acquisition incentive programs (including associate incentive
funds);

(iv) direct mail, print media and other promotional campaigns, including for Credit Card acquisitions,
activation, usage and new store openings with credit- or loyalty-related offers;

(v) internet, social media or mobile marketing and placement on Company-owned websites and “apps”;

(vi) expenses incurred by the Company and its Affiliates in connection with product and marketing research;

(vii) in-store training associated with on-going store acquisition program, training associated with program re-
launch, new store, special events, and computer-based training for new store hires;

(viii) Credit Card-related media purchases;

(ix) loyalty program and rewards testing;

(x) other testing initiatives; and

(xi) other activities directed by the Operating Committee.
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(c) The Company shall deliver to the Bank within fifteen (15) days after the end of each Fiscal Month, invoices setting
forth an accounting of the expenditures made by the Company or its Affiliates or their respective Service Providers to be deducted from
the Marketing Fund during the Fiscal Month covered by such invoices and the Bank shall, in accordance with Article IX, reimburse the
Company or any third party designated by the Company for the amounts set forth in such invoices. The reports prepared by the Bank
pursuant to Section 7.1(a) shall also reflect any amounts permitted by the Operating Committee to be expended by the Bank or its
Affiliates or their respective Service Providers and reimbursed from the Marketing Fund, and such amounts, to the extent so approved
by the Operating Committee, shall be deducted from the Marketing Fund.

(d) To the extent that the expenditures of the Marketing Commitment in any Fiscal Month exceed the amount in the
Marketing Fund, the Company shall be entitled to reimbursement from the Marketing Fund for the following Fiscal Month. Any amount
in the Marketing Fund for a given Fiscal Month that is not spent in that Fiscal Month shall remain available for use during the Term and
continuing until the end of the Termination Period.

5.3 Communications with Cardholders.

(a) Company Inserts. The Company and its Affiliates shall have the exclusive right to communicate with Cardholders,
except for any message required by Applicable Law, through use of inserts, fillers and bangtails (which shall be included on all billing
envelopes) (collectively, “Inserts”), including Inserts selectively targeted for particular segments of Cardholders, in any and all Billing
Statements (including electronic Billing Statements) and envelopes, subject to production requirements contained in the Operating
Procedures and Applicable Law.Except as otherwise provided in the Marketing Plan, and except for Inserts required by Applicable Law
(which shall be paid for by the Bank), the Company shall be responsible for the content and look and feel of, and the cost of preparing
and printing, any such Inserts. If the insertion of Inserts in particular Billing Statements would increase the postage costs for such
Billing Statements, the Company agrees to either pay for the incremental postage cost (provided in proportion to the weight of such
Inserts relative to the weight of all inserts in such Billing Statements) or prioritize the use of Inserts to avoid postage cost over-runs. The
Bank's Manager shall provide the Company with as much advance notice as reasonably practicable regarding the inclusion of a
particular Insert in particular Billing Statements. The Company shall be entitled to deliver Insert materials to the Bank no later than five
(5) calendar days prior to the Bank's mailing date for inclusion in a mailing. The Company shall retain all revenues it receives from all
Inserts (other than any Inserts promoting the Company Credit Cards or Approved Ancillary Products that the Company may permit to
be produced and distributed in accordance with the Marketing Plan). Subject to the Company's prior written approval, the Bank may
communicate with Cardholders in the Inserts about the Program as necessary for the Bank to comply with its obligations under this
Agreement. For the avoidance of doubt, other than with respect to Inserts required by Applicable Law, the Bank shall have no right to
communicate with Cardholders via Inserts without the prior approval of the Company; provided, however, in any given Billing Cycle in
which there is additional space in the Billing Statements, Bank shall have the right to include Inserts related to Approved Ancillary
Products.

(b) Billing Statement Messages. The Company and its Affiliates shall have the exclusive right to use Billing Statement
(including electronic Billing Statement) messages and Billing Statement envelope and return envelope (or electronic mail) messages in
each Billing Cycle to communicate with Cardholders, subject to production requirements contained in the Operating Procedures and
Applicable Law. Such messages shall be included at no cost to the Company. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any message required by
Applicable Law shall take precedence over the Company's and its Affiliates' messages. Subject to the Company's prior written approval,
the Bank may communicate with Cardholders about the Program in the Billing Statements as necessary for the Bank to comply with its
obligations under this Agreement. The Bank shall provide the ability to deliver customized Billing Statement messages (in paper and
electronic Billing Statements) to Cardholders, including differentiated messages to Cardholders in the Billing Statements delivered in
any single Billing Cycle on the basis of criteria such as shopping behavior, customer profiles or geographic location.
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5.4 Additional Marketing Support. (a) Upon the request of the Company from time to time, the Bank shall perform the
following marketing functions at no cost or expense to the Company:

(i) use the databases, analytic tools, market research and marketing support services of the Bank and its
Affiliates engaged in or supporting the Credit Card business, and provide access thereto to the Company and its Affiliates,
including providing (to the extent permitted by Applicable Law and the agreements between the Bank and its Affiliates
engaged in or supporting the Credit Card business and other third parties) transaction and experience information about
cardholders and customers of the other Credit Card and other relevant loan programs of the Bank and its Affiliates engaged in
or supporting the Credit Card business and such other information as may be relevant, to assist the Company and its Affiliates
in their evaluation of the performance of the Program, the Loyalty Program, marketing campaigns and their promotion of the
Company Channels, or the marketing and promotion of Goods and Services and the Company Credit Cards;

(ii) conduct mailings and other related marketing efforts on behalf of the Company and its Affiliates, which
may include marketing materials promoting the Program, the Company Credit Cards, the Company Channels and/or the Goods
and Services at the Company's option, based upon the customer databases and customer database analysis tools maintained by
the Bank and its Affiliates, including nonpersonally identifiable transaction and experience data from the Bank's and its
Affiliates' Credit Card, other consumer loan portfolio and other customer databases; provided that (unless such amounts are
paid out of the Marketing Fund) the Company shall be responsible for all out-of-pocket expenses of all marketing materials and
mailing services at cost;

(iii) provide such reasonable assistance to the Company and its Affiliates as the Company may request in
connection with the training of personnel of the Company and its Affiliates regarding the Program, including providing training
materials developed by the Bank and approved by the Operating Committee and provide such training to members of Company
management in charge of conducting training of sales associates and sales representatives regarding the Program;

(iv) collaborate with the Company to identify and test marketing initiatives (using the resources of the Bank
and its Affiliates engaged in or supporting the Credit Card business), including through periodic customer satisfaction surveys
pursuant to Section 5.4(b);

(v) provide models and modeling support, which may include Cardholder attrition models, prospect
marketing models and other tools designed to improve Program performance;

(vi) identify, and collaborate with the Company to implement, opportunities that may exist within franchises
of Bank and its Affiliates engaged in or supporting the Credit Card business to promote the Company brand and the Goods and
Services, subject to data confidentiality; and

(vii) as requested by the Company from time to time, provide the Company, to the extent permitted by
Applicable Law, the Privacy Policy and Bank's obligations under agreements with third parties, with access and marketing
rights to customers of Bank and its Affiliates engaged in or supporting the Credit Card business and meeting specified criteria,
such as (1) demonstrated shopping behavior in Company Channels or other specified retailers, (2) customers with profiles
similar to the customer profile in Company Channels and (3) customers within geographic proximity of actual or planned
stores of the Company or any of its Affiliates.

(b) Following the Effective Date, the Bank shall, at its sole expense, conduct surveys of Cardholder perception and
satisfaction on a regular, periodic basis regarding the Company Credit Cards, the Program, the Loyalty Program and the Value
Proposition but in no event less frequently than annually. Such surveys shall be in a form and content and employ methodologies
developed in consultation with the Company and reasonably satisfactory to the Company and shall provide for a level of information
reasonably acceptable to the Company. The
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Bank shall make available to the Company the results of such surveys as well as all associated work papers promptly following
completion thereof.

5.5 Approved Ancillary Products. Except for the Approved Ancillary Products and the Company Credit Cards, the Bank and
its Affiliates shall not offer (except as directed by the Company) any goods or services to Cardholders or through the Program. From
time to time, the Bank may propose to solicit Cardholders for products or services other than the foregoing. If the Company agrees to
permit such solicitation, such solicitation shall only be permitted on the terms (including terms relating to the compensation of the
Company with respect thereto; except with respect to the Approved Ancillary Products listed on Schedule 1.1(a) as of the date hereof)
agreed by the Company. With respect to the Approved Ancillary Products listed on Schedule 1.1(a) as of the date hereof, the Bank shall
be entitled to retain all revenues therefrom.

5.6 Marketing Plan.

(a) Promptly following the date hereof, the Company and the Bank shall jointly develop a Marketing Plan for the
period from the Effective Date through the end of the first Fiscal Year of the Program. Such proposed Marketing Plan, with any
modifications thereto approved by the Parties, shall be submitted for approval by the Operating Committee in accordance with Article
III prior to the Effective Date, and the proposed Marketing Plan so submitted, with any modifications thereto approved by the Operating
Committee pursuant to Article III, shall be the “Marketing Plan” for the first Fiscal Year of the Program. For each Fiscal Year thereafter,
the Company and the Bank shall jointly develop a proposed Marketing Plan, which (together with any modifications thereto approved
by the Parties) shall be submitted for approval by the Operating Committee on or before the ninetieth (90th) day prior to the end of the
Fiscal Year prior to the Fiscal Year covered by the Marketing Plan, and such proposed Marketing Plan so submitted, with any
modifications thereto approved by the Operating Committee pursuant to Article III, shall be the “Marketing Plan” for the Fiscal Year
covered thereby. Material changes to an approved Marketing Plan shall require the approval of the Operating Committee.

(b) Each Marketing Plan shall outline, for each Company Channel, all programs, and shall include at least the
following information for each program:

(i) description of offer(s) (including the cost thereof), expected response rate and other performance
projections with respect thereto;

(ii) description of target audience;

(iii) planned budget for implementation of marketing initiatives, specifying the Bank's share and the
Company's share (which may be funded by use of the Marketing Fund), if any;

(iv) distribution among the Company Channels and types of Accounts;

(v) target implementation date (e.g., mailing dates, calling dates, delivery dates); and

(vi) measurement criteria for program performance.

(c) Each Marketing Plan shall address development of Solicitation Materials and Account Documentation; new
Account acquisition strategies, including direct mailing; preparation of unique collateral materials for the Company's employees;
activation, retention and usage; statement design and messaging; advertising of the Program; and such other marketing matters as the
Parties shall agree to.

(d) Each Marketing Plan shall specify which Party is responsible for each Marketing Plan item and shall contain a
budget specifying the Parties' financial responsibilities during the applicable Fiscal Year and identify which items may be funded by use
of the Marketing Fund.
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(e) To the extent practicable, all significant marketing initiatives developed under this Agreement shall contain unique
marketing source codes to facilitate post-marketing research and analysis.

5.7 Pre-Approval Process. The Bank will at all times implement the real-time pre-approval process set forth in the Operating
Procedures.

5.8 ADS Lists. The Bank shall make available to the Company, free of charge, a list of individuals who are U.S. residents
eighteen (18) years of age and older and who have not notified the Bank of their election to exercise their rights under privacy opt-out,
or “do-not-solicit” and “do-not-call” provisions (“Bank Prospects”), which may be used by the Company to market Company Credit
Cards and Goods and Services. The Bank shall ensure that such lists delivered pursuant to this Section 5.8 shall contain a number of
unique Bank Prospect names (other than names on any list delivered pursuant to this Section 5.8) of not less than three million
(3,000,000) in the first Program Year and five hundred thousand (500,000) in each Program Year thereafter.

ARTICLE VI

CARDHOLDER INFORMATION

6.1 Customer Information.

(a) All sharing, use and disclosure of Cardholder Data and Shopper Data under this Agreement shall be subject to the
provisions of this Article VI. The Parties acknowledge that the same or similar information may be contained in the Cardholder Data
and the Shopper Data, and that each such pool of data shall therefore be considered separate information subject to the specific
provisions applicable to that data hereunder. By way of example and not limitation, if a Cardholder makes a purchase of Goods and
Services with a Company Credit Card, the Company may use and disclose the Shopper Data relating to that purchase for all purposes
permitted with respect to Shopper Data hereunder, notwithstanding that such information may also constitute Cardholder Data.

(b) The Company and the Bank shall each establish and maintain appropriate administrative, technical and physical
safeguards to protect the security, confidentiality and integrity of the Cardholder Data and Shopper Data designed to meet all
requirements of Applicable Law, including, at a minimum, maintenance of an information security program that is designed to: (i)
ensure the security and confidentiality of the Cardholder Data and the Shopper Data; (ii) protect against any anticipated threats or
hazards to the security or integrity of the Cardholder Data and the Shopper Data; (iii) protect against unauthorized access to or
modification, destruction, disclosure or use of the Cardholder Data and the Shopper Data; and (iv) ensure the proper disposal of
Cardholder Data and Shopper Data. Additionally, such security measures shall meet current Industry Standards and shall be at least as
protective as those used by each Party to protect its other confidential customer information but in no event less than a reasonable
standard of care. Each Party will ensure that any Cardholder Data or Shopper Data disclosed to any permitted recipient or transferee
pursuant to Sections 6.2(d), 6.2(g), or 6.3(c), as the case may be, will be considered information transferred by the Party requesting or
directing the transfer. The Bank shall treat Shopper Data as if it were its own “customer information” for purposes of Applicable Law or
Industry Standards, and any administrative, technical and physical safeguards, and the provisions of this Section 6.1, applicable to the
Cardholder Data shall be similarly applied by the Bank to the Shopper Data.

(c) In the event a Party becomes aware of any unauthorized use, modification, destruction or disclosure of, or access
to, Cardholder Data, or in the event the Bank becomes aware of any unauthorized use, modification, destruction or access to, Shopper
Data (any of the foregoing events or circumstances, a “Security Incident”), such Party or the Bank, as the case may be, shall
immediately notify the other Party and shall cooperate with such other Party, as it deems necessary (or in the case of the Party that
experienced (or whose Service Provider experienced) such Security Incident, as reasonably requested by the other Party) and as required
by Applicable Law, (x) to assess the nature and scope of the Security Incident, (y) to contain and control the Security Incident to prevent
further unauthorized access to or use of Cardholder Data or Shopper Data, and (z) to provide prompt notice to affected Cardholders or
Shoppers to the extent required by Applicable Law or otherwise with the approval of the Operating Committee. The cost and expenses
of any such notice, and any Losses arising from third party claims
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arising out of such Security Incident, shall be borne solely by the Party that experienced (or whose Service Provider experienced) the
Security Incident.

(d) Each Party shall, subject to Applicable Law, promptly provide to the other Party a complete list of any Persons who
have requested to be on the respective Party's “do not call” and/or “do not mail” lists (or other similar lists). Upon receipt of such lists,
the Bank shall promptly comply with such requests with respect to its solicitation of Company Credit Cards and Approved Ancillary
Products, and the Company shall promptly comply with such requests with respect to its telemarketing and other solicitations with
respect to the Program.

(e) Each Party agrees that any unauthorized use or disclosure of Cardholder Data or Shopper Data in breach of this
Article VI might cause immediate and irreparable harm to the non-breaching Party for which money damages might not constitute an
adequate remedy. In that event, the Parties agree that injunctive relief may be warranted in addition to any other remedies available to
the non-breaching Party.

6.2 Cardholder Data.

(a) As among the Parties hereto, the Cardholder Data shall be the property of and exclusively owned by the Bank.

(b) The Privacy Policy applicable to the Cardholder Data is attached as Schedule 6.2(b) hereto. Any modifications to
the Privacy Policy shall be approved by the Operating Committee in accordance with Section 3.2 and shall comply with Applicable Law
at all times.

(c) The Bank may use the Cardholder Data in compliance with Applicable Law and the Program Privacy Policy solely
(i) for purposes of soliciting, marketing or servicing (in each case, solely as directed by the Company or the Operating Committee)
customers listed in the Cardholder Data for Company Credit Cards, Approved Ancillary Products, and any other products and services
approved by the Operating Committee, (ii) as otherwise necessary to carry out its obligations or exercise its rights hereunder, (iii) as
required by Applicable Law, or (iv) for purposes of performing analysis and modeling, provided, however, that Cardholder Data used
for analysis and modeling other than with respect to the Program shall be non-personally identifiable information, shall be aggregated
with data from other portfolios, and shall not be used in connection with or for the benefit of any co-branded or private label credit
program that is or may be offered by Bank on behalf of or in association with any retailer. The Bank has no rights to, and shall not, in
any event,use the Cardholder Data for marketing or any other purposes except as expressly provided in this Section 6.2(c).

(d) The Bank shall not, directly or indirectly, disclose, sell, transfer, or rent (or permit others to do same), the
Cardholder Data, except in compliance with Applicable Law and the Program Privacy Policy solely:

(i) to its Service Providers authorized in accordance with this Agreement solely on a “need to know” basis in
connection with a permitted use of the Cardholder Data pursuant to Section 6.2(c), provided that each such Service Provider agrees in a
written agreement to (a) maintain all such Cardholder Data as strictly confidential and not to use or disclose such information to any
Person other than the Bank or the Company, except as required by Applicable Law or any Governmental Authority (after giving the
Bank and the Company prior notice and an opportunity to defend against such disclosure); and (b) maintain an information security
program that is designed to meet all requirements of Applicable Law, including, at a minimum, all requirements set forth in Section
6.1(b);

(ii) to its Affiliates and its and their Representatives on a “need to know” basis in connection with a permitted
use of the Cardholder Data pursuant to Section 6.2(c); provided that the Bank communicates the confidential nature of the Cardholder
Data to such Persons, such Persons are bound (by agreement or their professional responsibilities) to maintain the confidentiality of the
Cardholder Data in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement, and the Bank shall be responsible for the compliance by each
such Person with the terms of this Section 6.2;
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(iii) to any Governmental Authority with authority over the Bank (A) in connection with an examination of
the Bank; or (B) pursuant to a specific requirement to provide such Cardholder Data by such Governmental Authority or pursuant to
compulsory legal process; provided that the Bank seeks the full protection of confidential treatment for any disclosed Cardholder Data
to the extent available under Applicable Law governing such disclosure, and with respect to clause (B), to the extent permitted by
Applicable Law, the Bank (1) provides at least ten (10) Business Days' prior notice of such proposed disclosure to the Company if
reasonably possible under the circumstances, and (2) seeks to redact the Cardholder Data to the fullest extent possible under Applicable
Law governing such disclosure; or

(iv) to the extent permitted in the Risk Management Policies and Operating Procedures, to any consumer
reporting agency in accordance with the federal Fair Credit Reporting Act.

(e) Subject to Applicable Law and the Privacy Policy, the Bank shall provide the Company with reasonable access,
through the Bank's data analysts, to all Cardholder Data obtained by the Bank in connection with the Program, which includes at least
the items listed below. In addition, subject to Applicable Law, and as reasonably requested by Company, the Bank shall provide
Company with an updated copy of the master file or such elements thereof as may be requested by Company. Subject to Applicable Law
and the Program Privacy Policy, the Bank shall transmit to the Company on a real-time basis throughout each day by a secure data feed
into Company Systems designated by the Company from time to time, in formats agreed to by the Parties in advance from time to time:

(i) for any customer who has applied for a Company Credit Card, regardless of the marketing channel of such
application: (A) the customer's name, address, email address, telephone number and all other information supplied on the application or
prescreened response submitted by the customer; and (B) if the customer has been approved for a Company Credit Card, the Company
Credit Card Account identification number issued (or to be issued) to such customer;

(ii) for each Cardholder, joint-Cardholder and authorized buyer, (1) such person's name, address, email
address, telephone number and Account identification number; (2) any reported change to any of the foregoing information; (3)
transaction and experience data; and (4) any such other Cardholder Data as the Company may reasonably request;

(iii) the Cardholder's name and Account identification number for any Account that has been closed;

(iv) the Cardholder Data for all categories of information available to the Company as of the date hereof prior
to giving effect to this Agreement; and

(v) analytical output that the Bank or any of its Affiliates has derived or may derive from their databases that
might enhance the Company's understanding of its customers and that the Company reasonably believes could be used to improve the
marketing of the Company or the Program.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, no Party hereto shall be required to provide any information on a personally identifiable basis if the
provision of such personally identifiable information would cause such Party to be considered a “consumer reporting agency” for
purposes of the Fair Credit Reporting Act.

(f) The Bank shall cooperate with the Company to provide the Company and its Affiliates with the maximum ability
permissible under Applicable Law and the Privacy Policy to receive, use and disclose the Cardholder Data, including, as necessary or
appropriate, through use of consents, opt-in provisions or opt-out provisions, in each case as directed by the Company. Without limiting
the foregoing, the Company and each of its Affiliates may receive, use and disclose the Cardholder Data in compliance with Applicable
Law and the Privacy Policy (i) for purposes of promoting the Program or promoting Goods and Services, (ii) for all commercially
reasonable purposes in the same manner as Shopper Data, (iii) as otherwise necessary to carry out its obligations under this Agreement,
and (iv) as otherwise permitted by Applicable Law.
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(g) The Company may disclose the Cardholder Data in compliance with Applicable Law and the Privacy Policy solely:

(i) to its Service Providers authorized in accordance with this Agreement solely on a “need to know” basis in
connection with a permitted use of the Cardholder Data pursuant to Section 6.2(f), provided that each such Service Provider agrees in a
written agreement reasonably satisfactory to the Company to (a) maintain all such Cardholder Data as strictly confidential and not to use
or disclose such information to any Person other than the Bank or the Company, except as required by Applicable Law or any
Governmental Authority (after giving the Bank and the Company prior notice and an opportunity to defend against such disclosure); (b)
maintain an information security program that is designed to meet all requirements of Applicable Law, including, at a minimum, all
requirements set forth in Section 6.1(b); and (c) notify promptly the Bank and the Company of any unauthorized disclosure, use, or
disposal of, or access to, Cardholder Data and to cooperate with the Bank and the Company in any investigation thereof and remedial
action with respect thereto; and provided, further, that the Company shall be responsible for the compliance of each such Service
Provider with the terms of this Section 6.2

(ii) to its Affiliates and its and their Representatives on a “need to know” basis in connection with a permitted
use of the Cardholder Data pursuant to Section 6.2(f); provided that the Company communicates the confidential nature of the
Cardholder Data to such Persons, such Persons are bound (by agreement or their professional responsibilities) to maintain the
confidentiality of the Cardholder Data in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement, and the Company shall be responsible for
the compliance by each such Person with the terms of this Section 6.2;

(iii) to any Governmental Authority with authority over the Company (A) in connection with an examination
of the Company; or (B) pursuant to a specific requirement to provide such Cardholder Data by such Governmental Authority or
pursuant to compulsory legal process; provided that the Company seeks the full protection of confidential treatment for any disclosed
Cardholder Data to the extent available under Applicable Law governing such disclosure, and with respect to clause (B), to the extent
permitted by Applicable Law, the Company (1) provides at least ten (10) Business Days' prior notice of such proposed disclosure to the
Bank if reasonably possible under the circumstances, and (2) seeks to redact the Cardholder Data to the fullest extent possible under
Applicable Law governing such disclosure; or

(iv) as otherwise permitted by Applicable Law and the Privacy Policy.

(h) With respect to the sharing, use and disclosure of the Cardholder Data following the termination of this Agreement:

(i) the rights and obligations of the Parties under this Section 6.2 shall continue through any Termination
Period and, if applicable, any interim servicing period pursuant to Section 17.2(h);

(ii) if the Company exercises its purchase rights under Section 17.2, the Bank shall transfer its right, title and
interest in the Cardholder Data to the Company or its Nominated Purchaser as part of such transaction, and the Bank's right to use and
disclose the Cardholder Data shall terminate upon the termination of the Termination Period and, promptly following such termination
of the Termination Period, the Bank shall return or destroy all Cardholder Data and shall certify such return or destruction to the
Company upon request; provided, however, that, if the Bank is obligated to retain any Cardholder Data pursuant to requirements of
Applicable Law or the Bank's disaster recovery plan, the Bank shall maintain the strict confidentiality and security of such Cardholder
Data and shall not use such Cardholder Data for any other purpose; and

(iii) if the Company provides notice that it shall not exercise its purchase rights under Section 17.2, the
Company's right to use and disclose the Cardholder Data shall terminate only to the extent required by Applicable Law, and the
restrictions hereunder on the Bank's use and disclosure of Cardholder Data shall terminate, except that in no event may the Bank
disclose Cardholder Data to any retailer or use Cardholder Data in any way for the benefit of any retailer or retail credit card program or
in any manner inconsistent with the limitations on the
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Bank's rights to dispose of the Program Assets pursuant to Section 17.4. The foregoing provisions shall in no way be construed as to
extend the Bank's rights to use the Company Licensed Marks, the Company's name or any intellectual property of the Company, all of
which rights shall be expressly limited as set forth in Article X and shall terminate as set forth in Section 17.4(c).

6.3 Shopper Data.

(a) The Bank acknowledges that the Company and its Affiliates gather information about actual and prospective
purchasers of Goods and Services and that the Company and its Affiliates have rights to use and disclose such Shopper Data
independent of the Program, and the Company and its Affiliates shall not be subject to any limitations (including any limitations set
forth in this Article VI or otherwise set forth in this Agreement) in respect of their right to use and disclose such Shopper Data
notwithstanding that such Shopper Data may also include Cardholder Data or information contained in or derived therefrom. As
between the Company and the Bank, all the Shopper Data shall be owned exclusively by the Company. The Bank acknowledges and
agrees that it has no proprietary interest in the Shopper Data. To the extent the Bank is the direct recipient of such data, it shall provide
such data to the Company in such format and at such times as shall be specified by the Company. The Bank shall cooperate in the
maintenance of the Shopper Data and other data, including by incorporating in the Application and Credit Card Agreement provisions
mutually agreed to by the Parties pursuant to which Applicants and Cardholders shall agree that they are providing their identifying
information and all updates thereto and all transaction data from Company Channels to both the Bank and the Company and its
Affiliates.For the avoidance of doubt, and without limiting any other Shopper Data that may from time to time exist, the following
information shall be deemed Shopper Data:

(i) for any customer who has applied for a Company Credit Card, regardless of the channel through which
such application was completed or submitted the customer's name, address, email address, telephone number and all other commercially
reasonable information supplied on the application or prescreened response submitted by the customer (other than social security
number);

(ii) for any Cardholder, (1) the Cardholder's name, address, email address, telephone number and Account
number; (2) any reported change to any of the foregoing information; and (3) Cardholder transaction and experience data in the
Company Channels at a detailed, line-item level that provides all detail provided to the Company and its Affiliates prior to the date of
this Agreement; and

(iii) for any customer that accesses the Company's website or mobile Company Channels, any personally
identifiable information obtained in connection with such access (including information that is obtained by utilizing the foregoing
information or any other Shopper Data).

(b) The Bank shall not use, or permit to be used, directly or indirectly, the Shopper Data, except (i) to transfer such
data to the Company to the extent received by the Bank, (ii) for other Bank related activities solely to support the Program and (iii) as
required by Applicable Law.

(c) The Bank shall not, directly or indirectly, disclose, sell, transfer, or rent (or permit others to do same) the Shopper
Data, except in compliance with Applicable Law solely:

(i) to its Service Providers authorized in accordance with this Agreement solely on a “need to know” basis in
connection with a permitted use of the Shopper Data pursuant to Section 6.3(b), provided that each such authorized Service Provider
agrees in a written agreement to (a) maintain all such Shopper Data as strictly confidential and not to use or disclose such information to
any Person other than the Bank or the Company, except as required by Applicable Law or any Governmental Authority (after giving the
Bank and the Company prior notice and an opportunity to defend against such disclosure); (b) maintain an information security program
that is designed to meet all requirements of Applicable Law, including, at a minimum, all requirements set forth in Section 6.1(b); and
(c) notify promptly the Bank and the Company of any unauthorized disclosure, use, or disposal of, or access to, such Shopper Data and
to cooperate with the Bank and the Company in any investigation thereof and remedial action with respect thereto; and provided,
further, that the Bank shall be responsible for the compliance of each such
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Service Provider with the terms of this Section 6.3;

(ii) to its Affiliates and its and their Representatives on a “need to know” basis in connection with a permitted
use of the Shopper Data pursuant to Sections 6.3(b) and 5.7(b), as applicable; provided that the Bank communicates the confidential
nature of the Shopper Data, such Persons are bound (by agreement or their professional responsibilities) to maintain the confidentiality
of the Shopper Data in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement, and the Bank shall be responsible for the compliance by each
such Person with the terms of this Section 6.3 and Section 5.7(b); or

(iii) to any Governmental Authority with authority over the Bank (A) in connection with an examination of
the Bank; or (B) pursuant to a specific requirement to provide the Shopper Data by such Governmental Authority or pursuant to
compulsory legal process; provided that the Bank seeks the full protection of confidential treatment for any disclosed Shopper Data, as
the case may be, to the extent available under Applicable Law governing such disclosure, and with respect to clause (B), to the extent
permitted by Applicable Law, the Bank (1) provides at least ten (10) Business Days' prior notice of such proposed disclosure to the
Company if reasonably possible under the circumstances, and (2) seeks to redact the Shopper Data or to the fullest extent possible under
Applicable Law governing such disclosure.

(d) Upon the termination of this Agreement, the Bank's rights to use and disclose the Shopper Data shall terminate.
Promptly following such termination, the Bank shall return or destroy all the Shopper Data and shall certify such return or destruction to
the Company upon request.

ARTICLE VII

OPERATING STANDARDS
7.1 Reports.

(a) Within fifteen (15) days after the end of each Fiscal Month or such other time as may be agreed by the Parties with
respect to particular reports, the Bank shall provide to the Operating Committee and the Company the reports specified in Schedule
7.1(a)(i) (which reports shall be reported on a Fiscal Month, calendar month or cycles-basis, as agreed upon by the parties), and such
other reports as may be reasonably requested by the Company from time to time. Within fifteen (15) days after the end of each Fiscal
Month or such other time as may be agreed by the Parties with respect to particular reports, the Company shall provide to the Operating
Committee and the Bank the reports specified in Schedule 7.1(a)(ii) (which reports shall be reported on a Fiscal Month, calendar month
or cycles-basis, as agreed upon by the parties), and such other reports as may be reasonably requested by the Bank from time to time.

(b) Withinfifteen (15) days after the end of each Fiscal Year, the Bank shall deliver to the Company a statement, in the
form set forth on Schedule 7.1(b), setting forth all information required to determine the payments to be made by the Parties pursuant to
this Agreement in respect of such Fiscal Year, including the invoices prepared by the Company pursuant to Section 5.2(c). Each such
statement shall be known as a “Year-End Settlement Sheet.”

7.2 Servicing.

(a) The Bank shall be solely responsible for customer serviceand for the administration of the Program at the Bank's
expense in accordance with the terms of the Credit Card Documentation and this Agreement (including Section 4.11(a)) and the SLAs
set forth in Schedule 7.2(a) (as such standards may be amended from time to time by the Operating Committee), including the following
servicing and administrative functions: Application processing, customer service to Cardholders, statementing, payment processing,
transaction authorization and processing, Value Proposition administration, collections and risk management.

(b) The Bank shall, directly or through an Affiliate, designate such trained personnel as are necessary or appropriate
for servicing the Accounts in accordance with Schedule 7.2(a), including a management-level individual reasonably acceptable to the
Company within the Bank's customer-service operation who (under the
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direction of the Bank's Manager) will act as a liaison between the Parties and respond to the Company's questions or concerns. The
Bank shall, directly or through an Affiliate, maintain adequate computer and communications Systems and other equipment and
facilities necessary or as appropriate for servicing the Accounts in accordance therewith. The Bank shall, directly or through an
Affiliate, maintain a disaster recovery plan and have in place sufficient back-up systems, equipment, facilities and trained personnel to
implement such disaster recovery plan so as to perform its obligations to Cardholders pursuant to the Credit Card Documentation and
service the Accounts continuously through a disaster. The Bank shall provide the Company with written guidance regarding how the
Company can facilitate implementation of the Bank's disaster recovery plan with respect to the Company. The Bank will test its disaster
recovery plan annually, make the results of such test available upon request by the Company and will promptly initiate such plan upon
the occurrence of a disaster or business interruption. The Bank shall give the Program no less priority in its recovery efforts than is
given to any other of the Bank's other Credit Card programs or portfolios.

(c) By the Effective Date, the Bank shall establish a separate toll-free customer service telephone number,and
enhanced customer service procedures for VIP shoppers to be mutually agreed by the Parties, and such toll-free number shall be part of
the Program Assets. The Bank shall provide live telephonic customer service. As reasonably requested by the Company, the Bank will
provide for extended hours of operation in connection with certain promotional events and requirements, such as early store openings
and late store closures. A voice recognition unit shall be dedicated to the Program and be available 365 days a year, 24 hours a day. The
Bank shall provide the Company with the opportunity to review and approve the content and sequence of voice recognition unit
prompting. The voice recognition unit script will provide easy access to live operator support during business hours.

(d) Upon a reasonable implementation of time, customer service shall be provided by a designated group located at the
Bank's Idaho call center facility, together with such other call center facilities of the Bank as may be mutually agreed upon by the
Parties, with overflow calls going to the Bank's regular customer service unit. The Bank shall structure the size of such designated group
with the goal that the majority of the work performed by each member of such group (e.g., customer service calls, units of
correspondence) shall be in support of the Program. If the overflow calls from the designated group to the Bank's regular customer
service unit for any two (2) consecutive months exceed ten percent (10%) of total Program calls for such months in the aggregate, the
Bank shall increase the number of the designated group. The Bank shall ensure that at no time shall customer service representatives
servicing any of the competitors of the Company set forth on Schedule 1.1(d) be located in the Bank's Idaho call center
facility;provided, however, overflow calls may be serviced through the Bank's Idaho call center facility in the event and during the
continuation of a Force Majeure Event in one of the Bank's other call center facilities.

(e) All customer service policies, scripts and form correspondence relating to the Program shall be subject to review by
the Company, and any objection by Company with respect to any of the foregoing shall be subject to review by the Operating
Committee.

(f) Subject to Section 4.4(d), customer service shall be Company branded to the extent practicable; provided, however,
that the Bank shall have the right to take whatever steps and make such disclosures necessary to ensure that the Bank is understood by
the Cardholders to be the creditor on the Accounts.

(g) The Bank shall permit the Company and its Representatives to visit its servicing facilities related to the Program,
during normal business hours with reasonable advance notice, for the purpose of informing the Company regarding the Bank's
performance of its servicing obligations hereunder, and the Bank shall use commercially reasonable efforts to facilitate the Company's
review of the Bank's servicing activities, including by allowing the Company to review transcripts or recordings and conduct real-time
call monitoring of customer service calls in accordance with procedures applicable to any of the Bank's other private label or co-brand
Credit Card programs and portfolios, and shall make personnel of the Bank reasonably available to assist the Company and its
Representatives as reasonably requested. In conducting such visits, to the extent practicable the Company shall seek to minimize
interference with the Bank's normal business operations.
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(h) Notwithstanding any arrangement whereby the Bank provides services set forth herein through an Affiliate or
Service Provider, the Bank shall remain obligated and liable to Company for the provision of such services without diminution of such
obligation or liability by virtue of such arrangement. Schedule 7.2(h) sets forth a true and complete list of Service Providers of the Bank
as of the date hereof that may perform any obligations of the Bank hereunder.

7.3 Service Level Standards.

(a) The Bank shall report to the Company monthly, in a mutually agreed upon format, the Bank's performance under
each of the SLAs set forth on Schedule 7.2(a). If the Bank fails to meet any SLA, the Bank shall (i) immediately report to the Company
the reasons for the SLA failure(s); and (ii) promptly take any action reasonably necessary to correct and prevent recurrence of such
failure(s).

(b) The provisions of Schedule 7.2(a) shall apply in the event of a failure to meet any SLAs as set forth in Schedule
7.2(a).

7.4 Credit Systems.

(a) The Bank shall bear all Bank costs and expenses associated with the conversion of the Systems applicable to the
Accounts purchased by the Bank pursuant to the Chase Purchase Agreement to the Bank Systems (whether such costs and expenses are
incurred by the Bank or any of its Affiliates).

(b) The Bank shall ensure that all features and functionality available on the Company Systems prior to the Effective
Date (including data gathering, interface capabilities with the Company's other Systems, Loyalty Program support and core systems/
customer service functionality) or (to the extent any modifications are necessitated by the Bank's differing operating environment)
substantially equivalent features and functionality providing the substantially equivalent sales associate experience and customer
experience, are available to the Program through the Bank Systems as of the Effective Date and thereafter. The Bank shall ensure that
the Bank Systems are compatible with those Company Systems that interface with the Bank Systems, including the POS Systems of the
Company and its Affiliates.

(c) Neither Party shall make any change to any of its Systems that would render them incompatible in any material
respect with the other Party's or its Affiliates' Systems or require the other Party or its Affiliates (or the Retail Merchants) to make any
change to any of their Systems (including any POS terminals) or reduce or restrict interfacing or System feeds, in any such case without
the prior approval of the Operating Committee; provided, however, that the Company shall be entitled to make the system modifications
and upgrades set forth on Schedule 7.4(c) and the Bank shall take such actions at its own expense to ensure that all interfaces between
the Bank Systems and the Company Systems shall be preserved following such modifications and upgrades, such that all features and
functionality required to be in effect prior to such modifications and upgrades shall continue to remain in effect following such
modifications and upgrades. Subject to the preceding sentence, and subject to such future modifications and upgrades as the Company
may make from time to time and which do not introduce interfaces or protocols other than those already in use in Company Channels or
in use by other retailers for whom the Bank or any of its Affiliates acts as issuer or servicer in its other retail Credit Card programs,
neither Party will make any material change to its Systems with respect to the Program without the prior approval of the Operating
Committee.

7.5 Systems Interface; Technical Support.

(a) Required Interfaces.

(i) The Company and the Bank shall identify, prior to the Effective Date, the Systems interfaces required to be
sustained among the Company and the Bank (which interfaces shall include all interfaces to support existing credit data feeds used by
the Company or any of its Affiliates prior to the Effective Date). The Company and the Bank shall maintain such interfaces and
cooperate in good faith with each other in connection with any modifications to such interfaces as may be requested by either Party
from time to time.
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(ii) Each of the Company and the Bank agrees to maintain at its own expense its respective Systems interfaces
so that the operation of the Systems as a whole (A) at all times provides the Company and Cardholders with (1) System features and
functionality (including reporting, analysis, modeling and account management features and functionality) that are at least equivalent to
Systems features and functionality available to the Bank's or its Affiliates' retail partners and cardholders with respect to the Comparable
Partner Programs and (2) no less functional than prior to the Effective Date. The Bank agrees to provide sufficient personnel to support
the Systems interfaces required to be sustained among the Company and the Bank.

(b) Additional Interfaces; Interface Modifications. Other than the contemplated modifications and upgrades referred to
in Section 7.4(c), all requests for new interfaces, modifications to existing interfaces and terminations of existing interfaces shall be
presented to the Operating Committee for approval. Upon approval, the Parties shall work in good faith to establish the requested
interfaces or modify or terminate the existing interfaces, as applicable, on a timely basis. Except as otherwise provided herein (including
in Section 7.4), all costs and expenses with respect to any new interface or interface modification or termination shall be borne by the
requesting Party unless otherwise determined by the Operating Committee.

(c) Secure Protocols. The Parties shall use secure protocols for the transmission of data from the Bank and its
Affiliates, on the one hand, to the Company and its Affiliates, on the other hand, and vice versa.

ARTICLE VIII

MERCHANT SERVICES

8.1 Transmittal and Authorization of Charge Transaction Data. The Retail Merchants shall transmit Charge Transaction Data
for authorization of Transactions to the Bank as provided in the Operating Procedures. The Company, on the Bank's behalf, shall
authorize or decline Transactions on a real time basis as provided in the Operating Procedures, including transactions involving split-
tender (i.e., a portion of the total transaction amount is billed to a Company Credit Card and the remainder is paid through one or more
other forms of payment), transactions over the phone, on-line or hand keyed, as applicable, or down-payments on Goods and Services
for later delivery. If any Retail Merchant is unable to obtain authorizations for Transactions for any reason, such Retail Merchant may
complete such Transactions without receipt of further authorization as provided in the Operating Procedures.

8.2 POS Terminals. The Retail Merchants shall maintain POS terminals capable of processing Company Credit Cards, and
Account transactions as handled as of the Effective Date. To the extent that the Retail Merchants are required (after the initial changes
agreed upon by the Bank and the Company made before (i) the conversion of the Accounts purchased by the Bank pursuant to the Chase
Purchase Agreement and/or (ii) the Private Label Launch Date) to make changes to any POS terminal (including hardware and
software) in order to process Applications, process Transactions and transmit Charge Transaction Data under this Agreement as a result
of any change or modification to any Bank System or as a result of any requirement of Applicable Law applicable to the Bank, the Bank
shall pay the costs and expenses associated with such changes.

8.3 Settlement Procedures.

(a) The Retail Merchants shall transmit Charge Transaction Data to the Bank in accordance with the Operating
Procedures on each Retail Day. If Charge Transaction Data is received by the Bank's processing center on or before 9:00 am (Eastern
time) on any Retail Day on which the Bank is open for business, the Bank shall process the Charge Transaction Data and initiate an
ACH for the payment in respect thereof before 6:00 pm (Eastern time) on the same Retail Day. If the Charge Transaction Data is
received after 9:00 am (Eastern time) on any Retail Day, or at any time on a day other than a Retail Day on which the Bank is open for
business, the Bank shall process the Charge Transaction Data for payment before 6:00 pm (Eastern time) on the following Business
Day.
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(b) The Bank shall remit to the Company, for itself and the Retail Merchants, an amount equal to (i) the total amount
of charges identified in all Charge Transaction Data not yet paid in accordance with Section 8.3(a) less (ii) the sum of (A) the total
amount of any credits included in such Charge Transaction Data, plus (B) any amounts charged back to such Retail Merchants pursuant
to Section 8.4.

8.4 Bank's Right to Charge Back.

The Bank shall have the right to charge back to the Company the amount of the Charge Transaction Data paid by the Bank
pursuant to Section 8.3 if with respect to the related Transaction (it being understood and agreed that the provisions of this Section 8.4
shall supersede any provisions of the Operating Procedures relating to the Bank's right to charge back):

(a) the Cardholder refuses to pay the charge based on a dispute regarding the quality or delivery of Company Goods
and Services representing a valid defense to payment consistent with Applicable Law; provided that any such refusal constitutes a bona
fide claim presented by the Cardholder in good faith in the reasonable opinion of the Company, after consultation with the Bank;

(b) the Cardholder refuses to pay the charge based on a claim of unauthorized use of the Company Credit Card and (i)
in the case of a Transaction ordered by mail, telephone or internet, the Company has no proof of delivery of the Goods and Services to
the designated shipping destination provided by the Cardholder; and (ii) in the case of any Transaction, (A) the transaction at issue was a
result of Employee Fraud; (B) the Company had failed to obtain a valid authorization number for the Transaction (unless the Company
was permitted to effect such transaction without such authorization based on the down-time procedures in the Operating Procedures),
(C) the price of the Goods and Services shown in the Charge Transaction Data exceeds the amount shown on the Cardholder's copy of
the sales slip, (D) the Company is unable to fulfill a request to produce the sales slip with respect to such Transaction within thirty (30)
days of the Bank's request therefor, (E) the Company had processed a return of the Goods and Services which is the subject of the
Transaction, or a credit adjustment with respect thereto, and a corresponding credit was not processed to the Account, or (F) the sales
slip is illegible with respect to the Charge Transaction Data disputed by the Cardholder or is missing information in any material
respect; or

(c) the sales slip was submitted for payment pursuant to Section 8.3 more than once.

8.5 Exercise of Chargeback. If the Bank exercises its right of chargeback, the Bank may set off all amounts charged back
against any sums due to the Company under this Agreement, or the Bank may demand payment from the Company for the full amount
of such chargeback. In the event of a chargeback pursuant to this Article VIII, upon payment in full of the related amount by the
Company, the Bank shall immediately assign to the Company, without any representation, warranty or recourse, all right to payments of
amounts charged back in connection with such Cardholder charge. The Bank shall cooperate fully in any effort by the Company to
collect the chargeback amount, including by executing and delivering any document necessary or useful to such collection efforts.

8.6 No Merchant Discount. None of the Company, its Affiliates or the Retail Merchants shall be required to pay any
merchant discount rate applied against settlements due to merchants for transactions with respect to the use of a Private Label Credit
Card on any Transaction. The Bank shall directly process the Transactions on Private Label Credit Cards such that the Retail Merchants
do not incur any merchant acquirer/processor or similar fees (including Interchange Fees or interchange reimbursement fees).
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*** Confidential material redacted and filed separately with the Commission.

ARTICLE IX

PROGRAM ECONOMICS

9.1 Company Compensation.

(a) Payments.

(i) Not later than 5:00 pm (Eastern time) on any ***, the Bank shall pay to the Company an amount equal to
the amount set forth on Schedule 9.1(a)(i).

(ii) Not later than 10:00 am (Eastern Time) on the tenth (10th) calendar day after the end of each ***, the
Bank shall pay the Company the amounts set forth in Schedule 9.1(a)(ii).

(iii) Not later than 10:00 am (Eastern Time) on the tenth (10th) calendar day after the end of each ***, the
Bank shall pay the Company the amounts set forth in Schedule 9.1(a)(iii).

(iv) The amounts payable pursuant to this Section 9.1 shall be paid to the Company regardless of whether any
amounts are disputed by the Bank or the Company. The Bank or the Company may invoke the dispute resolution procedures set forth
herein following payment of the amounts set forth above.

(b) Initial Payment. The Bank shall make the payments set forth in Schedule 9.1(b) in accordance with such Schedule.

(c) Form of Payment. All payments pursuant to this Section 9.1 shall be made by wire transfer of immediately
available funds to an account designated in writing by the Company unless otherwise agreed upon by the Parties in writing.

9.2 Dispute Resolution. Any disputes regarding the amounts owed under this Agreement shall be resolved in accordance with
Section 12.3 or Section 12.4, as applicable.

9.3 Bank's Responsibility for Program Operation. Except as otherwise expressly specified in this Agreement, the Bank shall
be responsible for the costs of operating the Program.

ARTICLE X

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

10.1 Licensed Marks.

(a) Grant of License to Use the Company Licensed Marks. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the
Company hereby grants to the Bank a non-exclusive, royalty-free, non-transferable, non-sublicensable (except as set forth herein) right
and license to use the Company Licensed Marks with respect to the Program in the United States in connection with the creation,
establishment, marketing and administration of, and the provision of services related to, the Program. All uses of the Company Licensed
Marks shall require the prior written approval of the Company and shall be in accordance with this Agreement and any Trademark Style
Guide or other rules as may be delivered by the Company to the Bank from time to time. To the extent the Bank delegates any of its
rights or obligations hereunder to any authorized Affiliate and/or authorized Service Provider or to the extent the services of an
authorized third party are required in connection with the Bank's participation in the Program, in accordance with the terms and
conditions of this Agreement, the Bank may sublicense its rights in the Company Licensed Marks hereunder to such authorized Person;
provided that such Person shall agree to comply
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with all of the terms and conditions of the use of the Company Licensed Marks hereunder (and shall designate the Company as a third
party beneficiary of such agreement) and the Bank shall remain liable for such Person's failure to so comply. Except as expressly set
forth in this Section 10.1, the rights granted pursuant to this Section 10.1 are solely for use of the Bank and may not be sublicensed
without the prior written approval of the Company.

(b) Grant of License to Use the Bank Licensed Marks. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the Bank
hereby grants to the Company a non-exclusive, royalty-free, non-transferable, non-sublicensable (except as set forth herein) right and
license to use the Bank Licensed Marks with respect to the Program in connection with the creation, establishment, marketing and
administration of, and the provision of services related to, the Program. All uses of the Bank Licensed Marks shall require the prior
written approval of the Bank and shall be in accordance with this Agreement and any Trademark Style Guide or other rules as may be
delivered by the Bank to the Company from time to time. To the extent the Company delegates any of its rights or obligations hereunder
to any authorized Affiliate and/or authorized third party or to the extent the services of an authorized third party are required in
connection with the Company's participation in the Program, in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the
Company may sublicense its rights in the Bank Licensed Marks hereunder to such authorized Person; provided that such Person shall
agree to comply with all of the terms and conditions of the use of the Bank Licensed Marks hereunder (and shall designate the Bank as a
third party beneficiary of such agreement) and the Company shall remain liable for such Person's failure to so comply. Except as
expressly set forth in this Section 10.1, the rights granted pursuant to this Section 10.1 are solely for use of the Company and may not be
sublicensed without the prior written approval of the Bank.

10.2 Termination; Ownership; and Infringement.

(a) Termination of Licenses. The licenses granted in Section 10.1 shall terminate at the end of the Termination Period
provided that (i) if the purchase option under Section 17.2 is exercised (and the Company or its Nominated Purchaser thus owns the
Program Assets) then such licenses shall continue for a (6) month period following the Termination Period to the extent necessary for
winding down the operation of the Program in a manner consistent with the terms of this Agreement and with past practice and (ii) if the
purchase option is not exercised (and the Bank thus continues to own the Program Assets) then Section 17.4(c) shall govern the Bank's
use of the Company Licensed Marks. Upon the termination of the licenses granted in Section 10.1, all rights in the Company Licensed
Marks and Bank Licensed Marks granted thereunder shall revert to Company and the Bank, respectively, and each Party shall (and shall
cause their authorized Affiliates, authorized third parties and permitted sublicensees to): (i) discontinue immediately all use of the other
Party's trademarks or any of them, and any colorable imitation thereof; and (ii) destroy all unused Company Credit Cards, Applications,
Account Documentation, Solicitation Materials, periodic statements, materials, displays, advertising and sales literature and any other
items, in each case, bearing any of the other Party's trademarks. Notwithstanding anything herein, each Party shall have the right at all
times after the Termination Period to use the other Party's trademarks (i) in a non-trademark or “fair use” manner (provided that such
use does not convey or suggest or is not reasonably likely to suggest that the Parties are still participating in the Program) or as required
by Applicable Law; or (ii) on any archival legal documents, business correspondence and similar items that are not consumer-facing.

(b) Ownership of the Licensed Marks. The Parties acknowledge that (i) each Party shall retain exclusive ownership of
its trademarks, all rights therein, and the goodwill associated therewith; (ii) each Party shall neither contest nor take any other action
which shall adversely affect the other Party's exclusive ownership of its trademarks or the goodwill associated therewith, and (iii) any
and all goodwill arising from use of the Company Licensed Marks by the Bank or the Bank Licensed Marks by the Company shall inure
to the benefit of the Company or the Bank, respectively. Nothing herein shall give the Parties any proprietary interest in or to the other
Party's trademarks except as set forth in this Article X.

(c) Infringement by Third Parties. Each Party shall use reasonable efforts to notify the other Party in writing, promptly
upon acquiring Knowledge of any infringing use of the other Party's trademarks that are being licensed under this Article X by any third
party in the United States in the credit card field. If any of the trademarks licensed under this Article X is infringed, the owner of such
trademark has the sole right (but not the obligation) to prosecute same and take whatever action it deems necessary to prevent such
infringing use; provided, however, that
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if such owner fails to take reasonable steps to prevent infringement of any such trademarks by any credit provider and such infringement
has an adverse effect upon the Program or the rights of the other Party hereunder, the other Party may request that such owner take
action necessary to alleviate such adverse impact , and the other Party shall reasonably cooperate with and assist in such prosecution.

10.3 Intellectual Property.

(a) Each Party shall solely own all of its Intellectual Property (i) that existed as of the Effective Date and (ii) that it
develops or creates independently of the other Party during the Term. Unless the Parties agree otherwise in writing, Company shall
solely own all Intellectual Property rights in any creation of or improvement to the look, feel, content, design and collateral aesthetics of
the Company Credit Cards, Credit Card Documentation, the Program Website, any Program related social media pages or “apps,”
Solicitation Materials and any other communications to Cardholders created by either Party, except for Bank Licensed Marks that
appear on any of the foregoing and any content dictated by Applicable Law, and the Bank shall own all Intellectual Property rights in
any software code, proprietary systems and platforms developed by the Bank. Each Party grants and agrees to grant to the other Party a
non-exclusive, royalty-free, non-transferable, non-sublicensable (except as set forth herein) license to and under all other Intellectual
Property used in connection with the Program. To the extent the Parties delegate any of their rights or obligations hereunder to any
authorized Affiliate and/or authorized third party or to the extent the services of an authorized third party are required in connection
with the Parties' participation in the Program, in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the Parties may sublicense
their rights to and under the other Party's Intellectual Property to such authorized Person; provided that such Person shall agree to
comply with all of the terms and conditions of this Section 10.3 (with the owner of the Intellectual Property a third party beneficiary of
such agreement) and provided that the sublicensing Party shall remain liable for such Person's failure to so comply. The licenses granted
under this Section 10.3(a) shall terminate at end of the Termination Period.

(b) Joint Intellectual Property. The Parties shall not develop or create any Intellectual Property that shall be deemed to
be jointly owned unless they mutually agree in writing in advance that such Intellectual Property shall be jointly owned. Each Party
shall have the right to use, license and otherwise exploit jointly owned Intellectual Property without any restriction or obligation to
account to the other Party; provided, however, that (1) no such jointly owned Intellectual Property shall be used by the Bank in
connection with any credit card or other credit program agreement or other joint marketing arrangement with any company engaged
primarily in the marketing and/or sale of retail goods without the prior written consent of the Company and (2) for the avoidance of
doubt, no trademarks, trade names, service marks, logos, trade dress, internet domain names, corporate names or other source indicators
or proprietary designations of the Company shall be used by the Bank except during the term of the licenses granted in Section 10.1 and
in accordance with the terms hereof.

ARTICLE XI

REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES AND COVENANTS

11.1 General Representations and Warranties of the Company. Except as Previously Disclosed, the Company makes the
following representations and warranties to the Bank as of the date hereof:

(a) Corporate Existence. The Company (i) is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under
the laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation; (ii) is duly licensed or qualified to do business and is in good standing as a foreign
corporation in all jurisdictions in which the conduct of its business or the activities in which it is engaged makes such licensing or
qualification necessary, except to the extent that its non-compliance would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the
aggregate, a Company Material Adverse Effect; and (iii) has all necessary licenses, permits, consents or approvals from or by, and has
made all necessary filings and registrations with, all governmental authorities having jurisdiction, to the extent required for the
ownership, lease or conduct and operation of its business, except to the extent that the failure to obtain such licenses, permits, consents
or approvals or to make such filings or registrations would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a
Company Material Adverse Effect.
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(b) Authorization; Validity. The Company has all necessary corporate power and authority to (i) execute and enter into
this Agreement, and (ii) perform the obligations required of the Company hereunder and the other documents, instruments and
agreements relating to the Program and this Agreement executed by the Company pursuant hereto. The execution and delivery by the
Company of this Agreement and all documents, instruments and agreements executed and delivered by the Company pursuant hereto,
and the consummation by the Company of the transactions specified herein, have been duly and validly authorized and approved by all
necessary corporate actions of the Company. This Agreement (i) has been duly executed and delivered by the Company, (ii) constitutes
the valid and legally binding obligation of the Company, and (iii) is enforceable in accordance with its terms (subject to applicable
bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, receivership or other laws affecting the rights of creditors generally and by general equity
principles including those respecting the availability of specific performance).

(c) Conflicts; Defaults; Etc. The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by the Company, its
compliance with the terms hereof, and consummation of the transactions specified herein will not (i) conflict with, violate, result in the
breach of, constitute an event which would, or with the lapse of time or action by a third party or both would, result in a default under,
or accelerate the performance required by, the terms of any contract, instrument or agreement to which `the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries is a party or by which they are bound, or to which any of the assets of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries are subject;
(ii) conflict with or violate the articles of incorporation or by-laws, or any other equivalent organizational document(s), of the Company
or any of its Subsidiaries; (iii) breach or violate any Applicable Law or Applicable Order, in each case, applicable to the Company or
any of its Subsidiaries; (iv) require the consent or approval of any other party to any contract, instrument or commitment to which the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a Party or by which it is bound; or (v) require any filing with, notice to, consent or approval of, or
any other action to be taken with respect to, any Governmental Authority, except, in the cases of clauses (i) and (iii)-(v), for such
conflicts, breaches, defaults, violations or failures to obtain such consents or approvals or make or obtain such filings, notices, consents
and approvals as would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Company Material Adverse Effect.

(d) No Litigation. No action, claim, litigation, proceeding, arbitration or investigation is pending or, to the Knowledge
of the Company, threatened against the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, at law, in equity or otherwise, by or before any
Governmental Authority, which would reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Company Material Adverse
Effect.

(e) Compliance with Laws. Except to the extent that any of the following would not reasonably be expected to have,
individually or in the aggregate, a Company Material Adverse Effect, the Company is in compliance with all requirements of Applicable
Law relating to the Program and neither the Company nor any of Subsidiaries is subject to any order, directive or restriction of any kind
issued by any Governmental Authority that restricts in any respect the Company's ability to perform its obligations under the Program.

(f) The Company Licensed Marks. The Company has the right, power and authority to grant the rights to use the
Company Licensed Marks expressly granted herein.

11.2 General Representations and Warranties of the Bank. Except as Previously Disclosed, the Bank hereby makes the
following representations and warranties to the Company as of the date hereof:

(a) Corporate Existence. The Bank (i) is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the
jurisdiction of its incorporationand (ii) is duly licensed or qualified to do business and is in good standing as a foreign entity in all
jurisdictions in which the conduct of the its business or the activities in which it is engaged, or proposes to engage pursuant to this
Agreement, makes such licensing or qualification necessary, except to the extent that its non-compliance would not reasonably be
expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Bank Material Adverse Effect. The Bank has all necessary licenses, permits,
consents or approvals from or by, and has made all necessary filings and registrations with, all governmental authorities having
jurisdiction, to the extent required for the ownership, lease or conduct and operation of its business pursuant to this Agreement, except
to the extent that the failure to obtain such licenses, permits, consents or approvals or to make such filings or registrations would not
reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Bank Material Adverse Effect upon the
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Bank, the Program, the Accounts, Cardholder Indebtedness or the Bank's ability to perform its obligations under this Agreement.

(b) Authorization; Validity. The Bank has all necessary corporate or similar power and authority to (i) execute and
enter into this Agreement, and (ii) perform the obligations required of the Bank hereunder and the other documents, instruments and
agreements relating to the Program and this Agreement executed by the Bank pursuant hereto. The execution and delivery by the Bank
of this Agreement and all documents, instruments and agreements executed and delivered by the Bank pursuant hereto, and the
consummation by the Bank of the transactions specified herein, has been duly and validly authorized and approved by all necessary
corporate or similar actions of the Bank. This Agreement (i) has been duly executed and delivered by the Bank, (ii) constitutes the valid
and legally binding obligation of the Bank, and (iii) is enforceable in accordance with its terms (subject to applicable bankruptcy,
insolvency, reorganization, receivership or other laws affecting the rights of creditors generally and by general equity principles
including those respecting the availability of specific performance).

(c) Conflicts; Defaults; Etc. The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by the Bank, its compliance
with the terms hereof, and the consummation of the transactions specified herein will not (i) conflict with, violate, result in the breach
of, constitute an event which would, or with the lapse of time or action by a third party or both would, result in a default under, or
accelerate the performance required by, the terms of any contract, instrument or agreement to which any of Bank Parent or any of its
Subsidiaries is a party or by which they are bound, or to which any of the assets of Bank Parent or any of its Subsidiaries are subject; (ii)
conflict with or violate the articles of incorporation or by-laws, or any other equivalent organizational document(s), of Bank Parent or
any of its Subsidiaries; (iii) breach or violate any Applicable Law or Applicable Order, in each case, applicable to Bank Parent or any of
its Subsidiaries; (iv) require the consent or approval of any other party to any contract, instrument or commitment to which Bank Parent
or any of its Subsidiaries is a Party or by which it is bound; or (v) require any filing with, notice to, consent or approval of, or any other
action to be taken with respect to, any Governmental Authority, except, in the cases of clauses (i) and (iii)-(v), for such conflicts,
breaches, defaults, violations or failures to obtain such consents or approvals or make or obtain such filings, notices, consents and
approvals as would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Bank Material Adverse Effect.

(d) No Litigation. No action, claim, litigation, proceeding, arbitration or investigation is pending or, to the Knowledge
of the Bank, threatened against Bank Parent or any of its Subsidiaries, at law, in equity or otherwise, by or before any Governmental
Authority, which would reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Bank Material Adverse Effect.

(e) Compliance with Laws.
(i) Except to the extent that any of the following would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in

the aggregate, a Bank Material Adverse Effect,
(A) Bank Parent and its Subsidiaries are in compliance with all requirements of Applicable Law

relating to its Credit Card business; and

(B) neither Bank Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries is subject to any capital plan or supervisory
agreement, cease-and-desist or similar order or directive or memorandum of understanding between it and any
Governmental Authority or issued by any Governmental Authority, nor has any of them adopted any board resolutions
at the request of any Governmental Authority.

(ii) Neither Bank Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries is subject to any order, directive or restriction of any kind
issued by any Governmental Authority that restricts in any respect its operation of its Credit Card business; and the Bank is not aware of
any fact or circumstance that would in any way delay or impede its ability to perform all of its obligations under the Program.

(f) Servicing Qualifications. The Bank is licensed and qualified in all jurisdictions necessary to service the Accounts in
accordance with all Applicable Laws, except where the failure to be so qualified would not reasonably be expected to have, individually
or in the aggregate, a Bank Material Adverse Effect.
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(g) Bank Licensed Marks. The Bank has the right, power and authority to grant the rights to use the Bank Licensed
Marks expressly granted herein.

(h) Card Associations. Bank is a member in good standing of the Card Association and has full authority under the by-
laws and other membership and operating rules of the Card Association to issue the Co-Branded Credit Cards and otherwise perform its
obligations under this Agreement.

11.3 No other Representations or Warranties. Except as expressly set forth in Sections 11.1 and 11.2, neither the Bank nor the
Company has made or makes any other express or implied representations, or any express or implied warranty.

11.4 General Covenants of the Company.

(a) Litigation. The Company shall notify the Bank in writing if it receives written notice of any litigation, investigation
or other claim pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened before any Governmental Authority to which the Company or
any of its Subsidiaries is party that, if adversely determined, would reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a
CompanyMaterial Adverse Effect

(b) Reports and Notices. The Company shall provide the Bank with a notice specifying the nature of any Company
Event of Default, or any event which, with the giving of notice or passage of time or both, would constitute a Company Event of
Default, or any development or other information with respect to the Company or its Subsidiaries which is likely to have a Company
Material Adverse Effect. Notices pursuant to this Section 11.4(b) relating to Company Events of Default shall be provided within five
(5) Business Days after the Company has Knowledge of the existence of such default. Notices relating to all other events or
developments described in this Section 11.4(b) shall be provided promptly after the Company has Knowledge of the existence of such
event or development. A failure to provide any required notice pursuant to this Section 11.4(b) shall not be considered a separate or
independent Company Event of Default.

(c) Applicable Law/Operating Procedures. The Company shall at all times during the Term comply in all material
respects with Applicable Law affecting its obligations under this Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company shall have no
liability hereunder for a failure to comply with requirements of Applicable Law related to the Credit Cards or Accounts or their
solicitation, associated documentation or servicing or maintenance if the Bank has not notified the Company of such requirement of
Applicable Law.

(d) Disputes with Cardholders. The Company shall cooperate with the Bank in a timely manner (but in no event less
promptly than required by Applicable Law) to resolve all disputes with Cardholders.

(e) Company Financial Statements. The Company shall furnish to the Bank as soon as reasonably practicable after they
become available the following information (on a consolidated basis if applicable): (a) a balance sheet as of the close of each fiscal year;
(b) a statement of income, retained earnings, and paid-in capital to the close of each fiscal year; (c) a statement of cash flow to the close
of each such period; and (d) a copy of the opinion submitted by the Company's independent certified public accountants in connection
with such of the financial statements as have been audited; provided, however, that as long as the Company's ultimate parent company is
publicly traded, the Company may satisfy the foregoing requirements by the Company's ultimate parent company's filing with the SEC
copies of its annual 10-K filing.

11.5 General Covenants of the Bank.

(a) Litigation. The Bank shall notify the Company in writing if it receives written notice of any litigation, investigation
or other claim pending or, to the Knowledge of the Bank, threatened before any Governmental Authority to which Bank Parent or any of
its Subsidiaries is party that, if adversely determined, would reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a
BankMaterial Adverse Effect.
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(b) Reports and Notices. The Bank shall provide the Company with a written notice specifying the nature of any Bank
Event of Default, or any event which, with the giving of notice or passage of time or both, would constitute a Bank Event of Default, or
any development or other information which is likely to have a Bank Material Adverse Effect. Notice pursuant to this Section 11.5(b)
relating to the Bank Events of Default shall be provided within five (5) Business Days after the Bank has Knowledge of the existence of
such default. Notices relating to all other events or developments described in this Section 11.5(b) shall be provided promptly after the
Bank obtains Knowledge of the existence of such event or development. Notwithstanding the foregoing and notwithstanding the
provisions of Section 11.5(a), the Bank shall not divulge material nonpublic information with respect to the Bank or its Affiliates to the
Company without the prior consent of the general counsel of the Company. In the event such consent is not granted, failure to provide
written notice with respect to such matter shall not be deemed a breach of the provisions of this Section 11.5(b) and/or of Section
11.5(a), as applicable. A failure to provide any required notice pursuant to this Section 11.5(a) shall not be considered a separate or
independent Bank Event of Default.

(c) Applicable Law/Operating Procedures. The Bank shall at all times during the Term and continuing until the end of
the Termination Period comply in all material respects with Applicable Law affecting its obligations under this Agreement and the
Operating Procedures. The Bank shall (i) identify any changes in Applicable Law and rules of the Card Association that will affect the
Program or the Company's activities in connection therewith following the Closing Date and (ii) notify Company in writing of such
changes in a timely manner.

(d) Books and Records. The Bank shall keep adequate records and books of account with respect to the Accounts and
Cardholder Indebtedness in which proper entries, reflecting all of the Bank's financial transactions relating to the Program, are made in
accordance with GAAP and the requirements of this Agreement. The Bank shall keep adequate records and books of account with
respect to its activities, in which proper entries reflecting all of the Bank's financial transactions are made in accordance with GAAP. All
of the Bank's records, files and books of account shall be in all material respects complete and correct and shall be maintained in
accordance with good business practice and Applicable Law.

(e) Servicing Qualifications. The Bank shall at all times during the Term and continuing until the end of the
Termination Period remain licensed and qualified in all jurisdictions necessary to service the Accounts in accordance with all Applicable
Laws, except where the failure to be so qualified would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Bank
Material Adverse Effect.

(f) Program Support. The Bank shall not take any action that is materially inconsistent with the Program Objectives or
otherwise materially adversely affects the Program or the Company's retail business or relations with its customers in any material
respect.

(g) Regulatory Status. The Bank shall continue its existence as a bank duly organized under the laws of the State of
Delaware.

(h) Conflicts of Interest. The Bank shall establish and maintain appropriate business standards, procedures and controls
designed to ensure that the Bank shall perform and conduct its operations in a manner consistent with the Program Objectives and in
such a way as not to disparage or embarrass or otherwise adversely affect the Company and its Affiliates.

(i) Card Association. The Bank is and shall be a member in good standing of the Card Association throughout the
Term.

(j) Chase Purchase Agreement. The Bank shall use commercially reasonable efforts to negotiate and, no later than July
31, 2013, enter into the Chase Purchase Agreement on customary terms and providing for the purchase of the Chase Program Assets at a
price equal to Fair Market Value (as defined in the Chase Program Agreement) and the assumption of liabilities arising from and after
the Chase Closing Date with respect thereto. The Bank shall use commercially reasonable efforts to (i) satisfy all conditions to Chase's
obligation to consummate the transaction contemplated by the Chase Purchase Agreement and (ii) consummate the transaction
contemplated by
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the Chase Purchase Agreement (subject to satisfaction of all conditions to the Bank's obligation to consummate such transaction).
Subject to any applicable legal privilege, the Bank shall keep the Company reasonably apprised as to the progress of the consummation
of the transactions under the Chase Purchase Agreement. Without limiting the foregoing, the Bank shall file all notices, applications,
requests for approvals, orders, declarations and other documents and instruments with all Governmental Authorities necessary to
effectuate the purchase of the Chase Program Assets and shall use commercially reasonable efforts to promptly take all actions required
in order to obtain any necessary authorization, approval, consent, order, declaration or other license or authority to effectuate such
purchase. The Bank hereby represents and warrants to the Company that, to the Knowledge of the Bank, there is no fact relating to the
Bank or any of its Affiliates' respective businesses, operations, financial condition or legal status, including any order, memorandum of
understanding or other regulatory restriction, that would reasonably be expected to impair the Bank's ability to obtain, on a timely basis,
all authorizations, approvals, consents, orders, declarations licenses and other authorities of or from all Governmental Authorities and
third parties as are necessary for the consummation of the purchase of the Chase Program Assets.

(k) Bank Financial Statements. The Bank shall furnish to the Company as soon as reasonably practicable after they
become available the following information (on a consolidated basis if applicable): (a) a balance sheet as of the close of each fiscal year;
(b) a statement of income, retained earnings, and paid-in capital to the close of each fiscal year; (c) a statement of cash flow to the close
of each such period; and (d) a copy of the opinion submitted by such party's independent certified public accountants in connection with
such of the financial statements as have been audited; provided, however, that as long as Bank is a subsidiary of Alliance Data Systems
Corporation (“ADSC”), and ADSC is publicly traded, Bank may satisfy the foregoing requirements by ADSC's filing with the
Securities and Exchange Commission copies of its annual 10-K filing.

ARTICLE XII

ACCESS, AUDIT AND DISPUTE RESOLUTION

12.1 Access to Books and Records. Each Party shall permit the other Party and its Representatives to visit its facilities related
to the Program during normal business hours with reasonable advance notice and at times and in a manner that does not unreasonably
disrupt its normal business operations. Each Party shall also permit the other Party and its Representatives to review (during normal
business hours) and obtain copies of the books and records relating to the Program for reasonable purposes relating to the Program;
provided that neither Party shall be required to provide access to records to the extent that (a) such access is prohibited by Applicable
Law, (b) such records are legally privileged, (c) such records relate to other customers of, or credit programs operated by, the Company
or the Bank (except as may be necessary or appropriate in connection with any consideration of the terms and conditions of Comparable
Partner Programs and other Credit Card programs as contemplated by this Agreement to the extent permitted by Bank's obligations
under agreements with third parties), or (d) such access would unreasonably disrupt its normal business operations.

12.2 Audit Rights. Once per year or at any time that a Party disputes the amount of any monies owed by either Party to the
other hereunder, such Party, at its sole cost and expense and upon not less than ten (10) Business Days prior notice to the other Party,
may conduct (or cause a third party experienced in auditing Credit Card programs to conduct) an audit to determine whether such other
Party is in compliance with all of its obligations pursuant to this Agreement; provided, however, that any such audit shall only be
permitted at times and in a manner that does not unreasonably interfere with the other Party's normal business operations, including that
any such audit shall be conducted during normal business hours in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and the
auditing Party shall employ such reasonable procedures and methods as necessary and appropriate in the circumstances, minimizing
interference to the extent practicable with the audited Party's normal business operations. Without limiting the foregoing, neither Party
shall audit the functioning of the Systems of the other Party unless such audit is necessary to verify compliance by the other Party with
an express obligation of such other Party. The audited Party shall use commercially reasonable efforts to facilitate the auditing Party's
review, including making reasonably available such personnel of the audited Party and its Service Providers to assist the auditing Party
and its Representatives as reasonably requested. The audited Party shall deliver any document or instrument necessary for the auditing
Party to obtain such records from any Person maintaining records for the audited Party and shall
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maintain records pursuant to its regular record retention policies. For purposes of this provision, the audited Party also shall be required
to provide records relating to the Program held by Service Providers at the auditing Party's request. Notwithstanding the generality of
the foregoing, the audited Party shall not be required to provide access to records to the extent that (a) such access is prohibited by
Applicable Law, (b) such records are legally privileged, (c) such records are company planning documents of such Party or any of its
Affiliates, operating budgets that are not used in calculating any amounts payable hereunder or personnel records of individual
employees (provided that this clause (c) shall not preclude access to such records as are reasonably necessary to substantiate the Bank's
compliance with Section 3.3), or (d) such records relate to other customers or operations of such Party other than the Program or to
personnel records not normally disclosed in connection with audits.

12.3 Accounting Dispute Resolution. Any dispute with respect to amounts of $250,000 or less due or payable under this
Agreement or other calculations hereunder of amounts of $250,000 or less between the Parties arising out of or relating to this
Agreement shall be resolved as provided in this Section 12.3. The Parties agree to attempt in good faith to resolve any such disputes.
Except with respect to any indemnification claim arising under Article XVIII, which shall not be subject to the procedures of this
Section 12.3, in the event the Parties are unable to resolve any such dispute, after negotiating in good faith for a period of not less than
ten (10) Business Days, either Party may request a nationally recognized firm of independent accountants mutually agreeable to the
Parties (the “Accountants”) to reconcile any amounts in dispute; provided, however, that the Accountants' determination shall be limited
to the amount disputed by the Parties and in no event shall such determination provide for a payment to any Party higher than the
amount claimed by the Party to be owed to such Party. Any such request shall be in writing and shall specify with particularity the
disputed amounts being submitted for determination. Each Party agrees to promptly and in good faith take all necessary action to
designate the Accountants no later than ten (10) Business Days after a request that such a designation be made. The Parties shall
cooperate fully in assisting the Accountants in their review, including by providing the Accountants full access to all files, books and
records (including work papers of internal and independent accountants of the Parties) relevant thereto and providing such other
information as the Accountants may reasonably request in connection with any such review. Notwithstanding the generality of the
foregoing, the Parties shall not be required to provide the Accountants with access to records to the extent that (i) such access is
prohibited by Applicable Law, (ii) such records are legally privileged or (iii) such records relate to other customers of, or credit
programs operated by, the Party (except as may be necessary or appropriate in connection with any consideration of the terms and
conditions of Comparable Partner Programs and Competing Retail Programs as contemplated by this Agreement, as permitted by
applicable confidentiality restrictions). In the event the determination made by the Accountants requires either Party to make payment to
the other Party of any additional amount, such Party shall make such payment no later than five (5) Business Days following receipt
from the Accountants of written notice to the Parties of such determination plus interest at the Federal Funds Rate on any such amount
due computed from and including the date such amount should have been paid through and excluding the date of payment. The fees and
expenses of such Accountants arising out of such reviews shall be divided between the Parties in proportion to the relative amounts by
which each Party's respective claim regarding the amount in dispute differed from the amount determined by the Accountants. The
determination of the Accountants shall be final and binding on the Parties subject to the correction of manifest calculation errors.

12.4 Dispute Resolution.(a) Any dispute among the Parties arising out of or relating to this Agreement, including with
respect to the interpretation of any provision of this Agreement and with respect to the performance by the Company or the Bank
hereunder that is not otherwise required to be submitted for resolution under Section 12.3 shall be submitted to the dispute resolution
process set forth in Section 3.2(d)(ii)(B).To the extent that the subject matter of the dispute relates to a matter other than a matter as to
which the Operating Committee is charged with the final decisionmaking authority hereunder pursuant to Section 3.2 (whether by virtue
of the Parties' rights with respect to Company Matters or Bank Matters or with respect to matters deemed rejected upon deadlock
pursuant to such Section 3.2), in the event that the Parties shall fail to resolve the dispute pursuant to Section 3.2(d)(ii)(B), the Parties
shall submit the dispute to mandatory and binding arbitration pursuant to the terms and conditions of Section 12.4(b). This Section 12.4
shall not be construed to prevent a Party from instituting, and a Party is authorized to institute, formal proceedings earlier than provided
in the preceding sentence, to avoid the expiration of any applicable limitations period, to preserve a superior position with respect to
other creditors.
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(b) Arbitration. If the Parties are unable to resolve a dispute as provided in Section 12.4(a), then the Parties agree that
such dispute shall be submitted to mandatory and binding arbitration, which shall be subject to the following conditions:

(i) The dispute shall be resolved by arbitration administered by the American Arbitration Association under
its Commercial Arbitration Rules. The arbitrators are prohibited from awarding punitive damages. The terms of this Agreement,
including the terms set forth in this Section 12.4(b), shall supersede any American Arbitration Association rule in conflict herewith. In
addition, the arbitrators, in deciding all matters and in fashioning an appropriate remedy or relief, shall be bound to apply the
substantive laws of the State of Delaware. In no event may any demand for arbitration be made on any date on or after which the
institution of legal or equitable proceedings based on the applicable dispute would be barred by the applicable statute of limitations or
by any provision of this Agreement.

(ii) The arbitration shall be conducted by three arbitrators, one of whom shall be appointed by the Company,
one of whom shall be appointed by the Bank, in their demand for arbitration or answering statement, as applicable, and the third of
whom, who shall serve as chair, shall be appointed by the party-appointed arbitrators. All arbitrators appointed shall serve as neutrals.

(iii) The arbitration hearing shall be commenced within sixty (60) days of the Parties' demand for arbitration.
The arbitrators shall control the scheduling so as to process the matter expeditiously. The times specified in this Section 12.4(b) may be
extended upon mutual agreement of the Parties or by the arbitrator upon a showing of good cause.

(iv) The arbitrators rendering judgment upon disputes between the Parties as provided in this Section 12.4(b)
shall, after reaching judgment and award, prepare and distribute to the Parties within thirty (30) days after the close of hearings, or as
soon thereafter as is practicable in the circumstances, a writing describing the findings of fact and conclusions of law relevant to such
judgment and award and containing an opinion setting forth the reasons for the giving or denial of any award. The award of the
arbitrator shall be reasoned, final and binding on the Parties, and judgment thereon may be entered in any court of competent
jurisdiction.

(v) Unless otherwise mutually agreed by the Parties, the place of arbitration shall be Chicago, Illinois.

(vi) Each Party shall bear its own costs of these procedures. A Party seeking discovery shall reimburse the
responding Party the costs of production of documents (to include search time and reproduction costs). The Parties shall equally split the
fees of the arbitration cost, the court reporter's transcript, and the arbitrators.

(c) Nothing contained in this Section 12.4 shall limit either Party's right to obtain any provisional remedy, including,
without limitation, specific performance or injunctive relief from any court of competent jurisdiction, as may be necessary, in the
aggrieved Party's sole discretion, to protect its rights under this Agreement.

12.5 Regulatory Audit of Company. Until the later of the Termination Date and the date all pending matters relating to this
Agreement (e.g., disputes, tax assessments or reassessments) are closed, the Company hereby agrees to allow any and all applicable
Governmental Authorities that supervise Bank or its Affiliates to audit and inspect the Company's books, records, procedures and
facilities to the same extent that the Bank is permitted pursuant to Section 12.2.
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ARTICLE XIII

CONFIDENTIALITY

13.1 General Confidentiality.

(a) For purposes of this Agreement, “Confidential Information” means any of the following: (i) information that is
provided by or on behalf of either the Company or the Bank to the other Party or its Representatives in connection with the Program
(including information provided prior to the date hereof); (ii) information about the Company or the Bank or their Affiliates, or their
respective businesses or employees, that is otherwise obtained by the other Party in connection with the Program, in each case
including: (A) information concerning marketing plans, objectives and financial results, business systems, methods, processes, know-
how, financing data, programs and products and Value Proposition terms and features and tests thereof; (B) information regarding any
products offered or proposed to be offered under the Program or the manner of offering of any such products; (C) information unrelated
to the Program obtained by the Company or the Bank in connection with this Agreement, including by accessing or being present at the
business location of the other Party; and (D) Intellectual Property such as proprietary technical information, including source code,
developed in connection with the Program; (iii) the terms and conditions of this Agreement; and (iv) the Marketing Plan. The provisions
of this Article XIII governing Confidential Information shall not govern Cardholder Data or Shopper Data, which shall be governed by
the provisions of Article VI.

(b) The restrictions on disclosure of Confidential Information under this Article XIII shall not apply to information
received or obtained by the Company or the Bank, as the case may be, that: (i) is or becomes generally available to the public other than
as a result of disclosure in breach of this Agreement or any other confidentiality obligations; (ii) is lawfully received on a non-
confidential basis from a third party authorized to disclose such information without restriction and without breach of this Agreement;
(iii) is contained in, or is capable of being discovered through examination of, publicly available records or products; (iv) is required to
be disclosed by Applicable Law, GAAP or applicable stock exchange rules (but only to the extent of such required disclosure);
provided, that such information shall be disclosed only to the extent required by such Applicable Law, GAAP, or applicable stock
exchange rules and shall otherwise remain Confidential Information; or (v) is developed by the Company or the Bank, as the case may
be, without the use or knowledge of any proprietary, non-public information provided by the other Party under, or otherwise made
available to such Party as a result of, this Agreement. Nothing herein shall be construed to permit the Receiving Party (as defined
below) to disclose to any third party any Confidential Information that the Receiving Party is required to keep confidential under
Applicable Law.

(c) The terms and conditions of this Agreement and the Marketing Plan and all of the items referred to in clauses (A)
through (B) of Section 13.1(a) shall each be the Confidential Information of the Company and the Bank and each of the Parties to this
Agreement shall be deemed to be a Receiving Party of each of them; provided, however, that the terms of this Agreement may be filed
by either Party with any Governmental Authority (including public filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission) to the extent
required by Applicable Law.

(d) If the Company, on the one hand, or the Bank, on the other hand, receives Confidential Information of the other
Party (“Receiving Party”), the Receiving Party shall do the following with respect to the Confidential Information of the other Party
(“Disclosing Party”): (i) keep the Confidential Information of the Disclosing Party secure and confidential; (ii) treat all Confidential
Information of the Disclosing Party with the same degree of care as it accords its own Confidential Information, but in no event less
than a reasonable degree of care; and (iii) implement and maintain commercially reasonable physical, electronic, administrative and
procedural security measures, including commercially reasonable authentication, access controls, virus protection and intrusion
detection practices and procedures.

(e) Upon reasonable request, the Company and the Bank shall have the right to review the other Party's information
security standards and shall notify the other Party prior to materially modifying such procedures.
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13.2 Use and Disclosure of Confidential Information.

(a) Each Receiving Party shall use and disclose the Confidential Information of the Disclosing Party only for the
purpose of performing its obligations or enforcing its rights with respect to the Program or as otherwise expressly permitted by this
Agreement, and shall not accumulate in any way or make use of such Confidential Information for any other purpose.

(b) Each Receiving Party shall: (i) limit access to the Disclosing Party's Confidential Information to those
Representatives, Service Providers, prospective purchasers (and their respective Representatives) who have a reasonable need to access
such Confidential Information, including in connection with the Program or their conduct of their respective businesses or activities as
they relate to the Program, a potential sale of Program Assets or any assets of the Company and its Affiliates, a potential merger,
consolidation, acquisition or other transaction or financing arrangement involving the Company and its Affiliates, or the establishment
of a new Credit Card or other program or arrangement for the Company, in each case in accordance with the terms of this Agreement,
and (ii) ensure that any Person with access to the Disclosing Party's Confidential Information agrees to be bound by a confidentiality
agreement consistent with the restrictions set forth in this Article XIII.

13.3 Unauthorized Use or Disclosure of Confidential Information. Each Receiving Party agrees that any unauthorized use or
disclosure of Confidential Information of the Disclosing Party might cause immediate and irreparable harm to the Disclosing Party for
which money damages might not constitute an adequate remedy. In that event, the Receiving Party agrees that injunctive relief may be
warranted in addition to any other remedies the Disclosing Party may have. In addition, the Receiving Party agrees promptly to advise
the Disclosing Party by telephone and in writing of any security breach that may have compromised any Confidential Information or of
any unauthorized misappropriation, disclosure or use by any Person of the Confidential Information of the Disclosing Party which may
come to its attention, and to take all steps at the Receiving Party's expense reasonably requested by the Disclosing Party to limit, stop or
otherwise remedy such breach, misappropriation, disclosure or use that resulted from the Disclosing Party's disclosure of the
Confidential Information to the Receiving Party, its Service Providers or their respective Representatives.

13.4 Return or Destruction of Confidential Information. Following the end of the Termination Period (or the interim servicing
period pursuant to Section 17.2(h) if applicable), the Receiving Party shall cease using and promptly, at Receiving Party's option, return
to Disclosing Party or arrange for the destruction of any and all the Disclosing Party's Confidential Information (including any
electronic or paper copies, reproductions, extracts or summaries thereof); provided, however, the Receiving Party in possession of
tangible property containing the Disclosing Party's Confidential Information may retain, subject to the terms of this Agreement, (a) such
Confidential Information as may be present in backup, recovery or similar archival or disaster recovery systems, (b) Confidential
Information (i) that a Receiving Party, its Service Providers or their respective Representatives are required to retain by Applicable Law
or documented, internal retention policies, or (ii) that are automatically retained as part of a computer back-up, recovery or similar
archival or disaster recovery system or form; provided such copies are not intentionally accessed except where required or requested by
Applicable Law or where disclosure is otherwise permitted under this Agreement, or (c) that a Receiving Party's or its Service
Providers' Representatives that are accounting firms retain in accordance with policies and procedures implemented by such persons in
order to comply with Applicable Law or professional rules or standards. Such return or destruction shall be certified in writing,
including a statement that no copies of Confidential Information have been kept, except as provided herein.

ARTICLE XIV

RETAIL PORTFOLIO ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSITIONS

14.1 Retailer that Operates a Credit Card Business. If the Company or any of its Subsidiaries acquires or otherwise combines
with (including by merger, consolidation or other business combination) a retailer that directly or through an Affiliate or unaffiliated
Person issues a Credit Card in the United States and following such acquisition such retailer will operate in the United States using one
or more Company Licensed Marks (such Credit Card accounts, the “New Portfolio”), the Company shall notify the Bank of such
transaction as soon as practicable,
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which may in the Company's discretion be prior to or after the Company's purchase of such retailer, and the following shall apply:

(a) Retailer that Operates a New Portfolio. If the acquired retailer owns and operates the New Portfolio itself or
through an Affiliate, the Company shall grant the Bank the right (which shall be nonexclusive and may be extended to other Credit Card
issuers on the same basis) to submit a bid to purchase the New Portfolio. The Bank shall be solely responsible for funding the purchase
of the New Portfolio, and if acquired by the Bank, subject to any terms and conditions of such purchase, the New Portfolio shall become
subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement. The Company shall be under no obligation to accept such offer or to provide the
Bank with any right to match any offer received by the Company from any third party. The Company may elect to (A) keep such New
Portfolio, (B) offer such New Portfolio for sale to a third party, or (C) accept the offer made by the Bank. If the Company does not sell
such New Portfolio to the Bank (whether because the Company elects to keep such New Portfolio or sell it to a third party), the
restrictions of Section 2.2 shall not apply to the Credit Card business associated with such New Portfolio, including any growth thereof
(including as a result of new Credit Cards by the retailer so acquired).

(b) Retailer that has a New Portfolio with another Issuer. If the New Portfolio is issued through an unaffiliated Person
(other than the Bank or any of its Affiliates), (A) if the agreement governing such issuance relationship is not terminable at the election
of the Company, the Bank may negotiate in good faith for the purchase of the New Portfolio from such unaffiliated issuer and (B) if
such agreement is terminable in accordance with its terms, the Company shall grant the Bank the right (which shall be nonexclusive and
may be extended to other Credit Card issuers on the same basis) to submit a bid to purchase the New Portfolio. Neither the Company
nor such unaffiliated Person shall be under any obligation to accept such offer or to provide the Bank with any right to match any offer
received by the Company or such unaffiliated Person from any third party, and in the case of clause (B) above, the Company may elect
to (x) keep such New Portfolio, (y) offer such New Portfolio for sale to a third party, or (z) accept the offer made by the Bank. In the
case of clause (A) above, in the event that the Bank is unsuccessful in its bid for the Credit Card portfolio within sixty (60) days, the
Company shall have the right to continue to operate such Credit Card portfolio under the existing program agreement and upon
expiration or termination thereof to renew such program agreement or to purchase and operate such retailer's Credit Card business itself
or to engage a third party to do so. If the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, directly or with a third Person, acquires the New Portfolio
pursuant to this provision, Section 2.2 shall not apply to such New Portfolio or to the associated acquired retail operations, including
any growth thereof (including as a result of new Credit Cards by the retailer so acquired).

(c) Retailer that has a New Portfolio with the Bank. If the Company or any of its Subsidiaries acquires a New Portfolio
issued by the Bank, the Company shall be entitled to elect whether to integrate such Credit Card portfolio with the Program as provided
in Section 14.2 below or to continue operating it in accordance with its terms. The Parties shall negotiate in good faith to eliminate any
such conflicts between this Agreement and the agreement with respect to the New Portfolio, and pending such elimination, the
Company shall not be deemed in breach of this Agreement or the other agreement by virtue of its compliance with the terms of either
such Agreement.

14.2 Conversion of Purchased Accounts. If the Bank acquires any Credit Card portfolio pursuant to Section 14.1(a) or (b),
subject to the terms of any agreements entered into between the Company and the Bank pursuant to Section 14.1, the Bank shall
integrate such Credit Card portfolio with the Program as follows:

(a) Private label accounts shall be converted to Private Label Accounts and co-branded accounts shall be converted to
Co-Branded Accounts established under the Program, which converted Accounts shall be subject to the same terms and conditions as
the Accounts and to this Agreement, and participate in the Program, as if they were originated under this Agreement.

(b) The Bank shall cover all costs related to conversions pursuant to this Section 14.2, including replacement of Credit
Cards, notices to Cardholders and complying with other requirements of Applicable Law.
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14.3 No Other Company Obligations. Except as set forth in this Article XIV, the Company shall have no obligation to include
in the Program any Credit Card portfolios acquired in connection with any merger, consolidation, acquisition or other transaction or
otherwise cause them to be transferred to the Bank. Except to the extent included in the Program in accordance with this Article XIV, an
acquired portfolio may be operated free of the exclusivity restrictions set forth in this Agreement.

14.4 Retail Portfolio Dispositions. In the event that the Company arranges for the disposition of any of its physical stores or
anyCompany Channel other than its physical store channel, the Company may offer its designated purchaser the right to acquire the
portion of the Program Assets related to such disposition and the Bank shall provide all cooperation necessary to consummate such
disposition to the same extent as if such disposition were a transfer of Program Assets upon the expiration of this Agreement as
provided in Article XVII. For purposes of this Section 14.4, the Company may deem an Account to be related to a disposition and to be
a Program Asset if at least fifty percent (50%) of the purchases on such Account in the preceding twelve (12) month period occurred in
such physical stores and/or non-store Company Channels, as the case may be, that are subject to such disposition.

ARTICLE XV

EVENTS OF DEFAULT; RIGHTS AND REMEDIES

15.1 Events of Default. The occurrence of any one or more of the following events (regardless of the reason therefor) shall
constitute an Event of Default by a Party hereunder:

(a) Such Party shall fail to make a payment of any amount due and payable pursuant to this Agreement (other than the
settlement of amounts due in respect of Charge Transaction Data addressed in Section 15.2(a) below) and such failure shall remain
unremedied for a period of five (5) Business Days after the non-defaulting Party shall have given written notice thereof, unless such
failure to pay is the subject of a dispute resolution under Section 12.3, in which case the five (5) Business Day period shall commence
upon receipt of the written findings from the Accountants.

(b) Such Party shall fail to perform, satisfy or comply with any material obligation, condition, covenant or other
provision contained in this Agreement (other than failure to comply with any SLAs), and such failure shall remain unremedied for a
period of thirty (30) days after the other Party shall have given written notice thereof specifying the nature of such failure in reasonable
detail, provided that if such failure cannot be cured in a commercially reasonable manner within such time, such failure shall not
constitute an Event of Default if the defaulting Party shall have initiated and diligently pursued a cure within such time and such cure is
completed within ninety (90) days from the date of written notice regarding such failure.

(c) Any representation or warranty by such Party contained in this Agreement shall not be true and correct in any
respect as of the date when made, and the Party making such representation or warranty shall fail to cure the event giving rise to such
breach within thirty (30) days after the other Party shall have given written notice thereof specifying the nature of such breach in
reasonable detail, provided that if such failure cannot be cured in a commercially reasonable manner within such time, such breach shall
not constitute an Event of Default if the defaulting Party shall have initiated a cure within such time and such cure is completed within
ninety (90) days from the date of written notice regarding such breach.

15.2 Defaults by the Bank. The occurrence of any one or more of the following events (regardless of the reason therefor)
shall constitute an Event of Default by the Bank hereunder:

(a) The Bank fails to settle Charge Transaction Data and make payment in full therefor within twenty-four (24) hours
of the time that such settlement payment is due pursuant to Section 8.3.

(b) The Bank shall no longer be solvent or shall fail generally to pay its debts as they become due or substantial
cessation of the Bank's regular course of business.
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(c) Any regulatory authority having jurisdiction over the Bank or Bank Parent shall order the appointment of a
custodian, receiver, liquidator, assignee, trustee or sequestrator (or similar official) of the Bank or Bank Parent or of any substantial part
of its properties, or order the winding-up or liquidation of the affairs of the Bank or Bank Parent.

(d) Either (i) the Bank shall (A) consent to the institution of proceedings specified in paragraph (d) above or to the
appointment of or taking possession by a custodian, receiver, liquidator, assignee, trustee or sequestrator (or similar official) of such
entity or of any substantial part of its properties, or (B) take corporate or similar action in furtherance of any such action; or (ii) either
(A) a petition under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code or similar law shall be filed against Bank Parent and not be dismissed within sixty (60)
days, (B) a decree or order by a court having jurisdiction (1) for relief in respect of the Bank or Bank Parent pursuant to the Bankruptcy
Code or any other applicable bankruptcy or other similar law, (2) for appointment of a custodian, receiver, liquidator, assignee, trustee or
sequestrator (or similar official) of the Bank or Bank Parent or of any substantial part of its properties, or (3) ordering the winding-up or
liquidation of the affairs of the Bank or Bank Parent shall, in any such case, be entered, and shall not be vacated, discharged, stayed or
bonded within sixty (60) days from the date of entry thereof or (C) Bank Parent shall (1) file a petition seeking relief pursuant to the
Bankruptcy Code or any other applicable bankruptcy or other similar law, (2) consent to the institution of proceedings pursuant thereto
or to the filing of any such petition or to the appointment of or taking possession by a custodian, receiver, liquidator, assignee, trustee or
sequestrator (or similar official) of Bank Parent or any substantial part of its properties, or (3) take corporate or similar action in
furtherance of any such action.

(e) The Bank shall fail to meet one or more SLAs expressly giving rise to the right to terminate hereunder pursuant to
Schedule 7.2(a).

(f) As a result of the regulatory status or any constraints imposed on the Bank or any of its Affiliates by any
Governmental Authority, (i) the Bank's ability to perform its obligations under this Agreement are materially impaired, (ii) the benefits
of the Program to the Company are materially diminished or (iii) the Company experiences a material decline in Cardholder
satisfaction.

15.3 Defaults by the Company. The occurrence of any one or more of the following events (regardless of the reason therefor)
shall constitute an Event of Default by the Company hereunder:

(a) The Company shall no longer be solvent or shall fail generally to pay its debts as they become due or substantial
cessation of the Company's regular course of business.

(b) A petition under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code or similar law shall be filed against the Company and not be dismissed
within sixty (60) days.

(c) A decree or order by a court having jurisdiction (i) for relief in respect of the Company pursuant to the Bankruptcy
Code or any other applicable bankruptcy or other similar law, (ii) for appointment of a custodian, receiver, liquidator, assignee, trustee
or sequestrator (or similar official) of the Company or of any substantial part of its properties, or (iii) ordering the winding-up or
liquidation of the affairs of the Company shall, in any such case be entered, and shall not be vacated, discharged, stayed or bonded
within sixty (60) days from the date of entry thereof.

(d) The Company shall (i) file a petition seeking relief pursuant to the Bankruptcy Code or any other applicable
bankruptcy or other similar law, (ii) consent to the institution of proceedings pursuant thereto or to the filing of any such petition or to
the appointment of or taking possession by a custodian, receiver, liquidator, assignee, trustee or sequestrator (or similar official) of the
Company or any substantial part of its properties, or (iii) take corporate or similar action in furtherance of any such action.

15.4 Remedies for Events of Default. In addition to any other rights or remedies available to the Parties at law or in equity,
upon the occurrence of an Event of Default pursuant to Section 15.1, 15.2 or 15.3, the non-defaulting Party shall be entitled to collect
from the defaulting Party any amount indisputably in default plus interest based on the Federal Funds Rate.

001549-0001-13793-Active.14250169.10

54

Copyright © 2013 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document

http://www.secdatabase.com


ARTICLE XVI

TERM/TERMINATION

16.1 Term. This Agreement shall continue in full force and effect for seven (7) years from the Chase Closing Date (the
“Initial Term”). Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event that the Bank shall owe the Company any amount pursuant to Schedule
9.1(a)(iii)(b) in respect of the fifth Program Year, then the Company shall be entitled to elect, within one hundred eighty (180) days
following the end of such Program Year, by notice in writing delivered to the Bank, to cause the Initial Term to end on the sixth
anniversary of the Chase Closing Date. The Agreement shall renew automatically without further action of the Parties for successive
one (1) year terms (each, a “Renewal Term”) unless a Party provides written notice of termination at least three hundred sixty five (365)
days prior to the expiration of the Initial Term or current Renewal Term, as the case may be.

16.2 Termination by the Company Prior to the End of the Initial Term or a Renewal Term. The Company may terminate this
Agreement upon written notice prior to the end of the Initial Term or any Renewal Term:

(a) after the occurrence of a Bank Event of Default that is continuing;

(b) upon thirty (30) days' prior written notice if there is a change in Applicable Law which reduces or could reasonably
be expected to reduce in any material respect the ability of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to gain access to, or to use, any
Cardholder Data, Shopper Data or Charge Transaction Data below the level of access and use permitted under Applicable Law
immediately prior to the date of this Agreement; provided, however, that prior to delivering a notice of termination pursuant to this
Section 16.2(b), the Company shall engage in good faith negotiations with the Bank to modify the Program in a way that would
preserve at least the same level of access and use of such data for the benefit of the Company and its Affiliates following the relevant
change in Applicable Law as was permissible prior to the date of this Agreement, such negotiations not to terminate (in the absence of
an agreement between the Parties on any modification) earlier than thirty (30) days after the earlier of (i) the date on which one of the
Parties delivers a notice to the other that the relevant change in Applicable Law is likely to occur or (ii) the date on which the relevant
change in Applicable Law takes effect;provided further, however, if the Company terminates this Agreement pursuant to this Section
16.2(b), the Company shall refund to the Bank the Unamortized Premium; provided that the Company shall have no such
reimbursement obligation if the restrictions under Applicable Law on the level of access to or use of Cardholder Data, Shopper Data or
Charge Transaction Data by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, after giving effect to such change could be materially lessened if
the Company and its Subsidiaries operated the Program with a financial institution other than Bank;

(c) if the Bank exercises its rights to break a deadlock by imposing the resolution as a Bank Matters with respect to
more than three (3) Unapproved Matters within the last twelve (12) Fiscal Months;provided, however, if the Company terminates this
Agreement pursuant to this Section 16.2(c), the Company shall refund to the Bank the Unamortized Premium;

(d) pursuant to Section 4.6(c);

(e) if the Bank shall fail to perform, satisfy or comply with any obligation, condition, covenant or other provision
contained in this Agreement for a period of not less than sixty (60) days due to a Force Majeure Event and such failure shall either have
a Bank Material Adverse Effect or materially diminish the benefits of the Program to Company;

(f) if (i) the Chase Purchase Agreement is not executed by the Bank on or prior to October 1, 2013 or (ii) the Chase
Purchase Agreement is terminated without the occurrence of the Chase Closing Date; provided, however if the Company terminates this
Agreement pursuant to clause (i) of this Section 16.2(f), the Company shall refund to the Bank the payments in full received by the
Company as set forth in subsection (i) of Schedule 9.1(b); or
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(g) if the Bank makes a unilateral change to the sections specified in Schedule 9.1(a)(iii)(e), as permitted by Schedule
9.1(a)(iii).

16.3 Termination by the Bank Prior to the End of the Initial Term or a Renewal Term. The Bank may terminate this
Agreement upon written notice prior to the end of the Initial Term or any Renewal Term (i) after the occurrence of a Company Event of
Default that is continuing, (ii) if the Company shall fail to perform, satisfy or comply with any obligation, condition, covenant or other
provision contained in this Agreement for a period of not less than sixty (60) days due to a Force Majeure Event and such failure shall
either have a Company Material Adverse Effect or materially diminish the benefits of the Program to the Bank, (iii) if the Chase
Purchase Agreement is not executed by the Bank on or prior to October 1, 2013 or (iv) pursuant to Schedule 9.1(a)(iii)(c), provided,
however, that the Bank shall not be entitled to exercise this termination right if it is in breach of its obligations pursuant to Section
11.5(j); provided further, however, if the Bank terminates this Agreement pursuant to (x) clause (i) or (iv) of this Section 16.3, the
Company shall refund to the Bank the Unamortized Premium; provided that if the termination event is based upon a Company Event of
Default pursuant to Section 15.1 and the occurrence of such Company Event of Default is in dispute, then the Company must refund the
Unamortized Premium to the Bank so long as such Company Event of Default is proved by the Bank to have occurred, or (y) clause (iii)
of this Section 16.3, the Company shall refund to the Bank the payments in full received by the Company as set forth in subsection (i) of
Schedule 9.1(b).

ARTICLE XVII

EFFECTS OF TERMINATION

17.1 General Effects.

(a) In the event of a notice of termination or non-renewal of this Agreement, all obligations of the Parties, including (i)
operating and servicing the Accounts in the ordinary course of business, (ii) compensation as set forth in Article IX, originating and
extending credit on Accounts and funding Cardholder Indebtedness, (iv) solicitations, marketing and advertising of the Program, and (v)
acceptance of the Company Credit Cards in Company Channels, shall continue in accordance with and subject to the terms of this
Agreement until the applicable provisions of Sections 17.2 and 17.4 are satisfied; provided that the Company may, at its option, upon
notice to the Bank, stop accepting Company Credit Cards in Company Channels and/or marketing the Program if the Bank has breached
its obligation to settle Transactions in accordance with Section 8.3. The Parties shall cooperate to ensure the orderly wind-down or
transfer of the Program.

(b) Upon the satisfaction of the applicable provisions of Section 17.2 and 17.4, all obligations of the Parties under this
Agreement shall cease, except that the provisions specified in Section 19.21 shall survive.

17.2 The Company's Option to Purchase the Program Assets.

(a) If this Agreement expires or is terminated by either Party for whatever reason, the Company has the option to
purchase, or arrange the purchase by a third party nominated by the Company (a “Nominated Purchaser”), of the Program Assets from
the Bank on customary terms and conditions (and no more onerous to (i) the Bank than those applicable to Chase in the Chase Purchase
Agreement or (ii) the Company or the Nominated Purchaser than those applicable to the Bank in the Chase Purchase Agreement).

(b) The purchase option is exercisable by the Company or a Nominated Purchaser serving notice (the “Purchase
Notice”) by the later of: (i) one hundred eighty days prior to expiration of the Term pursuant to Section 16.1 (or one hundred eighty
(180) days after notice of termination pursuant to Section 16.2 or Section 16.3, if applicable) or (ii) one hundred eighty (180) days after
Company receives the information required to be provided pursuant to Section 17.2(e).

(c) If such purchase option is exercised, the Company or the Nominated Purchaser must complete the purchase of the
Program Assets within two hundred seventy (270) days after the notice has been given pursuant to
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Section 17.2(b); provided, however, that such time period shall be extended as necessary for required regulatory approvals, rating
agency consents. The date of such completion shall be the “Program Purchase Date.”

(d) The purchase price for the Program Assets purchased (which for the avoidance of doubt shall include all written off
Accounts that have not been sold off in the ordinary course), payable on the Program Purchase Date, shall be equal to:

(i) the par value (i.e., outstanding amount) as of the Program Purchase Date of the Cardholder Indebtedness in
respect of the Private Label Accounts that have not been written off in accordance with the Risk Management Policies (and should not
have been so written off in accordance with such Risk Management Policies); and

(ii) the fair market value, as determined in accordance with Section 17.3, as of the Program Purchase Date of
the Co-Branded Accounts.

(e) The Parties will use commercially reasonable efforts to minimize transition costs. Following the provision by either
Party of notice of termination or non-renewal of this Agreement or the occurrence of an event that gives rise to a right of termination (or
will with the passage of time or giving of notice give rise to such a termination right in the future), or at any time during the eighteen
(18) month period preceding the expiration of the Term, promptly upon the Company's request (but in no event later than twenty (20)
days after such request), the Bank shall provide (i) the Company with Program-related data of the type that is both permitted to be
disclosed by Applicable Law and typically included in a request for proposal process including all information set forth in Schedule
17.2(e)(i), to allow the Company, its advisors and potential bidders to value the Program Assets and provide a comprehensive bid, and
(ii) the Company and its prospective or actual Nominated Purchasers access to the books and records relating to the Program Assets and
the performance of the Program, including, to the extent permitted by Applicable Law, Account-level data typically accessed in such a
process (including the information set forth in Schedule 17.2(e)(ii), for the purpose of conducting due diligence investigations to
determine whether they wish to purchase the Program Assets. Prior to providing any prospective bidder or Nominated Purchaser with
access to any of the foregoing data, the Company shall cause such prospective bidder or Nominated Purchaser to enter into
confidentiality arrangements (naming the Bank as a third party beneficiary thereof) that require the prospective or actual Nominated
Purchaser to maintain the confidentiality of such information consistent with the requirements of this Agreement and not to use the
information other than for the evaluation of whether to make an offer to purchase the Program Assets. During this period, the Bank shall
make itself reasonably available to participate in due diligence with prospective or actual Nominated Purchasers.

(f) After the Program Purchase Date, the Bank shall have no further rights in or to any Cardholder Data. If the
Purchase Option is not exercised, following the termination of this Agreement, in no event shall the Bank solicit any Cardholder for any
loan, product or service on the basis of such Person's status as a Cardholder or any other information obtained in connection with the
Program without the Company's prior consent. For the avoidance of doubt, nothing in the Agreement shall require the Bank to delete
Cardholders from general solicitations made by the Bank when such Cardholders' information was obtained independently from third
party sources of information.

(g) If the Company exercises its right to purchase, or selects a Nominated Purchaser to purchase, the Program Assets,
the Bank shall negotiate in good faith with respect to the assignment of Approved Ancillary Products (to the extent such products are
not proprietary to the Bank's Credit Card business), if any, to the Company or its Nominated Purchaser.

(h) If the Company exercises its right to purchase, or to select a Nominated Purchaser to purchase, the Program Assets,
the Bank shall be required, at the Company's option, to continue to service the Accounts for the benefit of the Company or the
Nominated Purchaser in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement (or in the case of a Nominated Purchaser, an interim
servicing agreement providing for the terms set forth in this Section 17.2(h) and such other terms as are customary for such agreements)
for a period of twelve (12) months (or such shorter period as may be elected by the Company) following the end of the Termination
Period. Such servicing shall be in
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accordance with the servicing standards set forth herein, including as set forth in Schedule 7.2(a), and the Bank shall be paid a monthly
servicing fee on a per active Account basis equal to its actual historical costs, as full compensation for such servicing.

17.3 Fair Market Value. Upon receipt of the Purchase Notice, if applicable, the Parties shall enter into good faith negotiations
to determine the fair market value of the Existing Receivables for a period of thirty (30) days. In the event that the parties do not reach
agreement on the fair market value of the Existing Receivables during such period, the Bank and the Company shall each retain an
Independent Appraiser, and such Independent Appraisers shall jointly select, and the Parties shall jointly retain, a third Independent
Appraiser. The Bank and the Company shall each pay the costs associated with the Independent Appraiser retained by it and fifty
percent (50%) of the costs associated with the third Independent Appraiser selected by the Independent Appraisers. The Parties shall
provide such information to the Independent Appraisers as is necessary to permit each of the Independent Appraisers to provide a
valuation of the Program Assets; provided, however, that the information provided to all Independent Appraisers shall be identical. Such
appraisals shall be performed on the basis of the assumptions set forth in Schedule 17.3. The fair market value shall be the average of
the two (2) closest valuations received from the Independent Appraisers; provided, however, if the median valuation is equal to the
mean of the three (3) valuations, the fair market value shall be such median/mean value. The fair market value determined in accordance
with this Section 17.3 shall be final and binding on the parties and enforceable in any court having jurisdiction. None of the Independent
Appraisers can be compensated based on the outcome of their appraisal or the outcome of the fair market value process.

17.4 Rights of the Bank if Purchase Option Not Exercised.

(a) If this Agreement expires or is terminated and the Company gives written notice that the Company shall not
exercise its option referred to in Section 17.2 or otherwise fails to exercise its option within the time period specified in Section 17.2,
the Company shall have no further rights whatsoever in the Program Assets. In such event, the Bank shall have the right on or after the
expiration or termination of this Agreement to:

(i) issue to Cardholders a replacement or substitute Credit Card (which card and any related account
documentation and solicitation and promotional materials must not bear any Company Licensed Marks or any other trademarks or
source indicators confusingly similar thereto) with such characteristics as the Bank considers appropriate (the cost of card re-design and
re-issue being borne by the Bank); provided that the replacement or substitute Credit Card shall not be issued in cooperation with or for
the benefit of, or bearing the brands of, any retailer;

(ii) subject to Applicable Law, notify Cardholders that the Bank shall cease providing credit under the
Accounts and require repayment of all amounts outstanding on all Accounts until all associated receivables have been repaid;

(iii) sell the Accounts and associated receivables to a third party purchaser, other than to or for the benefit of a
retailer or other competitor of the Company and its Affiliates, selected by the Bank at a price agreed between the Bank and the
purchaser; or

(iv) any combination of (i), (ii) and (iii).

(b) Notwithstanding the foregoing, in no event shall the Bank use or disclose or permit any of its Affiliates to use or
disclose the Cardholder Data to market or promote a Credit Card or ancillary product together with any retailer.

(c) Company hereby grants and agrees to grant to the Bank a non-exclusive, royalty-free, non-transferable, non-
sublicensable license to use the Company Licensed Marks (i) for up to sixty (60) days after the Company gives written notice that the
Company shall not exercise its option referred to in Section 17.2 or after the time period for the Company to exercise such option shall
have expired solely to the extent necessary to exercise its rights under this Section 17.4 and (ii) for up to one hundred eighty (180) days
after such written notice or expiration
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solely to the extent necessary to identify the Accounts in connection with the billing and collection thereof and as otherwise required by
Applicable Law, after which time the Bank shall no longer use any of Company Licensed Marks (or any other trademarks or source
indicators confusingly similar thereto) and must rebrand the Company Credit Cards.

ARTICLE XVIII

INDEMNIFICATION

18.1 Company Indemnification of the Bank. From and after the Effective Date, the Company shall indemnify and hold
harmless the Bank, its Affiliates, and their respective officers, directors and employees from and against and in respect of any and all
losses, liabilities, damages, costs and expenses of whatever nature, including reasonable attorneys' fees and expenses, to the extent
caused or incurred by, resulting from, arising out of or relating to claims, suits or actions by third parties against the Bank, its Affiliates
or any Person with a right of indemnification pursuant to this Section 18.1 regarding any of the following or allegations thereof by such
third parties:

(a) the Company's or its Affiliates' or Service Providers' negligence or recklessness or willful misconduct (including
acts and omissions) relating to the Program;

(b) any breach by the Company of any of the terms, covenants, representations, warranties or other provisions
contained in this Agreement;

(c) any actions or omissions by the Bank taken or not taken at the Company's written request or direction pursuant to
this Agreement except where the Bank would have been otherwise required to take such action (or refrain from acting) absent the
request or direction of the Company;

(d) fraudulent acts by the Company, or any of its Affiliates, agents or employees, in connection with the Program
(except to the extent charged back pursuant to Section 8.4);

(e) any failure by the Company or its Affiliates or Service Providers to satisfy any of their obligations to third parties
with respect to the sale by them to such third parties of Goods and Services;

(f) any Account Documentation or Solicitation Materials that were distributed by the Company and not approved by
the Operating Committee;

(g) the failure of the Company to comply with Applicable Law in connection with the Program or the Operating
Procedures, unless such failure was the result of any action taken or not taken by the Company at the written request or direction of the
Bank or any of its Affiliates;

(h) the Company's Inserts or Billing Statement messages; and

(i) the use of the Company Licensed Marks constituting infringement of any Intellectual Property right of such third
party.

18.2 Bank Indemnification of the Company. From and after the Effective Date, The Bank shall indemnify and hold harmless
the Company, its Affiliates and their respective officers, directors and employees from and against and in respect of any and all losses,
liabilities, damages, costs and expenses of whatever nature, including reasonable attorneys' fees and expenses, to the extent caused or
incurred by, resulting from, arising out of or relating toclaims, suits or actions by third parties against the Company, its Affiliates or any
Person with a right of indemnification pursuant to this Section 18.2regarding any of the following or allegations thereof by such third
parties:
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(a) The Bank's or its Affiliates' or Service Providers' negligence or recklessness or willful misconduct (including acts
and omissions) relating to the Program;

(b) any breach by the Bank or any of its Affiliates, employees or agents of any of the terms, covenants, representations,
warranties or other provisions contained in this Agreement or any Credit Card Agreement;

(c) any actions or omissions by the Company taken or not taken at the Bank's or any of its Affiliates' written request or
direction pursuant to this Agreement, except where the Company would have been otherwise required to take such action (or refrain
from acting) absent the request or direction of the Bank or such Affiliate;

(d) fraudulent acts by the Bank, or any of its Affiliates, agents or employees, in connection with the Program;

(e) any failure by the Bank or its Affiliates or their Service Providers to satisfy any of their obligations to (i)
Cardholders with respect to the Program or the Accounts, whether pursuant to the Credit Card Agreements or otherwise or (ii) any other
third parties in connection with its provision of other products and services to such third parties;

(f) any Account Documentation or Solicitation Materials that fail to comply with Applicable Law, unless such failure
resulted from the Company's modification of such Account Documentation or Solicitation Materials in contravention of the review and
approval requirements of this Agreement;

(g) (i) the failure of the Program (including the Company Credit Cards or any Approved Ancillary Products) to comply
with Applicable Law or (ii) the failure of the Bank or any of its Affiliates to comply with Applicable Law in connection with the
Program or the Operating Procedures unless such failure was the result of any action taken or not taken by the Bank or any of its
Affiliates at the specific written request or direction of the Company;

(h) the Bank's Inserts or Billing Statement messages; and

(i) the use of the Bank Licensed Marks constituting infringement of any Intellectual Property right of such third party.

18.3 Procedures.

(a) In case any claim is made, or any suit or action is commenced, against a Party (the “Indemnified Party”) in respect
of which indemnification may be sought by it under this Article XVIII, the Indemnified Party shall promptly give the other Party (the
“Indemnifying Party”) notice thereof and the Indemnifying Party shall be entitled to participate in the defense thereof and, with prior
written notice to the Indemnified Party given not later than twenty (20) days after the delivery of the applicable notice from the
Indemnified Party, to assume, at the Indemnifying Party's expense, the defense thereof, with counsel reasonably satisfactory to such
Indemnified Party. After notice from the Indemnifying Party to such Indemnified Party of its election so to assume the defense thereof,
the Indemnifying Party shall not be liable to such Indemnified Party under this Section 18.3 for any attorneys' fees or other expenses
subsequently incurred by such Indemnified Party in connection with the defense thereof, other than reasonable costs of investigation and
other than as set forth in Section 18.3(b).

(b) The Indemnified Party shall have the right to employ its own counsel if the Indemnifying Party elects to assume
such defense, but the fees and expenses of such counsel shall be at the Indemnified Party's expense, unless (i) the employment of such
counsel has been authorized in writing by the Indemnifying Party, (ii) the Indemnifying Party has not employed counsel to take charge
of the defense within twenty (20) days after delivery of the applicable notice or, having elected to assume such defense, thereafter ceases
its defense of such action, or (iii) the Indemnified Party has reasonably concluded that there may be defenses available to it which are
different from or additional to those available to the Indemnifying Party (in which case the Indemnifying Party shall not have the

001549-0001-13793-Active.14250169.10

60

Copyright © 2013 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document

http://www.secdatabase.com


right to direct the defense of such action on behalf of the Indemnified Party), in any of which events the attorneys' fees and expenses of
counsel to the Indemnified Party shall be borne by the Indemnifying Party.

(c) The Indemnifying Party shall promptly notify the Indemnified Party if the Indemnifying Party desires not to
assume, or participate in the defense of, any such third party claim, suit or action.

(d) The Indemnified Party or Indemnifying Party may at any time notify the other of its intention to settle or
compromise any claim, suit or action against the Indemnified Party in respect of which payments may be sought by the Indemnified
Party hereunder, and (i) the Indemnifying Party may settle or compromise any such claim, suit or action solely for the payment of
money damages for which the Indemnified Party will be released and fully indemnified hereunder, but shall not agree to any other
settlement or compromise without the prior written consent of the Indemnified Party, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld
(it being agreed that any failure of an Indemnified Party to consent to any settlement or compromise involving relief other than
monetary damages shall not be deemed to be unreasonably withheld), and (ii) the Indemnified Party may not settle or compromise any
such claim, suit or action without the prior written consent of the Indemnifying Party, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld.

18.4 Notice and Additional Rights and Limitations.

(a) If an Indemnified Party fails to give prompt notice of any claim being made or any suit or action being commenced
in respect of which indemnification under this Article XVIII may be sought, such failure shall not limit the liability of the Indemnifying
Party to the extent the Indemnifying Party's ability to defend the matter was not materially prejudiced by such failure to give prompt
notice.

(b) This Article XVIII shall govern the obligations of the Parties with respect to the subject matter hereof but shall not
be deemed to limit the rights that either Party might otherwise have at law or in equity.

(c) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, no Party shall be liable to the other for punitive or
exemplary damages relating to or arising out of this Agreement or any breach hereof or any of the transactions provided for therein,
unless the Indemnified Party shall have become liable to a third party for such punitive or exemplary damages, in which case the
Indemnifying Party shall be liable, subject to and in accordance with the terms of this Article XVIII for reimbursement of the amounts
so paid to such third party.

ARTICLE XIX

MISCELLANEOUS

19.1 Securitization.

(a) The Bank shall have the right to securitize the Cardholder Indebtedness or any part thereof by itself or as part of a
larger offering at any time. Such securitization shall not affect the Company's rights or the Bank's obligations hereunder. The Bank shall
not securitize the Cardholder Indebtedness in any manner that may encumber the Company's rights hereunder to purchase Program
Assets free and clear of any lien or other interest created pursuant to such securitization. All uses of the Company Licensed Marks in
any securitization document shall be made in accordance with Section 10.1 and with the prior written approval of the Company.

(b) In the event the Company elects to purchase the Program Assets pursuant to Section 17.2 and the Bank has
securitized or participated any of the Cardholder Indebtedness included therein that is included in the Program Assets, the Bank shall
take such actions as are necessary to remove such Program Assets from such securitization or otherwise terminate all interests and liens
created in the Program Assets pursuant to such securitization and to transfer such Program Assets free and clear of all such interests and
liens to the Company or its Nominated Purchaser.
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19.2 Assignment. None of the Company, on the one hand, or the Bank, on the other hand, shall assign this Agreement or any
of its rights hereunder without the prior written consent of the other Party, provided that the Bank may freely assign, transfer or convey
this Agreement to any direct or indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Bank Parent who agrees to assume all the rights and liabilities of
this Agreement upon notice of such assignment to the Company, provided, that no such assignment shall relieve the Bank of its
obligations under this Agreement, provided, further, that the Bank may not assign this Agreement to any such assignee if such
assignment would result in the occurrence of a termination right of the Company either immediately or after the lapse of any applicable
cure period assuming a notice of termination is given by the Company on the effective date of such assignment. Any attempted
assignment of this Agreement other than as permitted by this Section 19.2 shall be null and void.

19.3 Sale or Transfer of Accounts. Subject to Section 19.2, the Bank shall not sell or transfer in whole or in part any
Accounts; provided, however the Bank may sell written-off Accounts in the ordinary course of business (it being understood and agreed
that the Bank shall not change its normal practices with respect to such sales following the delivery by either party of a notice of
nonrenewal or notice of termination).

19.4 Subcontracting. Each Party hereto shall be responsible for functions performed by such Affiliates or other Persons to the
same extent the Party would be responsible if it performed such functions itself. No Person other than an Affiliate of the Bank may
perform obligations of the Bank hereunder without approval of the Operating Committee if such approval is required by Article III
hereof.

19.5 Amendment. Except as provided herein, this Agreement may not be amended, supplemented or otherwise modified
except by a written instrument signed by the Bank and the Company.

19.6 Non-Waiver. No delay by a Party hereto in exercising any of its rights hereunder, or partial or single exercise of such
rights, shall operate as a waiver of that or any other right. The exercise of one or more of a Party's rights hereunder shall not be a waiver
of, or preclude the exercise of, any rights or remedies available to such Party under this Agreement or in law or at equity. Any waiver by
a Party shall only be made in writing and executed by a duly authorized officer of such Party.

19.7 Severability. In case any one or more of the provisions contained herein shall be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any
respect under any law, the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions contained herein shall not in any way be
affected or impaired thereby, and this Agreement shall be reformed, construed and enforced as if such invalid, illegal or unenforceable
provision or portion of any provision had never been contained herein and there had been contained herein instead such valid, legal and
enforceable provisions as would most nearly accomplish the intent and purpose of such invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision.

19.8 Waiver of Jury Trial and Venue.

(a) Each Party hereby waives all right to trial by jury in any action or proceeding to enforce or defend any rights under
this Agreement.

(b) Each Party hereby irrevocably submits to the jurisdiction of the United States District Court for the Northern
District of Illinois or, if such federal jurisdictions are unavailable, in the state courts of the State of Illinois located in Chicago, Illinois
over any action arising out of this Agreement, and each Party hereby irrevocably waives any objection which such Party may now or
hereafter have to the laying of improper venue or forum non conveniens. Each Party agrees that a judgment in any such action or
proceeding may be enforced in other jurisdictions by suit on the judgment or in any manner provided by law. Any and all service of
process and any other notice in any such suit, action or proceeding with respect to this Agreement shall be effective against a Party if
given as provided herein.

19.9 Governing Law. This Agreement and all rights and obligations hereunder, including matters of construction, validity and
performance, shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware applicable to contracts made to
be performed within such State and applicable federal law.
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19.10 Specific Performance. The Parties agree that money damages would not be a sufficient remedy for any breach of
ARTICLE VI, X or XIII or the failure of a Party to perform any of its material obligations hereunder, and that, in addition to all other
remedies, each Party will be entitled to seek specific performance and to seek injunctive or other equitable relief as a remedy for any
such breach or failure to perform its material obligations hereunder. Each Party waives any requirements for the securing or posting of
any bond in connection with such remedy.

9.11 Notices. Any notice, approval, acceptance or consent required or permitted by a Party under this Agreement shall be in
writing to the other Party and shall be deemed to have been duly given when delivered in person, when received via overnight courier,
or when posted by United States registered or certified mail, with postage prepaid, addressed as follows:

If to the Company: Coldwater Creek U.S., Inc.
1 Coldwater Creek Drive
Sandpoint, ID 83864
Attention: Chief Financial Officer

With a copy legal.department@thecreek.com
(which shall not constitute notice) to:

With a copy to (which shall not constitute notice) to: Simpson Thacher& Bartlett LLP
425 Lexington Avenue
New York, New York 10017
Attention: Maripat Alpuche, Esq.
Facsimile: (212) 455-2502

If to the Bank: Comenity Bank
One Righter Parkway, Suite 100
Wilmington, DE 19803
Attention: President

With a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to: Attention: Law Department

With a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to: Pepper Hamilton LLP
1313 N. Market Street, Suite 5100
P.O. Box 1709
Wilmington, DE 19899-1709
Attention: Richard P. Eckman
Facsimile: 302-421-8390

19.12 Further Assurances. The Company and the Bank agree to produce or execute such other documents or agreements as
may be necessary or desirable for the execution and implementation of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions
specified herein and to take all such further action as the other Party may reasonably request in order to give evidence to the
consummation of the transactions specified herein.

19.13 No Joint Venture. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be deemed or construed by the Parties or any third party
to create the relationship of principal and agent, or apartnership, joint venture or any association between the Company and the Bank,
and no act of either Party shall be deemed to create any such
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relationship. The Company and the Bank each agree to such further actions as the other may request to evidence and affirm the non-
existence of any such relationship.

19.14 Press Releases. The Company, on the one hand, and the Bank, on the other hand, each shall obtain the prior written
approval of the other Party with regard to the content, substance, timing and distribution of (i) any press releases announcing the
execution of this Agreement or the transactions specified herein and (ii) any subsequent press releases concerning this Agreement or the
transactions specified herein. The foregoing notwithstanding, it is understood that neither Party shall be required to obtain any prior
consent, but shall consult with each other to the extent practicable, with regard to (a) public disclosures required by Applicable Law or
the applicable rules and regulations of any Governmental Authority or stock exchange or (b) publications prepared solely by and for
employees of any of the Company or the Bank, or their respective Affiliates.

19.15 No Set-Off. Except with respect to the Bank's right to charge back pursuant to Section 8.4, the Company and the Bank
agree that each Party has waived any right to set-off, combine, consolidate or otherwise appropriate and apply (i) any assets of the other
Party held by the Party or (ii) any indebtedness or other liabilities at any time owing by the Party to the other Party, as the case may be,
against or on account of any obligations owed by the other Party under this Agreement, except as expressly set forth herein.

19.16 Third Parties. Except for the Indemnified Parties with respect to indemnity claims pursuant to Article XVIII, the
Parties do not intend: (i) the benefits of this Agreement to inure to any third party; or (ii) any rights, claims or causes of action against a
Party to be created in favor of any person or entity other than the other Party.

19.17 Force Majeure. If performance of any service or obligation under this Agreement is prevented, restricted, delayed or
interfered with by reason of labor disputes, strikes, acts of God, floods, lightning, severe weather, shortages of materials, rationing,
utility or communication failures, earthquakes, war, revolution, civil commotion, acts of public enemies, blockade or embargo or any
other act, which are beyond the reasonable control and foreseeability of a Party (each, a “Force Majeure Event” (it being understood that
a change in Applicable Law shall not be deemed a Force Majeure Event), then such Party shall be excused from such performance to
the extent of and during the period of such Force Majeure Event. A Party excused from performance pursuant to this Section 19.17 shall
give the other Party prompt written notice of the occurrence of such Force Majeure Event and shall exercise all reasonable efforts to
continue to perform its obligations hereunder, including by implementing its disaster recovery and business continuity plan as provided
in Section 7.2(b), and shall thereafter continue with reasonable due diligence and good faith to remedy its inability to so perform except
that nothing herein shall obligate either Party to settle a strike or other labor dispute when it does not wish to do so. To the extent that
either party is unable to maintain continuity of the services through such Force Majeure, it will make commercially reasonable efforts to
procure an alternate source of the services in order to fulfill its obligations hereunder at its own cost. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if a
condition constituting a Force Majeure Event with respect to the Bank, on the one hand, or the Company, on the other hand, exists for
more than thirty (30) consecutive days (or five (5) consecutive days in the case of any Force Majeure Event affecting any payment
obligation hereunder), this provision shall cease to apply and all rights and remedies of the other Party shall be reinstated as if this
provision had not applied.

19.18 Entire Agreement. This Agreement, the Chase Purchase Agreement and the Confidentiality Agreement, dated as of
June 27, 2013 between Comenity LLC on behalf of its subsidiaries and other affiliates, and the Company, together with the Exhibits,
Schedules and Annexes hereto and thereto, supersede any other agreement, whether written or oral, that may have been made or entered
into by the Company and the Bank (or by any officer or employee of any such Parties) relating to the matters specified herein and
therein, and constitute the entire agreement by the Parties related to the matters specified herein or therein.

19.19 Binding Effect.

(a) This Agreement shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the Parties hereto and their respective
successors and permitted assigns.
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(b) The following provisions of this Agreement shall become effective as of the date hereof: ARTICLE I, Section 2.2,
Article III, Section 4.1(b), Article VI, Section 9.1(b), and Articles X through XIX, and such provisions hereof requiring the Parties to
take actions prior to or in preparation of the Effective Date. All of the other provisions of this Agreement shall become effective as of
the Effective Date, except that the provisions of Article VII, Section 4.2 and 9.2 shall not become effective until, and shall become
effective as of, the conversion of the Accounts purchased by the Bank pursuant to the Chase Purchase Agreement to the Bank Systems.

19.20 Counterparts/Facsimiles. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, all of which together shall
constitute one and the same instrument, but in making proof of this Agreement, it shall not be necessary to produce or account for more
than one such counterpart. Any facsimile of an executed counterpart shall be deemed an original.

19.21 Survival. Upon the expiration or termination of this Agreement, the Parties shall have the rights and remedies
described herein. Upon such expiration or termination, all obligations of the Parties under this Agreement shall cease, except that the
obligations of the Parties pursuant to Article VI (Cardholder Information), Section 8.4 (the Bank Right to Charge Back), Article X
(Intellectual Property), Article XII (Access, Audit and Dispute Resolution), Article XIII (Confidentiality), Article XVII (Effects of
Termination), Article XVIII (Indemnification), Section 19.8 (Waiver of Jury Trial and Venue) and 19.9 (Governing Law) shall survive
the expiration or termination of this Agreement.

19.22 Captions. Captions of the articles and sections of this Agreement are for convenient reference only and are not intended
as a summary of such articles or sections and do not affect, limit, modify or construe the contents thereof.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the Parties has caused this Agreement to be duly executed as of the date first above written.

COMENITY BANK

By: /s/ John J. Coane
Name: John J. Coane
Title: President

COLDWATER CREEK U.S. INC.

By: /s/ James A. Bell
Name: James A. Bell
Title: President & Treasurer

Active.14023846.3
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SCHEDULE 1.1(a)

Approved Ancillary Products

Debt cancellation products

Credit insurance
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SCHEDULE 1.1(b)

Bank Licensed Marks

COMENITY BANK
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SCHEDULE 1.1(c)

Company Licensed Marks

The trademark COLDWATER CREEK as identified in US Patent and Trademark Office Trademark Registration Nos. 2544681 and
2217173, the trade name Coldwater Creek Inc., the stylized logo, the internet domain name www.coldwatercreek.com, the Trade dress
associated with credit card artwork provided to the Bank by Coldwater Creek Inc.
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SCHEDULE 1.1(d)

Comparable Partner Programs

Ann, Inc. / Ann Taylor
Bon Ton
Charming Shoppes
Christopher and Banks Corporation
Dress Barn
Eddie Bauer
Express
J Jill
Limited Stores (i.e. branded as Limited Stores)
New York & Co.
Talbots
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SCHEDULE 1.1(e)

Competing Retail Programs

J. Jill
Talbots
Chico's
WHBM
Christopher and Banks
ANN, Inc. - Ann Taylor and LOFT
GAP, Inc. - Banana Republic and GAP
Kohls
Macy's
JC Penney
Nordstrom
Eddie Bauer
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SCHEDULE 1.1(f)

Transition Plan

Task Name Responsible Parties
Coldwater Creek Initialization
Define Coldwater Creek IM Manager CWC
Define Operations Lead CWC
Define Coldwater Creek Technical/Systems Lead CWC
Define Coldwater Creek Network Lead CWC
Define Coldwater Creek WEB Lead CWC
Define Coldwater Creek Marketing Lead CWC
Kick Off Meeting & Establish Weekly Coldwater Creek Meetings CWC
Understand Coldwater Creek Environment
Current Transactional Flow/Diagrams CWC
Order Entry Flow CWC
Current Operational Strategies (free shipping) CWC
Current Call Center Processing Volumes CWC
Provide Zip - Sec Center Volumes (if possible) CWC
Chase Conversion File
Existing & Previous Financial Terms & Billing Calendar Chase
Conversion File Layouts - Acct Number Structure Chase
Delivery Schedule Chase
Data Dictionary Chase
Provide 3 TEST Conversion MasterFiles Chase
Provide Support As Needed For Mapping Questions Chase
Network & Technical
Current Network Processing Volumes CWC
Data Transmission Capabilities CWC
Provide Coldwater Creek w/Recommended Host Diagram CWC
Processing Mode (Real Time vs. Batch) CWC
Current Credit Functionality CWC
Exchange Test and PROD IP Addresses CWC
Confirm Connectivity CWC & Alliance Data
Coldwater Creek Design - Technical
New Account Acquisition CWC
Authorizations sales are real time, the rest is batch or expires.

Sale CWC & Alliance Data
Payments CWC & Alliance Data
Returns CWC & Alliance Data
Voids CWC & Alliance Data
Account Summary / Account Look Up CWC & Alliance Data

Settlement File CWC & Alliance Data
Descriptor File CWC & Alliance Data
Store File CWC & Alliance Data
Daily MasterFile CWC & Alliance Data
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Monthly MasterFile CWC & Alliance Data
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Task Name Responsible Parties
Collateral Design
Welcome Kit

Plastic
Review Plastic Design Concepts CWC & Alliance Data
Sign Off On Card Design CWC & Alliance Data
Credit Card Agreement Embossing CWC & Alliance Data
Data Card Carrier CWC & Alliance Data

Data Card Carrier Envelope CWC & Alliance Data
Data Card Carrier Template Verbiage CWC & Alliance Data
Application/CCA (In Store) CWC & Alliance Data
Billing Statement Branding CWC & Alliance Data
Billing Statement Envelope CWC & Alliance Data
Create OLPS Letter Stock - IF APPLICABLE CWC & Alliance Data
Store Signage CWC & Alliance Data

Coldwater Creek Development
New Account Acquisition CWC
Authorization CWC
Settlement File(s) CWC
Descriptor File CWC
Store File - FINAL CWC
Daily MasterFile CWC
Monthly MasterFile CWC
Point Of Sale Modifications CWC
Web Pages - Account Center/ Landing Pages CWC
File Transfer
Determine Plans For File(s) Transfer CWC & Alliance Data
Document Files To Be Transferred Alliance Data
Confirm File Transfer Details CWC & Alliance Data
Deliver File Names- Settlement, Daily, Monthly, Portal, Mosaic Alliance Data
Coldwater Creek Unit Testing / Certification Preparation
Determine If Cards Needed For Certification Testing CWC & Alliance Data
Request and Create Cards For Testing Alliance Data
Coordinate Plans/Times For Testing With Coldwater Creek CWC & Alliance Data
Complete ALWAYS transactions CWC & Alliance Data
Complete Unit Test for Authorization and New Accounts CWC & Alliance Data
File Transfer Testing
Monthly MasterFile, Daily Add, New Account Portal File CWC & Alliance Data
Settlement CWC & Alliance Data
Descriptor File CWC & Alliance Data
Coldwater Creek Testing and Certification
Certify New Accounts CWC & Alliance Data
Certify Authorization CWC & Alliance Data
Certify Payments CWC & Alliance Data
Certify Returns CWC & Alliance Data
Certify Voids CWC & Alliance Data
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Certify Account Summary CWC & Alliance Data
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Certify Settlement CWC & Alliance Data
Task Name Responsible Parties
Validate Descriptor File CWC & Alliance Data
Validate Store File CWC & Alliance Data
Conduct Coldwater Creek Training
Field Store Training CWC & Alliance Data
Coldwater Creek Install
Move Code to Production To Process Auth& New Accounts CWC
Update IP addresses CWC
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SCHEDULE 2.1(b)

Company Credit Card Issuance

Once the Chase Closing Date occurs, the Bank shall identify and shall issue a corresponding Credit Card to each existing Cardholder
that made a purchase using her or his Account within the eighteen (18) months period prior to the date of the conversion of the
Accounts purchased by the Bank pursuant to the Chase Purchase Agreement to the Bank Systems, with the following exceptions:

1. any Account that is 180 or more days past due;

2. any Account that has been charged-off or should have been charged-off in accordance with seller's policies and procedures;

3. any Account that is the subject of litigation brought by a Cardholder in an individual capacity against seller, or by seller against any
Cardholder in an individual capacity;

4. any Account on which fraudulent activity or unauthorized use has occurred;

5. any Account that is blocked, expired, voluntarily closed or terminated with a balance equal to or less than zero dollars ($0.00);

6. any Account as to which a corporate entity is the Cardholder or which is issued to a Cardholder due to his or her status as an
employee of a company having a commercial credit card account with seller;

7. any Account the Cardholder of which, other than an authorized user, is under the age of eighteen (18) years;

8. any Account of which does not have an address located in the United States (unless the Cardholder has a United States military base
address located outside the United States) or Canada;

9. any Account that is payable in a currency other than U.S. dollars;

10. any test accounts opened or maintained by seller; and

11. any Account with respect to which the primary Cardholder has filed a voluntary petition, or has had filed against it an involuntary
petition, in bankruptcy under bankruptcy law prior to the Chase Closing Date.

As used in this Schedule 2.1(b), “Accounts” shall have the meaning as defined in the Chase Program Agreement.
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SCHEDULE 3.2(b)

Initial Company Designees and Bank Designees

Initial Company Designees
• Chief Financial Officer
• Vice President of Marketing
• Senior Director of Loyalty

Initial Bank Designees
• Chief Client Officer
• Vice President Client Sales
• Director Client Sales
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SCHEDULE 3.3

Managers and Program Team

(b) - Senior Director of Loyalty

(c) - Director of Client Sales

(d)

BANK PROGRAM TEAM
Client Sales Senior Manager
(designated) Accountable for the creation and oversight of the strategic plan for Coldwater Creek.
Client Sales Manager (dedicated) Primary day-to-day contact responsible for directing and executing strategic program goals.
Client Sales Coordinator
(dedicated)

Manages program execution and deliverables under the direction of the Client Sales
Manager.

Field Sales Manager (dedicated) Responsible for directing and executing the strategic acquisition plan, include training and
incentives for store associates.

Business Analyst Provides reporting and general business insights specific to Coldwater Creek, including
customized market, competitor and opportunity assessments.

CROSS-FUNCTIONAL TEAM
Co-brand Product Specialists, IT, Marketing, Analytics, Market Research, Customer Care, Implementation
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SCHEDULE 4.1(a)

Initial Operating Procedures

The provisions of this Agreement and Schedule 4.1(a) shall supersede Bank's standard operating procedures applicable to most of its
credit card relationships (the most current operating procedures document titled Comenity Bank 2012 Bank Operating Procedures,
“CBOP”).

Product Eligibility

Company and Bank agree that the Co-Branded Credit Card product is the primary Company Credit Card offered in any Real-Time
Prescreen or Instant Credit-enabled channels, and that Applicants shall only receive the Private Label Credit Card if they:

• Are not approved for the Co-Branded Credit Card, but approved for the Private Label Credit Card; or
• Explicitly request to apply for the Private Label Credit Card.

Applications

This section modifies Section 2 of CBOP.

Retail-Real-Time Prescreen during checkout
When a customer is checking out and does not have a Private Label Credit Card or Co-Branded Credit Card with Company:
1) Transaction begins at the register
2) Company associate searches for customer information using customer's Rewards Card Number via the 2D Barcode Reader

(supports scanning mobile device) or, entering Last name, and/or zip code
a) Customer information can be collected via the following

i) New customer entry typed
ii) Driver's license scan via 2D Barcode Reader

3) Customer information sent to Bank for Real-Time Prescreen
4) Possible Responses

a) No pre-approval available
i) Company associate may ask customer if she would like to apply for Company Credit Card (go to Quick Credit process)

b) Pre-approved for Co-Branded Credit Card -or Private Label Credit Card
i) Company associate will let the customer know that they have been pre-approved for the Co-Branded Credit Card
ii) If customer declines Co-Branded Credit Card, Company associate may offer the customer the opportunity to apply for a

Private Label Credit Card.
c) Pre-approved for Private Label Credit Card

i) Company associate will inform the customer that she has been pre-approved for the Private Label Credit Card.
5) If pre-approved:

a) Customer must provide a valid photo ID in accordance with 2.1 of CBOP criteria, but shall not be required to provide a valid
reference credit card.

b) Company associate will collect the customer's birth date, phone number and last four digits of social security number (birth
date and telephone number will be pre-populated if captured previously).

6) If approved, Applicant will be provided with the Credit Card Agreement card as set forth in 2.2.2 and 2.2.4 of the CBOP.
7) Customer transaction may be applied to new Account.
8) Company associate will print temporary card.
9) End transaction.

Quick Credit (Full Application)
Customer has requested a Co-Branded Credit Card or Private Label Credit Card from Company:
1) Company associate will direct the customer to review the application pre-disclosures before allowing the customer to apply for an

account in accordance with Section 2.2.1 of the CBOP.
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2) Customer must provide a valid photo ID in accordance with Section 2.1 of CBOP criteria, but shall not be required to provide a
valid reference credit card.

3) Driver's License Lookup or
a) Company associate asks for driver's license.
b) Company associate will scan customer's driver's license via barcode scanner and all pre-populated information will be loaded.

4) Store lookup or
a) Company associate searches for customer information using customer's Rewards Card Number via the 2D Barcode Reader or,

entering Last name, and/or zip code
5) Manual Entry

a) Company associate enters customer information
6) Customer provides birthdate (may be available via driver's license), phone number(s) and last 4 digits of social security number.
7) Information is sent to Bank for approval.
8) Bank replies with message indicating if Applicant is approved for the Private Label Credit Card or the Co-Branded Credit Card

depending on what they requested.
9) If approved:

a) If approved, Applicant will be provided with the Credit Card Agreement card as set forth in Sections 2.2.2 and 2.2.4 of the
CBOP.

b) Customer transaction may be applied to new Account.
c) Company associate will print temporary card

ColdwaterCreek.com (desktop, kiosk, mobile and iPad app sites) - Pre-approval
When a customer is checking out and does not have a Private Label Credit Card or Co-Branded Credit Card with Company:
1) Transaction begins when customer logs in or creates a new account for checking out online.
2) Customer billing information is completed or loaded from previous visit.
3) Customer information sent to Bank for Real-Time Prescreen.
4) Possible Responses (will be shown when customer is at payment screen)

a) No Pre-approval available (no response shown)
i) Customer places order.

b) Pre-approved for Co-Branded Credit Card
i) Prompt customer letting customer know she has been pre-approved.

c) Pre-approved for Private Label Credit Card
i) Prompt customer letting customer know she has been pre-approved.

5) If pre-approved:
a) Website will have credit pre-disclosures information available before applying the customer for an account in accordance with

Section 2.2.1 of the CBOP.
b) Applicant will provide phone number, birthdate and last four numbers of social security number.

6) If approved, credit limit will be shown to Applicant.
7) Applicant will be prompted to read and accept the Credit Card Agreement card as set forth in Sections 2.2.2 and 2.2.4 of the CBOP

via email, display, links or mail.
8) Customer transaction can be applied to new Account.
9) Customer can print temporary PLCC card and save to account for future purchases.
10) End transaction.

Full Application (Quick Credit)
Customer has clicked or navigated to the full application URL on the Program Website to apply for a Company Credit Card. Customer
would choose Co-Branded Credit Card or Private Label Credit Card before applying.
1) The Program Website will provide credit pre-disclosures information in accordance with Section 2.2.1 of the CBOP.
2) Applicant will provide her name address, birthdate, phone number and social security number.
3) Bank receives information for adjudication.
4) If approved:

a) Credit limit will be shown.
b) Applicant will be prompted to read and accept the Credit Card Agreement card as set forth in Sections 2.2.2 and 2.2.4 of the

CBOP.
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c) Customer transaction can be applied to new Account.
d) Customer can print temporary PLCC card.

Call Center (Ecometry System)
Company does not intend to offer this process through the call center. Customer will be directed to the store or website.

Application Disclosures

1) As of the date of this Agreement, Company does not plan to accept applications through its Merchant Call Center and until such
time as applications are accepted through the Call Center, references to the Merchant Call Center and phone / catalog customers in
the CBOP shall not apply, including all of Section 2.2.3.

Account Purchases

1) The Floor Limit(i.e., the maximum dollar amount for an off-line Company Credit Card transaction in a Company Channel that shall
be deemed authorized under this Agreement) for the Program shall be $200; provided however that in the months of November
through January, the Floor Limit shall be $350. The Operating Committee shall periodically review Floor Limit amounts and usage.

2) References to the Merchant Call Center and phone / catalog customers in the CBOP shall not apply, including the applicable
sentences of Section 3.1.2.1.

At-Location Payments

As of the date of this Agreement, Company does not accept payments in-store and until such time that Company agrees to accept in-
store payments Section 3.2 shall not apply to the Program.

Settlement

1) This Agreement shall govern the Company's use and disclosure of Cardholder Data, Shopper Data and reporting provided by Bank,
and shall supersede any terms of the CBOP, in particular the second paragraph of CBOP Section 6.1.)

2) The terms of Section 8.4 of this Agreement shall supersede the relevant terms of Sections 6 and 7 of the CBOP as set forth below,
including that the Company shall have 30 days from notification by Bank of any proposed chargeback to review any proposed
chargeback and produce the sales slip or proof of delivery with respect to such Transaction. In the event Company is unable to
produce a sales slip or proof of delivery with respect to such Transaction, Bank may delete such Transaction from suspense and
charge such Transaction back to the Company.

Chargebacks

Chargeback Investigation (Modifies CBOP Section 7.1)

1) Non-fraud-related chargeback investigations should be initiated only by a Cardholder refusal to pay a charge made by the
Cardholder or on behalf of a Cardholder by a Company Associate.

Bank's Request for Documentation (Modifies CBOP Section 7.2)

1) Company shall have 30 days from notification by Bank of any proposed chargeback to review any proposed chargeback and
produce the sales slip or proof of delivery with respect to such Transaction. In the event Company is unable to produce a sales slip
or proof of delivery with respect to such Transaction, Bank may delete such Transaction from suspense and charge such Transaction
back to the Company.

2) The Company shall retain Transaction media consistent with the Company's document retention policies, as they may be modified
from time to time. Bank's right to charge back any Transaction will expire 180 days after the later of Transaction date or
merchandise shipping date.

Chargeback Terms (Modifies CBOP Section 7.3)
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1) Bank's right to charge back any Transaction will expire 180 days after the later of Transaction date or merchandise shipping date.
2) The second sentence of Section 7.3 shall be deleted.
3) Billed finance charges and late fees shall not be included in any amount charged back by Bank to Company.
4) The Section of 7.3.1 related to delay posting shall not apply to the Program.
5) The chargeback reasons listed in 7.3.1 and 7.3.2 shall be replaced by those set forth in Section 8.4 of this Agreement.
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SCHEDULE 4.2(f)

Support of the Program

The Company shall:

1. Provide access and full support to train associates on the Program, including processing prescreen acceptance, completing
Applications, conducting Account lookups and authorizing credit transactions and providing necessary tools, technology and
disclosures at each POS.

2. Develop associate, manager and regional goals that incentivize associates to promote the Program.

3. Promote the Program in store by featuring signage in such areas of the store location, as the Company reasonably determines.

4. Provide a link on the Company's website to a dedicated Program page describing the Program benefits and a link to apply for
an Account, which link shall appear on the payment page and, in the Company's good faith discretion, may appear above the
fold from time to time.
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SCHEDULE 4.7

Cardholder Terms

TERM/CONDITION Co-Brand PLCC

APR
Prime+13.74%
Prime+17.74%
Prime+21.74%

Prime+23.74%

DefaultAPR Prime+26.74% Prime+26.74%
GracePeriod Notless than23-days Noless than23-days
Annual Fee None None

MinimumFinanceCharge $2.00or anamountnotto exceed that whichis
permitted under applicable law

$2.00or anamountnotto exceed
thatwhichis permittedunderapplicable
law

CashAdvanceFee $10.00or 5%of eachtransaction;
whicheveris greater

N/A

LatePayment Fee Upto$35.00 Upto$35.00
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SCHEDULE 4.8

Program Website Specifications

Co-Branded Credit Card and Private Label Credit Card with CWC Branding

Features and Functionality

Marketing

▪ Ability for customer to receive customized messages
▪ Banners and the overall ability to have links to CWC shopping throughout all web pages
▪ Ability to apply for a credit card with instant approval
▪ Smart phone/Ipad applicable

Provide Log In Information

▪ Ability to create user sign in and password information
▪ Reset password /sign in (receive new password link via automated email or via security questions and verification)
▪ Security and privacy measures

Top/Side Navigation Bar that includes the following tabs/links

▪ Account Summary
▪ Statements
▪ Rewards & Benefits
▪ Payments
▪ Manage Profile
▪ Contact Us

Provide Account Summary Information

▪ Current Balance
▪ Min Payment Due (side button to “Make Payment”)
▪ Payment Due Date
▪ Available Credit (side button to click to request increase)
▪ Last Payment Received (Date and amount)
▪ Last statement Date
▪ Last Statement Balance (side button to click on view statement)
▪ Activity Summary
▪ Rewards Summary (regardless of what platform the Rewards Summary page sits there needs to be a feed with high level

rewards information that is displayed on this page via ADS)
◦ Side button or top navigation button to click “View Rewards” that takes to Rewards Page
◦ Rewards status (tier level, total points, etc…) and how far to next reward / tier/ benefit (TBD) or total points summary.

Statements

Activity

▪ Ability to search for specific time period

Statements

▪ Ability to view on line statements for 16 months or greater
▪ Ability to choose statement delivery method (email/electronic or paper statements)

Side Bar with Account Summary Information

▪ Current Balance
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▪ Min Payment Due
▪ Due Date
▪ Available Credit
▪ Last Payment
▪ Last Payment Posted Date

Payments

▪ Customer should have multiple choices to pay account: Make a Payment Today, Schedule a future payments (one time future
schedule or reoccurring)

▪ Ability to pay via bank information by entering routing and checking account information
▪ Provide Payment History

Rewards Page (this page would either be on ADS platform/website or on CWC website)

▪ Clear overview of program and how it works
▪ Customer should be able to view her awards and/or coupons
▪ Current point or tier status (based on 2014 CWC Loyalty Value Proposition/Strategy),
▪ A progress bar that displays how far or what spend is needed to advance to the next tier or how many points needed to reach

next reward (coupon or set of benefits based on tier)
▪ Unique messaging that provides special invites or offers that are currently available to her
▪ Provide summary of any bonus points or other special reward if applicable
▪ Provide savings (discounts) total to date (calendar year or to be determined)
▪ Ability to print coupon or have paper copy sent to her based on customer preference

Account Services

▪ Provide the customer with the ability to receive Alerts via email or text
▪ Alerts should include those that would ensure customer is notified X days before she is billed for any fees for nonpayment

(payment reminder)
▪ Phone number that is easily accessible to report a lost or stolen card
▪ Ability to dispute a charge on line
▪ Ability to request an credit line increase

Customer Profile

▪ Ability for customer to update and change her mailing address, phone number or email on line
▪ Ability for customer to choose communication preferences

Contact/General Information

▪ FAQS
▪ Customer Service Number for Credit Card Questions
▪ Privacy Policy available
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SCHEDULE 4.10

Loyalty Program

Coldwater Creek's Co-Branded credit card value proposition currently offers Cardholders the ability to earn points when making
purchases inside and outside of Coldwater Creek and are rewarded when enough points are accumulated for monetary coupons that are
currently delivered in the mail. Cardholders:

• Earn 5 points for every $1 spent at Coldwater Creek.
• Earn 1 point for each $1 of all other net purchases.
• Receive a $20 Coldwater Creek coupon for every 2,000 points earned.
• Save 20% on the first Coldwater Creek purchase after credit approval.
• A birthday surprise coupon of $15
• Bonus point promotions and Sneak peeks at Coldwater Creek sales.

Coldwater Creek's objective is to continue to encourage spend and increase the cardholder base by maintaining a competitive set of
benefits.

The Company is also one of few retailers that offer a noncredit card rewards program to all customers, allowing its customers to earn
rewards on all CWC purchases. The table below provides an overview of its noncredit card rewards program:

Coldwater Creek's 2014 plan is to have one cohesive rewards program across all tender types (CBCC/PLCC/Non credit card).
Coldwater Creek's Loyalty program value proposition would ideally be similar for all customers; however the value for CBCC/PLCC
Cardholders would be equal to or greater than the value of non-credit card holders (CBCC and PLCC).
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2014 Program Concept

• Earn Rate varies based on method of payment
• Move to points-based program for both credit card and non-credit card as points based programs are easier to market and

promote (i.e. double point promotions for all loyalty members)
• Value Proposition (rewards/benefits) are the same for everyone

Illustrative

Cash, Check,
Debit, AMEX PLCC CBCC

Point Accumulation* 1 1.5 2

2,000 points = $20 Cash Reward
2013 CWC Reward Program Benefits

Benefit (Reward) Options Combination of the two
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*** Confidential material redacted and filed separately with the Commission.

SCHEDULE 5.2(b)

Marketing Commitment and Marketing Fund

The aggregate Marketing Commitment for the *** shall be $*** (the “*** Marketing Commitment”). Beginning with the *** and each
*** thereafter, Bank's Marketing Commitment will be an amount per *** equal to ***% (*** basis points) of the prior ***; provided,
however, should the *** Marketing Commitment be greater than or less than ***% (*** basis points) of the aggregate *** for the ***,
such difference shall be added or subtracted, as the case may be, to the aggregate Marketing Commitment provided during the period
commencing with the *** to the end of the ***.
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SCHEDULE 6.2(b)

Privacy Policy

See attached
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SCHEDULE 7.1

Reports

Between the date of this Agreement and the Effective Date, the Parties shall mutually agree upon the form of the following reports, it
being understood that the content and the frequency of such reports shall be in substance as set forth in this schedule.

(a)(i) Monthly Reports.

Frequency: Name: Description:
Weekly Core Performance Metrics New account processing; number submitted, duped, pending,

activated and percentages.

Monthly Core Performance Metrics High level executive overview of Program key measures (market
share, average initial and add-on transaction, credit applications,
new Accounts); reconciliation of beginning month and ending
number of active accounts; portfolio statistics (including on and off
Retail Merchant metrics for Co-branded Credit Cards)

Monthly Core Service Metrics Report showing performance level standard achievement by
performance level standard type, all contact sources, response time
and dispute resolutions

Monthly Core Performance Metrics Flash reports of program performance (TBD) prior to closing of the
month-end financial statements

Daily Disbursement Sales, Returns, Royalty (Company Revenue Share pursuant to
Schedule 9.1(a)(i)), and Net funding released to Company

Monthly Disbursement Sales, Returns, Royalty, New Account Payments (pursuant to
Schedule 9.1(a)(ii), and Net funding released to Company

Monthly Marketing Fund Monthly and cumulative amounts committed by Bank to the
Marketing Fund and used by Company

Daily Settlement & Chargeback Reporting Reporting necessary to reconcile daily settlement and chargeback

Monthly Settlement & Chargeback Reporting Reporting necessary to reconcile monthly settlement and
chargeback activity

Weekly New Application & Account
Reporting

Store level reporting (by store, district, & region)

Monthly Program P&L A profit and loss statement with line-item detail on revenue and
expenses at the product level as well as a report that includes a
forecast of the profit sharing calculations to be made each year
pursuant to Schedule 9.1(a)(iii).

Monthly Net Credit Sales Net Credit Sales in Company Channels by acquisition channel,
product, store, district, territory, etc.
Net Credit Sales outside Company Channels by merchant category,
top 50 merchants, geographical region, etc.

Quarterly APR Distribution Distribution of Accounts and outstanding balances by APR by
product

Copyright © 2013 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document

http://www.secdatabase.com


Monthly Other
PLCC Metrics/Reports (PLCC Dash
Boards, Enhancement Services
Reporting Package, &PLCC Graph
Packages)

Total Accounts
Total Open Accounts
Total Accounts with a Balance (referred to as Statement Active
herein)
Debit Active Accounts
Inactive Accounts
New Accounts
Total Outstanding balances by credit plan (as applicable)
Average Statement Active Balance
Average Statement Active Payment
Total Payments
Average Payment
Payment Rate
Applications processed
Applications approved
Net activation Purchases (New)
Average activation Purchase
Net add-on Purchases
Average add-on Purchases
Average credit limit on all Accounts
Average open-to-buy on all Accounts
Average open-to-buy on all active accounts
Accounts with debt cancellation
Active Accounts with debt cancellation
Debt cancellation fees billed
Credit performance trend
Credit performance snapshot
Total Credit Sales
Total Returned Sales
Net Credit Sales
Total Purchase Transactions
Total Return Transactions
Total Net Transactions
Total # Voluntary Closed Accts
Annual Voluntary Closure Rate
Annual Cumulative Voluntary Closure Rate
Cumulative Voluntary Closure Rate
Total # Involuntary Closed Accts
Annual Involuntary Closure Rate
Annual Cumulative Involuntary Closure Rate
Cumulative Involuntary Closure Rate
Revolve Rate(#)
Revolve Rate($)
Average Credit Limit
Average Original Account Credit Limit
Average Statement Active Account Credit Limit
Statement Active Account Utilization
Annual Credit Revoked Rate
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Monthly Other Co-brand
Metrics/Reports

(Co-Brand Portfolio Dashboard
Report)

Other Co-brand
Metrics/Reports

(Co-Brand Portfolio Dashboard
Report)

Total Accounts
Total Open Accounts
Total Accounts with a Balance (referred to as Statement Active
herein)
Debit Active Accounts
Inactive Accounts
New Accounts
Applications Processed
Applications Approved
Net activation Purchases (New)
Average activation Purchase
Total Balance
Total Retail Balance
Total Cash Balance
Average Total Balance
Average Retail Balance
Average Cash Balance
Average Statement Active Balance
Average Statement Active Payment
Total Payments
Average Payment
Payment Rate
Total Net Credit Sales
Net Credit Sales in Company Channels
Net Credit Sales outside Company Channels
Total Cash Advance Volume
Total Balance Transfer Volume
Total New Net Credit Sales
Total New Cash Advance Volume
Total New Balance Transfer Volume
Average Statement Active New Net Credit Sales
Average Statement Active New Cash Volume
Total Net Purchase Transactions in Company Channels
Total Net Purchase Transactions outside Company Channels
Total Cash Transactions
Total # Voluntary Closed Accts
Annual Voluntary Closure Rate
Annual Cumulative Voluntary Closure Rate
Cumulative Voluntary Closure Rate
Total # Involuntary Closed Accts
Annual Involuntary Closure Rate
Annual Cumulative Involuntary Closure Rate
Cumulative Involuntary Closure Rate
Active Rate
Revolve Rate(#)
Revolve Rate($)
Average Credit Limit
Average Original Account Credit Limit
Average Statement Active Account Credit Limit
Statement Active Account Utilization
Annual Credit Revoked Rate

Monthly Additional fields currently received
from issuing partner that CWC
would like to continue to receive:

Statement rate
Statement % Y/Y
Fee Income (If applicable)
Fee Services Income (If applicable)
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On partner breakout:
CWC Active accounts
CWC Active %
CWC Sales
CWC Trans
% of active customers using their co-branded card only at CWC
and any pertinent metrics

Quarterly Forecasted Program P&L-
by month

Forecasted Program Pre-Tax Profit Statement by product by month
for next 12 months.
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Monthly Identification of Risks and
Opportunities

As part of the monthly reporting, the Parties will identify risks and
opportunities that are foreseen as potentially impacting the Pre-Tax
Profit.

Should a risk be identified that may lower the Pre-Tax Profit, the
Parties will identify, discuss and evaluate implementation of
mitigating actions to offset the negative impact to the Pre-Tax
Profit.

Likewise, if the Parties identify opportunities the Parties will
discuss and evaluate implementation of opportunities to increase
the Pre-Tax Profit.

Quarterly Portfolio Credit Risk Credit risk reports (e.g., average FICO and FICO distributions) on
actual and forecasted behavior for all Program Accounts and credit
risk reports on actual behavior for POS Accounts and Internet
Accounts for each month in a given quarter, respectively (delivered
quarterly). Report would include percent of accounts past due
(30,60, 90), % of POS declines, average FICO of approved
accounts, average FICO of declined accounts in a month at the
territory and enterprise level (all channels)

Monthly New Account Credit Mix Information about credit mix for the prior calendar month,
including the quantity of point of sale Applications (by FICO band)
that have been (i) submitted, and (ii) approved

Ad Hoc Co-brand Card Apps in Non-
Participating Stores

Reasonable reports in relation to Co-brand Card Applications in
non-participating Stores.

Quarterly Schedule 9.1 Reporting necessary to substantiate all calculations contemplated in
Schedule 9.1.

Quarterly Trends, Risks, & Opportunities Reporting on charge offs, recoveries, and delinquencies with
sufficient detail and history for the Parties to mutually understand
trends, risks, and opportunities within the Programs. (Bank will
also meet with quarterly to review this reporting.)

Monthly Average Payment Duration Average duration of payment completion
by plan/promotion (as applicable)

Monthly CLI Summary of customer and bank-initiated credit limit
increases/decreases (ties into OTB
statistics/OTB utilization)

Monthly OTB Reduction in net OTB due to (i) voluntary and (ii) involuntary
Cancellation

Monthly Revenue Share Reporting summarizing revenue paid monthly to CWC (received
before CWC fiscal month end of the next month)

Monthly Rewards Earned Report reflects the total number of points earned, redeemed,
forfeited for the month

Monthly Instant Credit Acquisition Report
(i.e. Credit Card Acceptance)

Report reflects applications received and processed through the
Internet and Retail channels

Monthly Instant Credit Purchase Report Report reflects applications and the purchase amount for
applications received via the Full Application and Instant Credit
Channels

Files
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Frequency Name: Description
Daily Rewards Coupons Earned Files forwarded to 3rd party vendor to fulfill $20 coupons
Weekly Master File Systemic file sent from ADS to CWC containing card holder

information (see contents below)
TBD Program performance data Program stats and performance in file format that can be loaded

and utilized for program performance reporting rather than Excel
spreadsheets

Master File Information:

a) Account Identification Number
b) Month Account Opened
c) Year Account Opened
d) Store Account Opened
d1) Channel Account Opened (Online or Retail)
e) Cardholder Name (Parsed into First, MI, Last)
f) Cardholder's Street Address
g) Cardholder's City
h) Cardholder's State
i) Cardholder's Zip Code
j) Cardholder's Home Phone Number
k) Date of Last Purchases
l) Cardholder's Open to Buy
m) Number of Purchases Monthly
n) Amount of Purchases Monthly, YTD
o) Number of Returns Monthly
p) Amount of Returns Monthly
q) Items Purchased
r) Birth Month/Day
s) Account Status Indicator (Open/Closed)
t) Card Type (Co-Brand/PLCC)
u) Number of cards (extra for spouse, etc…)

(b) Year-End Settlement Sheet.

The Year-End Settlement Sheet shall set forth:
A) the aggregate of all Marketing Fund amounts spent by the Company in the last Fiscal Year;
B) the aggregate of all Launch Fund amounts spent by the Company in the last Fiscal Year;
C) the volume of Promotional Program sales in the last Fiscal Year (as applicable);
D) average receivables and average Promotional Program receivables for the last Fiscal Year;
E) the royalty amount on Net Credit Sales in the last Fiscal Year;
F) the Annual Cumulative Net Portfolio Yield in the last Fiscal Year;
G) any other amounts owed to the Company as explicitly provided in the Agreement or as otherwise agreed by the Parties in

writing with line item specificity, which amounts may be netted.

Provided that the Card Association makes available to the Bank, the Bank shall, on a monthly basis, provide to the Company up to five
(5) standard reports as selected by the Company, from the Card Association's reporting tool (e.g., Portfolio Analytics), at no cost to the
Company; provided that the Company's agreement with the Card Association provides for at least one seat license to be available to the
Bank. The Bank shall make additional such reports available to the Company at a cost to be agreed upon by the parties.
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*** Confidential material redacted and filed separately with the Commission.

SCHEDULE 7.2(a)

Performance Level Standards

SLA Implementation: The provisions in this Schedule 7.2(a) shall be measured on a going-forward basis beginning with the ***
following the *** after the Launch Date.

SLA Assumptions:

1. Each SLA (as defined in the SLA table below) is expressed as a simple average and is measured on a *** basis.

2. Response time for electronic authorizations shall exclude any authorizations requiring manual or external
intervention and shall also exclude transaction transmission time.

3. Credit Card Applications that Bank is reviewing under special circumstances requiring manual intervention, such
as a meet the sale or fraudulent Credit Card Application, shall not be included in the measurement of performance.

4. Any SLA failure that is the result of a Force Majeure Event shall be excluded from consideration in measuring
compliance with this Schedule.

5. If Company does not notify Bank at least *** in advance of any out of the ordinary promotional event to
Cardholders that is reasonably likely to materially increase call volume so that Bank may staff appropriately and Bank misses an SLA as
a result of the promotional event, or if the root cause of any SLA failure is traced to Company, then the SLA will not be deemed failed.

6. Bank shall report to Company every *** by the *** of ***, in a mutually agreed format, Bank's performance
under each of the SLAs set forth in this Schedule.

Service Failure Payments:

If Bank fails to meet any SLA in any ***, then no later than the *** of the ***, Bank shall deliver to Company a
report detailing the reason(s) for such failure and a corrective action plan. Bank shall implement such corrective action plan as soon as
practicable but no later than the *** of the *** following the original failure. Bank shall deliver to Company a second report, no later
than the *** of the *** during which the corrective action plan was implemented, assessing the results of the plan. During any ***, the
*** immediately following Bank's initial failure to meet any SLA shall be a *** and no service failure penalties shall apply. If Bank
misses the same SLA more than *** (without taking into account any failure that may occur during the *** for such SLA), Bank will be
eligible for a service failure penalty in the amount corresponding to the magnitude of the miss of the SLA.

By way of illustration, if Bank's performance in a Non-Critical SLA is ***%, the difference between the target SLA
of ***% and the actual performance would be *** basis points and Bank would pay a $*** Service Failure payment for the Service
Failure of the Non-Critical SLA.

Table of Payments for Service Failures

Difference in Target SLA from Actual SLA
Achieved in Basis Points

*** ***
Critical SLA $*** $***
Non-Critical SLA $*** $***
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*** Confidential material redacted and filed separately with the Commission.

Determination of Bank Events of Default Due to Service Failures

The following failures shall each constitute a “SLA Termination Event”:

• A failure to meet the same Critical SLA by more than *** basis points below the target for each of ***; or

• A failure to meet any combination of *** Critical SLAs in *** in any *** where at least *** of the Critical SLAs is missed by
at least *** basis points in each of the ***.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, the penalties and remedies set forth in this Schedule 7.2(a) shall be
Company's sole and exclusive remedy for Bank's failure to meet the Service Level Standards contemplated hereunder; provided
however, that the foregoing shall not limit Company from exercising any other right or remedy available to it hereunder that is not based
upon Bank's failure to satisfy a Service Level Standard.

SLAs:

Key Performance Metric Performance Requirement / Goal / Target
Co-Brand and Private Label

Category

Average Speed of Calls
Answered

***% in *** for Cardholder and Store calls after exit from the IVR. Bank will
prioritize store calls to the top of the call queue.

Critical SLA

Abandoned Call Rate ***% or less abandoned calls excluding any abandoned call that occurs within ***
of exiting the IVR

Non-Critical SLA

Call Blockage ***% Routing Blocked Calls. Bank will not intentionally code or install any routing
strategy to facilitate a blocked call when customer service representatives are busy
or too many calls are in queue. Bank will provide to Company at its request a letter
signed by the Bank's Operations Manager responsible for servicing Company's
portfolio, that no such routing strategy has been implemented by Bank for any in-
bound customer service toll-free numbers associated with the Program

Non-Critical SLA

Application Response
turnaround time

***% for all Instant Credit and Pre-screen application response times for approval,
decline, or pending decisions within *** of receipt by Bank's host.

***% for all Instant Credit and Pre-screen application response times for approval,
decline, or pending decisions within *** of receipt by Bank's host.

***% of Mail-In applications decisioned or acknowledged as incomplete within ***.
Excludes any applications that are not forwarded to address designated by Bank for
Application processing and any Applications received for which there is not enough
information available to determine the identity of the Applicant to fulfill the request.

Critical SLA

Initial Card or Card
replacement turnaround time

***% within ***

***% within ***

Measurement is in *** and begins once any plastic request is generated for any
reason (new account and/or lost/stolen replacement). This SLA excludes mass card
reissuance, including by Bank and Company for marketing purposes.

Non-Critical SLA
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*** Confidential material redacted and filed separately with the Commission.

Key Performance Metric Performance Requirement / Goal / Target
Co-Brand and Private Label

Category

Cardholder/inquiry
turnaround time (paper/
email)

Paper: ***% responded to within ***, ***% resolved within ***. Excludes any
inquiry for which Bank is awaiting media from Company or information from the
consumer or Company. Only includes inquiries where the consumer has written to
the designated Bank address as referenced on the billing statement.

Email: ***% acknowledged within ***. ***% resolved within ***, ***% resolved
within ***. Excludes any inquiry for which Bank is awaiting media from the
Company or other information from the consumer or Company. Only includes
inquiries where the consumer has emailed Bank through Bank's secured email
channel.

Non-Critical SLA

Authorization Times ***% for all authorization approval, decline, or pending decisions within *** of
receipt by Bank's host.

Critical SLA

Authorization availability Authorization system will be available to respond to Cardholder authorization
requests ***% of the *** excluding scheduled maintenance time that would be
communicated at least *** in advance, and never to exceed *** in a *** and only to
be executed from *** until ***.) Bank shall not be allowed to exclude any scheduled
maintenance during the period from Thanksgiving through Christmas during any
year.

Critical SLA

POS Application System
Uptime (includes Instant
Credit applications in Store)

Bank's electronic New Account system will be fully operational to process Instant
Credit and Pre-Screen Applications a minimum of ***% of all ***. (Metric excludes
scheduled maintenance time if communicated at least *** in advance and agreed to
by both Parties if such maintenance is to take place during Store hours.)

Critical SLA

Website Uptime ***% of the *** Non-Critical SLA
Dispute Resolution ***% resolved within regulatory guidelines (excluding failures caused by

Company's failure to respond to a request for information within ***). Only includes
dispute inquiries where the consumer has written to the designated Bank address as
referenced on the billing statement.

Non-Critical SLA

Transaction Posting ***% posted next *** Non-Critical SLA
Payment Processing for
Payments Submitted
Through the Mail or through
the Program Website

***% of conforming payments processed within *** of receipt, if received by ***;

***% of conforming payments processed within *** of receipt if received by ***;

***% of non-conforming payments processed within ***;

All conforming payments posted as of the day received (it being agreed that Bank
may correct posting errors by re-posting so as to reflect the correct day and, in such
case, such payment shall be deemed to be posted as of such day for purposes of this
SLA.

Critical SLA

Statement production ***% of statements will be mailed at least *** before the payment due date. Non-Critical SLA
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SCHEDULE 7.2(h)

Service Providers

• Comenity Servicing LLC
• Comenity LLC
• ADS Alliance Data Systems, Inc.
• Comenity Operating Company LLC
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SCHEDULE 7.4(c)

System Modifications

Ecommerce Platform
• OS patching
• Hardware maintenance (HD failure, memory, etc)
• Hardware replacement / upgrades
• Store systems peripheral replacement / upgrades
• Website maintenance downtime.

Network
• Network maintenance

POS System:
• Bug Fixes/patches to POS software
• Enhancements to POS system (features and functionality)
• Installing Upgrades to POS software

Copyright © 2013 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document

http://www.secdatabase.com


*** Confidential material redacted and filed separately with the Commission.

SCHEDULE 9.1(a)(i)

*** Payments

Company Revenue Share. The Bank shall pay the following amounts to the Company on ***:

(a) *** bps times all *** on Co-Branded Accounts since the preceding ***; plus

(b) *** bps times all *** on Private Label Accounts since the preceding ***.
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*** Confidential material redacted and filed separately with the Commission.

SCHEDULE 9.1(a)(ii)

*** Payments

New Account Payments. The Bank shall pay to the Company the sum of:

(i) an amount equal to *** Dollars ($***) per new Co-Branded Account originated in a Company Channel after
the Effective Date (including at POS, through take ones and via online applications) or pursuant to a
marketing campaign by the Company (including direct mail campaigns by the Company pursuant to Section
5.7(c)) or funded from the Marketing Fund and, in each case, activated with a general purpose purchase by
the Cardholder for the first time in the prior ***; provided that no such payment shall be made with respect
to any such Account if such activation with a general purpose purchase occurred more than *** after the
Account was opened; and

(ii) an amount equal to *** dollars ($***) per new Co-Branded Account originated after the Effective Date
pursuant to a marketing campaign funded by the Bank and not from the Marketing Fund, activated with a
general purpose purchase by the Cardholder for the first time in the prior ***; provided that no such payment
shall be made with respect to any such Account if such activation with a general purpose purchase occurred
more than *** after the Account was opened.
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*** Confidential material redacted and filed separately with the Commission.

SCHEDULE 9.1(a)(iii)

*** Payments

(a) Profit Share. An amount equal to (i) the cumulative Company Profit Share accumulated since the Effective Date
minus (ii) the sum of all amounts paid by the Bank to the Company in all preceding Program Years in respect of the Company Profit
Share (after deducting any amounts reimbursed by the Company to the Bank in respect of the Company Profit Share in any such prior
Program Year), minus (iii) the sum of all amounts paid by the Bank to the Company, if any, in all preceding Program Years in respect of
the *** amount that was *** (see section ***), provided that such amount is a positive number.

“Company Profit Share” means, for any Program Year:

(i) ***% of *** with respect to *** of ***% or more and less than ***%; plus
(ii) ***% of *** with respect to *** of ***% or more.

*** means, with respect to any ***, the sum of the following for such *** and each preceding ***:

(i) *** (from all sources, including *** or *** except for *** and ***; minus
(ii) the *** of all *** and *** of any *** of the *** (including any *** or *** of *** of the type referred to in *** plus
(iii) the *** of *** all *** on *** to the *** or *** (including through *** of *** minus
(iv) *** minus
(v) *** minus
(vi) *** minus
(vii) *** minus
(viii) *** minus
(ix) *** minus
(x) *** minus
(xi) *** by the *** with the *** provided that *** and *** this *** shall *** in the *** of *** for any *** in which the ***

the *** of this *** or ***
*** for *** and the *** by ***

*** as of the *** of the *** for such *** and the *** for each of the ***

*** for any *** the *** of the *** such *** of the *** of the *** of *** such ***

*** the *** of *** the *** of *** in *** on *** the *** if a *** is not *** for such *** be the *** on the *** a *** the *** is
the *** in the *** not to *** and the *** of ***

*** for any *** the *** the *** the *** of the *** of *** that *** in *** of such *** and *** the *** the ** of the *** of ***
that *** a *** in *** in such ***

*** In the *** that *** the *** of *** the *** of the *** to *** and *** to *** the *** the *** to *** and *** the *** the ***
of this *** is *** than *** the *** for such *** the *** the *** the *** of such *** as the *** has *** and ***
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*** Confidential material redacted and filed separately with the Commission.

*** with *** to any *** the ***

***

***

*** the *** to *** by the *** is *** than *** for *** the *** shall *** either *** or *** the *** of such *** to the
*** to *** by the *** the *** of such *** and for the *** of such the *** shall *** such *** and *** not be *** by *** the *** and
*** to *** of the *** to in this ***

*** the *** to *** by the *** than *** at any time *** of the *** the *** of such *** the *** shall for a *** in ***
to the *** in this *** such *** the *** to come to an *** to such *** to *** the *** this *** and the *** to the ***

*** the *** does *** in all *** if the *** to *** or the *** or *** of such *** the *** and *** to the *** in this *** the ***
of such ***

(e) Reduction of Interchange. If for any period of *** the Co-Branded Credit Card program's Interchange Rate is:

(i) ***, then the Parties shall for a period of *** following such decrease negotiate in good faith with respect
to such mutually agreeable modifications to the terms under Schedules 4.7, 5.2(b), 9.1(a)(i), 9.1(a)(ii) and/or 9.1(a)(iii) applicable to the
Co-Branded Credit Card program (collectively, the “Change in Interchange Terms”) to mitigate the effect of such decrease in a way that
would preserve at least the same level of economic terms and compensation arrangements of the Program that were in effect prior to
such decrease; and if the Parties shall fail to agree to such modifications prior to the end of such *** day period, then the Parties shall
take such actions as are necessary to cause the APR for the Co-Branded Credit Cards set forth in Schedule 4.7 to be adjusted to mitigate
the effect of the interchange decrease; or

(ii) equal to or less than ***%, then Bank shall have the option to propose to the Company after such decrease
such Changes in Interchange Terms as Bank believes will mitigate the effect of such decrease to preserve at least the same level of
economic terms and compensation; and the Parties shall for a period of *** following receipt of such proposal by the Company
negotiate in good faith with respect to such mutually agreeable modifications to the Change in Interchange Terms to mitigate the effect
of such decrease in a way that would preserve at least the same level of economic terms and compensation arrangements of the Program
that were in effect prior to such decrease; if the Parties shall fail to agree to such mutually agreeable modifications, the Bank shall have
the right to unilaterally implement the modifications to the Change in Interchange Terms initially proposed by Bank pursuant to this
clause (ii), and if the Bank elects to take such unilateral action, the Company shall have the right to terminate this Agreement. If the
Company terminates this Agreement pursuant to this clause (e)(ii) of this Schedule 9.1(a)(iii) and starts a new Credit Card program
within twelve (12) months of the notice of such termination, the Company shall refund to the Bank the Unamortized Premium.

“Interchange Rate” means, with respect to the Co-Branded Credit Card program for any date or measurement period, an
amount equal to the gross interchange revenue (which shall be reported as a separate line item under the monthly Program P&L
pursuant to Schedule 7.1(a)(i)), divided by Net Credit Sales.
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SCHEDULE 9.1(b)

Payments

(i) Initial Payment. On the date of this Agreement, the Bank will pay the Company Eleven Million Five
Hundred Thousand ($11,500,000), and on the date of execution and delivery of the Chase Purchase Agreement, the Bank will pay the
Company Eleven Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($11,500,000). Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Chase Purchase
Agreement is not executed and delivered on or prior to October 1, 2013, then the Company shall refund to the Bank the Eleven Million
Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($11,500,000) payment in full.

(ii) Private Label Payment. On the Private Label Launch Date, the Bank will pay the Company Two Million
Dollars ($2,000,000).
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SCHEDULE 17.2(e)

Program and Account-level Data

RFP Data / Bid Data

A. The following data categories constitute RFP Data:

1. Separate portfolio P&Ls for the private label and co-branded card programs; reported up to risk adjusted revenue (for the
trailing 24 month period) to include:

a. Finance Charge Revenue
b. Cardholder Fee Revenue broken out by type
c. Interchange (if applicable)
d. Other Revenue
e. Gross Charge-offs
f. Reversals
g. Recoveries
h. Fraud Losses

2. Portfolio metrics for the private label and co-branded card program (for the trailing 24 month period) to include:
a. Outstanding Balance Statistics (EOP and Average)
b. Account Statistics (Total Beginning Accounts, New Accounts, Closed Accounts, Total Ending Accounts, Statement

Active Accounts, Purchase Active Accounts)
c. Sales Statistics (Gross Sales, Net Sales)
d. Revolve Statistics (Outstandings with Finance Charges, Outstandings with 0% APR)
e. Credit Line Statistics (Credit Lines, Line Utilization)
f. Cash Advance Statistics (Cash Advance $s and #s)
g. Balance Transfer/Convenience Check Statistics (BT Volume $s and #s, Convenience Check $s and #s)
h. Charge-off Statistics (Gross Charge-offs by reason, Recoveries, Reversals; all in $s)
i. Payment Statistics (Payments $s and #s, Average Payment, % of Statements w/ Payment)
j. Delinquency Statistics (Delinquency Volume $s and #s broken out by 30 day buckets)

3. Average ticket size, in aggregate, for the last 12 months (one number for each of the private label and co-brand programs)

4. Distribution of balances for the private label and co-branded card programs (for the trailing 24 month period)

5. Distribution of balances across APR rates for each card program (for the trailing 24 month period)

6. Distribution of applications by FICO Equivalent band (trailing 24 month period)

7. Number of applications for each of the private label and co-branded programs (trailing 24 months)

8. Number of approved accounts for each of the private label and co-branded programs (trailing 24 months)

9. Mix of sales on co-brand between inside and outside over last 12 months

B. The following data categories constitute Bid Data:
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1. Distribution of balances across FICO Equivalent band for each of the private label and co-branded programs

2. Change in Terms history for last 24 months

3. Details/breakdown of accounts in a “status” or accounts in collections or write-off queues (accounts and dollars)

4. Minimum payment due stratification for accounts assessed late fees over last 12 months (by month)

5. Charge-off Statistics (by reason)

6. Master File with the most recent 2 years of monthly vintage data (for the trailing 24 month period), including, at a minimum,
information for the data elements in each of Sections A.1. and A.2. above
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SCHEDULE 17.3

Fair Market Value Assumptions

Methodology for Determining Fair Market Value

In the event that Company notifies Bank that it shall purchase the Program Assets in accordance with the terms of this
agreement, Company (or its Nominated Purchaser) and Bank shall engage in discussions for at least thirty (30) days following receipt
by Company of RFP Data and Bid Data that is provided to Company by Bank after Company gives the Purchase Notice, in an effort to
mutually determine the fair market value of the Co-Branded Accounts and the related Program Assets, based on the assumptions set
forth in this Schedule (“Fair Market Value”). Fair Market Value shall be expressed as a percentage and shall equal the dollar amount of
the Cardholder Indebtedness plus any premium or minus any discount, as applicable, divided by the dollar amount of Cardholder
Indebtedness.

If the Parties cannot reach agreement on the Fair Market Value of the Program Assets within the thirty (30) day
period, each Party shall, prior to the end of such thirty (30) day period, nominate an investment banker. Each Party shall be responsible
for its own costs with respect to its nominated investment banker.

Each Party's investment banker shall complete a valuation of the Fair Market Value of the Program Assets no later
than fifteen (15) Business Days after the thirty (30) day period.

If the two valuations by each investment banker are three hundred and fifty (350) basis points or less apart, the Fair
Market Value shall be the average of the two valuations. If the difference between the two valuations is greater than three hundred and
fifty (350) basis points, the investment bankers shall, within five (5) days after the end of the fifteen (15) Business Day period jointly
select a third investment banker to complete a valuation of the Fair Market Value of the Program Assets. The third investment banker
shall be required by the Parties to complete the valuation of the Fair Market Value of the Program Assets no later than fifteen (15)
Business Days after being selected. Each Party shall be responsible for one-half of the cost of the third investment banker. The final
determination of the Fair Market Value shall be equal to the average of the two closest appraisals prepared by the three investment
bankers.

Assumptions for Determination of Fair Market Value

The investment bankers shall be instructed to assume an arms-length transaction between a willing buyer and a
willing seller and shall take into consideration, among other things, the amount of the outstanding receivables, the aggregate number of
Accounts, and the value of an ongoing relationship with Company. Each investment banker shall be given the following instructions for
preparing their valuations:

(A) All, but not less than all, of the Accounts shall be purchased;
(B) Assume a seven (7) year ongoing endorsement of the existing program by Company;
(C) Assume no new acquisition marketing shall be endorsed, i.e. no growth due to new Accounts; and
(D) Assume the existing value proposition, revenue sharing and product pricing shall remain in effect.
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Exhibit 31.1

I, Jill Brown Dean, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Coldwater Creek Inc.

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading
with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods
presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is
being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by
this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting;
and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and
report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: September 12, 2013

/s/ Jill Brown Dean
Jill Brown Dean
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President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
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Exhibit 31.2

I, James A. Bell, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Coldwater Creek Inc.

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading
with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods
presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is
being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by
this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting;
and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and
report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: September 12, 2013

/s/ James A. Bell
James A. Bell
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Executive Vice President, Chief Operating Officer and
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
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Exhibit 32.1

PERIODIC REPORT CERTIFICATION

I, Jill Brown Dean, President and Chief Executive Officer of Coldwater Creek Inc. (the “Company”), certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §
1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:

(1) the report of the Company on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended August 3, 2013, as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of
the Company.

/s/ Jill Brown Dean
Jill Brown Dean
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
September 12, 2013

I, James A. Bell, Executive Vice President, Chief Operating Officer and Chief Financial Officer of Coldwater Creek Inc. (the
“Company”), certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my
knowledge:

(1) the report of the Company on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended August 3, 2013, as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of
the Company.

/s/ James A. Bell
James A. Bell
Executive Vice-President, Chief Operating Officer and
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
September 12, 2013
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6 Months EndedCo-Branded Credit Card
Program Aug. 03, 2013

Deferred Revenue [Abstract]
Co-branded credit card
program

Credit Card Program

On July 26, 2013, we entered into a Credit Card Program Agreement (the "Program Agreement")
with Comenity Bank, a bank subsidiary of Alliance Data Systems Corporation ("ADS"). Under
the Program Agreement, ADS will issue co-branded credit cards and private label credit cards to
approved new and existing customers. ADS will also purchase the existing co-branded credit card
portfolio at a future date from Chase Bank USA, N.A. ("Chase"). During the three months ended
August 3, 2013, we received an up-front incentive payment of $11.5 million, which was deferred
and will be amortized over the term of the Program Agreement. On September 11, 2013, ADS
and Chase executed the purchase agreement for the existing co-branded credit card portfolio,
triggering the second incentive payment of $11.5 million to Coldwater Creek. We will receive an
additional $2.0 million upon the launch of a new private label credit card program. We will also
be entitled to future payments after ADS begins issuing credit cards under the Program
Agreement for revenue sharing based on a percentage of credit card sales, certain new credit card
accounts opened and activated, and profit sharing based on certain profitability measures of the
program. The term of the Program Agreement is seven years from ADS's purchase of the co-
branded credit card portfolio from Chase, with automatic extensions for successive one year
terms.

Deferred Credit Card Revenue

The deferred credit card revenue activity was as follows:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

August 3,
2013

July 28,
2012

August 3,
2013

July 28,
2012

(in thousands)

Balance at beginning of period $ 7,063 $ 8,148 $ 7,752 $ 8,800
Incentive payment received 11,500 — 11,500 —
Marketing fees received 890 996 1,756 1,859
Revenue sharing received 9,782 2,946 9,782 2,946
Marketing fees recognized to revenue (1,071) (1,117) (2,188) (2,192)
Revenue sharing recognized to revenue (5,580) (2,089) (6,018) (2,529)
Balance at end of period 22,584 8,884 22,584 8,884
Less — Current deferred credit card

revenue (8,167) (5,590) (8,167) (5,590)

Long-term deferred credit card revenue $ 14,417 $ 3,294 $ 14,417 $ 3,294

Sales Royalty

The amount of sales royalty recognized as revenue during the three months ended August 3, 2013
and July 28, 2012 was $1.8 million and $1.8 million, respectively. During the six months ended
August 3, 2013 and July 28, 2012, sales royalty revenue was approximately $3.9 million and $3.7
million, respectively.
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3 Months Ended 6 Months EndedCONDENSED
CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENTS OF

OPERATIONS AND
COMPREHENSIVE

OPERATIONS (USD $)
In Thousands, except Per

Share data, unless otherwise
specified

Aug. 03,
2013

Jul. 28,
2012

Aug. 03,
2013

Jul. 28,
2012

Income Statement [Abstract]
Net sales $ 149,702 [1] $

163,690
[1] $ 305,431 [1] $

333,574
[1]

Cost of sales 105,662 115,170 210,427 230,663
Gross profit 44,040 48,520 95,004 102,911
Selling, general and administrative expenses 62,562 65,674 130,924 143,193
Loss from operations (18,522) (17,154) (35,920) (40,282)
Other gain, net (5,632) (1,278) (6,558) (1,278)
Interest expense, net 3,633 1,725 7,206 2,286
Loss before income taxes (16,523) (17,601) (36,568) (41,290)
Income tax provision (benefit) (80) (43) (770) 28
Net loss (16,443) (17,558) (35,798) (41,318)
Other comprehensive income:
Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan liability adjustment,
net of tax 0 (18) 0 (18)

Total comprehensive loss $
(16,443)

$
(17,540)

$
(35,798)

$
(41,300)

Net loss per share - Basic and Diluted (in dollars per share) $ (0.54) $ (0.58) $ (1.17) $ (1.36)
Weighted average shares outstanding — Basic and Diluted (in
shares) 30,583 30,452 30,560 30,440

[1] There were no sales between the retail and direct segments during the reported periods.
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6 Months EndedAccrued Liabilities Aug. 03, 2013
Accrued Liabilities, Current [Abstract]
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities Accrued Liabilities

Accrued liabilities consisted of the following:

August 3,
2013

February 2,
2013

July 28,
2012

(in thousands)

Accrued payroll and benefits $ 11,413 $ 12,356 $ 14,978
Gift cards and certificates 14,151 18,427 15,842
Derivative liability 12,125 18,683 13,395
Current portion of deferred rents 22,232 20,756 20,825
Current portion of deferred credit card
revenue 8,167 4,484 5,590
Deferred sales royalty 2,819 3,106 3,346
Accrued sales returns 2,805 3,738 2,923
Accrued taxes 2,975 4,200 4,071
Other 2,072 2,165 2,208

$ 78,759 $ 87,915 $ 83,178
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6 Months EndedDebt and Capital Lease
Obligations (Tables) Aug. 03, 2013

Debt Disclosure [Abstract]
Debt and capital lease
obligations

Debt and capital lease obligations consisted of the following:

August 3,
2013

February 2,
2013

July 28,
2012

(in thousands)

Secured term loan, including accrued PIK interest due
at maturity $ 70,464 $ 67,866 $ 65,271
Revolving line of credit 15,000 — —
Capital lease obligations 11,634 11,901 12,163
Total debt and capital lease obligations 97,098 79,767 77,434
Less:

Secured term loan discount (13,920) (15,406) (16,892)
Current maturities of debt (15,000) — —
Current maturities of capital lease obligations (710) (577) (544)

Long-term debt and capital lease obligations $ 67,468 $ 63,784 $ 59,998
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6 Months EndedSegment Reporting Aug. 03, 2013
Segment Reporting
[Abstract]
Segment Reporting Segment Reporting

The following table provides certain financial data for the retail and direct segments as well as
reconciliations to the condensed consolidated financial statements:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

August 3,
2013

July 28,
2012

August 3,
2013

July 28,
2012

(in thousands)

Net sales (a):
Retail $ 118,644 $ 129,939 $ 236,398 $ 261,141
Direct 31,058 33,751 69,033 72,433

Net sales $ 149,702 $ 163,690 $ 305,431 $ 333,574
Segment operating income (loss):

Retail $ 1,124 $ 4,486 $ 1,511 $ 5,409
Direct 5,000 3,710 12,686 8,499

Total segment operating income 6,124 8,196 14,197 13,908
Unallocated corporate and other (24,646) (25,350) (50,117) (54,190)

Loss from operations $ (18,522) $ (17,154) $ (35,920) $ (40,282)

____________________________________________________________

(a) There were no sales between the retail and direct segments during the reported periods.
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3 Months Ended 6 Months EndedCo-Branded Credit Card
Program Sales Royalty

(Details) (USD $)
In Millions, unless otherwise

specified

Aug. 03, 2013 Jul. 28, 2012 Aug. 03, 2013 Jul. 28, 2012

Deferred Revenue [Abstract]
Sales royalty recognized $ 1.8 $ 1.8 $ 3.9 $ 3.7
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0 Months
Ended

Debt and Capital Lease
Obligations Term Loan

(Details) (USD $) Jul. 09,
2017

Aug. 03,
2013

Feb. 02,
2013

Jul. 28,
2012

Jul. 09,
2012

Secured
Term
Loan

[Member]

Aug. 03,
2013
Cash

Interest
Rate

[Member]

Aug. 03,
2013
PIK

Interest
Rate

[Member]

Jul. 09,
2012

Series A
Preferred

Stock
[Member]

Debt Instrument [Line
Items]
Debt instrument, term (in
years) 5 years

Debt instrument, face amount $
65,000,000

Debt instrument, interest rate,
stated percentage 5.50% 7.50%

Paid in kind, total interest 29,800,000
Paid in kind, future interest
accrued 5,500,000

Preferred stock, shares
outstanding (in shares) 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000

Debt instrument, unamortized
discount

$
13,920,000

$
15,406,000

$
16,892,000

$
15,700,000
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6 Months EndedSupplemental Executive
Retirement Plan (Tables) Aug. 03, 2013

Pension and Other Postretirement Benefit Expense
[Abstract]
Net periodic benefit cost of the supplemental executive
retirement plan (“SERP”)

Net periodic benefit cost of the SERP consisted of the
following:

Three Months
Ended Six Months Ended

August 3,
2013

July 28,
2012

August 3,
2013

July 28,
2012

(in thousands)

Interest cost $ 114 $ 138 $ 227 $ 276
Amortization of net
actuarial loss — 9 — 18

$ 114 $ 147 $ 227 $ 294
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6 Months EndedStock-Based Compensation
(Tables) Aug. 03, 2013

Disclosure of Compensation Related
Costs, Share-based Payments
[Abstract]
Disclosure of share-based compensation
arrangements by share-based payment
award

Total stock-based compensation recognized primarily in selling, general and
administrative expenses from stock options and RSUs consisted of the following:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

August 3,
2013

July 28,
2012

August 3,
2013

July 28,
2012

(in thousands)

Stock options $ 238 $ 315 $ 451 $ 545
RSUs 312 206 731 324

$ 550 $ 521 $ 1,182 $ 869

Schedule of share-based payment award,
stock options, valuation assumptions

The fair value of stock option awards was estimated at the grant date using the
Black-Scholes option valuation model with the following weighted average
assumptions:

Six Months Ended

August 3,
2013

July 28,
2012

Risk-free interest rate 0.8% 0.7%
Expected volatility 91.2% 89.8%
Expected life 5.0 years 4.9 years
Expected dividends $ — $ —
Weighted average fair value per
share $ 2.45 $ 3.04
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Commitments and
Contingencies (Details) (USD

$)
In Millions, unless otherwise

specified

Aug. 03, 2013

Commitments and Contingencies Disclosure [Abstract]
Future minimum operating lease payments remaining $ 383.4
Non-cancelable inventory purchase commitments $ 125.5
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6 Months EndedReceivables (Details) (USD
$)

In Thousands, unless
otherwise specified

Aug. 03,
2013

Feb. 02,
2013

Jul. 28,
2012

Aug. 03, 2013
Minimum
[Member]

Aug. 03, 2013
Maximum
[Member]

Accounts, Notes, Loans and Financing
Receivable [Line Items]
Credit card receivables $ 3,793 $ 2,928 $ 4,513
Tenant allowances 1,281 484 920
Other 1,190 1,738 1,143
Accounts receivable, net 6,264 5,150 6,576
Credit card receivables, days converted to cash 2 days 3 days
Allowance for doubtful accounts receivable,
current $ 0 $ 0 $ 0
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3 Months EndedDebt and Capital Lease
Obligations Debt Covenants

(Details) (USD $)
In Millions, unless otherwise

specified

Aug. 03, 2013

Debt Disclosure [Abstract]
Debt covenant, inventory $ 95.0
Debt covenant, liquidity $ 15.0
Debt covenant, minimum excess availability 15.00%
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3 Months Ended 6 Months EndedSegment Reporting (Details)
(USD $) Aug. 03, 2013 Jul. 28, 2012 Aug. 03, 2013 Jul. 28, 2012

Segment Reporting Information [Line
Items]
Net sales $

149,702,000
[1] $

163,690,000
[1] $

305,431,000
[1] $

333,574,000
[1]

Income (loss) from operations (18,522,000) (17,154,000) (35,920,000) (40,282,000)
Operating Segments [Member]
Segment Reporting Information [Line
Items]
Income (loss) from operations 6,124,000 8,196,000 14,197,000 13,908,000
Retail [Member]
Segment Reporting Information [Line
Items]
Net sales 118,644,000 [1] 129,939,000 [1] 236,398,000 [1] 261,141,000 [1]

Income (loss) from operations 1,124,000 4,486,000 1,511,000 5,409,000
Direct [Member]
Segment Reporting Information [Line
Items]
Net sales 31,058,000 [1] 33,751,000 [1] 69,033,000 [1] 72,433,000 [1]

Income (loss) from operations 5,000,000 3,710,000 12,686,000 8,499,000
Corporate and Other [Member]
Segment Reporting Information [Line
Items]
Income (loss) from operations (24,646,000) (25,350,000) (50,117,000) (54,190,000)
Intersegment Eliminations [Member]
Segment Reporting Information [Line
Items]
Intersegment sales $ 0 $ 0
[1] There were no sales between the retail and direct segments during the reported periods.
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Significant Accounting
Policies Fair Value (Details)

(USD $)
In Millions, except Share

data, unless otherwise
specified

Aug.
03,

2013

Feb.
02,

2013

Jul.
28,

2012

Aug. 03, 2013
Fair Value, Inputs,
Level 3 [Member]

Recurring
[Member]

Jul. 09, 2012
Series A

Preferred Stock
[Member]

Fair Value, Assets and Liabilities Measured on
Recurring and Nonrecurring Basis [Line Items]
Preferred stock, shares outstanding (in shares) 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000
Long-term debt, fair value $ 62.5
Long-term debt $ 56.5
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0
Months
Ended

Stockholders' Equity
(Details) (USD $) Oct.

04,
2012

Aug. 03,
2013

Feb. 02,
2013

Jul. 28,
2012

Oct. 03,
2012

Common
Stock

Outstanding
Before

Reverse
Stock Split
[Member]

Oct. 04,
2012

Common
Stock

Outstanding
After

Reverse
Stock Split
[Member]

Jul. 09,
2012

Series A
Preferred

Stock
[Member]

Aug. 03,
2013
Fair

Value,
Inputs,
Level 3

[Member]
Recurring
[Member]
Series A

Preferred
Stock

[Member]

Feb. 02,
2013
Fair

Value,
Inputs,
Level 3

[Member]
Recurring
[Member]
Series A

Preferred
Stock

[Member]

Jul. 28,
2012
Fair

Value,
Inputs,
Level 3

[Member]
Recurring
[Member]
Series A

Preferred
Stock

[Member]
Class of Stock [Line Items]
Reverse stock split ratio 0.25
Common stock, shares
outstanding (in shares) 30,613,00030,531,00030,493,000122,000,000 30,500,000

Preferred stock, shares
outstanding (in shares) 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000

Class of warrant or right,
outstanding (in shares) 6,100,000

Conversion exercise price per
share (in dollars per share) $ 3.40 $ 3.40 $ 3.40
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6 Months EndedNet Income (Loss) Per
Common Share (Tables) Aug. 03, 2013

Earnings Per Share [Abstract]
Schedule of basic and diluted net
loss per common share

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net loss per common
share (retroactively adjusted to reflect the Reverse Stock Split):

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

August 3,
2013

July 28,
2012

August 3,
2013

July 28,
2012

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Net loss $ (16,443) $ (17,558) $ (35,798) $ (41,318)
Weighted average common shares

outstanding during the period (for
basic calculation) 30,583 30,452 30,560 30,440

Dilutive effect of other potential
common shares — — — —
Weighted average common shares

and potential common shares (for
diluted calculation) 30,583 30,452 30,560 30,440

Net loss per common share—Basic $ (0.54) $ (0.58) $ (1.17) $ (1.36)

Net loss per common share—Diluted $ (0.54) $ (0.58) $ (1.17) $ (1.36)
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6 Months EndedNature of Business and
Organizational Structure Aug. 03, 2013

Organization, Consolidation
and Presentation of
Financial Statements
[Abstract]
Nature of Business and
Organizational Structure

Nature of Business and Organizational Structure

Coldwater Creek Inc., a Delaware corporation, together with its wholly-owned subsidiaries,
headquartered in Sandpoint, Idaho, is a multi-channel specialty retailer of women's apparel,
jewelry and accessories. We conduct business in two operating segments: retail and direct. The
retail segment consists of our premium retail stores, factory stores and day spas. The direct
segment consists of sales generated through our e-commerce website and mobile applications as
well as orders taken from customers over the phone and through the mail.

The accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements are unaudited and have been
prepared by management pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission (the "SEC"). Certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in our
annual consolidated financial statements have been condensed or omitted. The condensed
consolidated balance sheet as of February 2, 2013 was derived from the audited consolidated
balance sheet as of that date. The condensed consolidated financial statements, in the opinion of
management, reflect all normal recurring adjustments necessary to present fairly the financial
position, results of operations and cash flows for the interim periods presented and should be read
in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and related notes in our Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended February 2, 2013.

On October 4, 2012, we effected a reverse stock split of the Company's common stock following
stockholder approval (the "Reverse Stock Split"). As a result of the split, every four shares of
common stock outstanding were consolidated into one share. Certain prior period share and per
share information in this Form 10-Q has been retroactively adjusted to reflect the Reverse Stock
Split.

The condensed consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows for these
interim periods are not necessarily indicative of the financial position, results of operations or
cash flows to be realized in future periods.
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6 Months EndedReceivables Aug. 03, 2013
Receivables [Abstract]
Receivables Receivables

Receivables consisted of the following:

August 3,
2013

February 2,
2013

July 28,
2012

(in thousands)

Credit card receivables $ 3,793 $ 2,928 $ 4,513
Tenant allowances 1,281 484 920
Other 1,190 1,738 1,143

$ 6,264 $ 5,150 $ 6,576

Credit card receivables do not bear interest and are generally converted to cash in two to three
days. We evaluate the credit risk associated with our receivables to determine if an allowance for
doubtful accounts is necessary. As of August 3, 2013, February 2, 2013 and July 28, 2012, no
allowance for doubtful accounts was deemed necessary.
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6 Months EndedDebt and Capital Lease
Obligations Aug. 03, 2013

Debt Disclosure [Abstract]
Debt and capital lease
obligations

Debt and Capital Lease Obligations

Debt and capital lease obligations consisted of the following:

August 3,
2013

February 2,
2013

July 28,
2012

(in thousands)

Secured term loan, including accrued PIK interest due
at maturity $ 70,464 $ 67,866 $ 65,271
Revolving line of credit 15,000 — —
Capital lease obligations 11,634 11,901 12,163
Total debt and capital lease obligations 97,098 79,767 77,434
Less:

Secured term loan discount (13,920) (15,406) (16,892)
Current maturities of debt (15,000) — —
Current maturities of capital lease obligations (710) (577) (544)

Long-term debt and capital lease obligations $ 67,468 $ 63,784 $ 59,998

On July 9, 2012, we obtained a five-year, $65.0 million senior secured term loan (the "Secured
Term Loan") provided by an affiliate of Golden Gate Capital. The Secured Term Loan bears
interest at a rate of 5.5% to be paid in cash quarterly and 7.5% due and payable in kind ("PIK")
upon maturity. The Secured Term Loan is collateralized by a second lien on our inventory and
credit card receivables, and a first lien on our remaining assets. The Secured Term Loan is
scheduled to mature upon the earlier of July 9, 2017 or the date that the obligations under the
Amended and Restated Credit Agreement with Wells Fargo Bank dated May 16, 2011 (the
"Credit Agreement") mature or are accelerated. Upon maturity of the Secured Term Loan, the
principal balance and any unpaid interest, including $29.8 million of PIK interest, will become
due and payable. As of August 3, 2013, $5.5 million of PIK interest has been accrued. Also on
July 9, 2012 in conjunction with the Secured Term Loan, we issued 1,000 shares of Series A
Preferred Stock and the initial fair value of $15.7 million was recorded as a discount to the
Secured Term Loan. This discount is being amortized to interest expense based on the effective
interest rate method.

In May 2011, we entered into the Credit Agreement with a maturity date of May 16, 2016, which
is secured primarily by our inventory, credit card receivables and certain other assets. The Credit
Agreement provides a revolving line of credit of up to $70.0 million, with subfacilities for the
issuance of up to $70.0 million in letters of credit and swingline advances of up to $10.0 million.
The amount of credit that is available under the revolving line of credit is limited to a borrowing
base that is determined according to, among other things, a percentage of the value of eligible
inventory and credit card receivables, as reduced by certain reserve amounts required by Wells
Fargo Bank. The actual amount that is available under our revolving line of credit fluctuates due
to factors including, but not limited to, eligible inventory and credit card receivables, reserve
amounts, outstanding letters of credit, and borrowing under our revolving line of credit.
Consequently, it is possible that should we need to access any additional funds from our
revolving line of credit, it may not be available in full. We have had continuing significant
operating losses and, if our future operating performance is significantly below our expectations
or our revolving line of credit is not fully available to us, our liquidity could be adversely
impacted and it may be necessary to seek additional sources of liquidity. Additional actions may
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include further reducing our expenditures, curtailing our operations, significantly restructuring
our business, or restructuring our debt. In connection with the closing of the Secured Term Loan,
we amended the Credit Agreement and repaid the separate term loan previously provided by
Wells Fargo Bank. The amendment did not materially change the terms of the Credit Agreement.
As of August 3, 2013, the revolving line of credit was limited to a borrowing base of $64.0
million with $15.0 million in borrowings and $5.8 million in letters of credit issued, resulting in
$43.2 million available for borrowing under our revolving line of credit.

Pursuant to the Credit Agreement, borrowings issued under the revolving line of credit will
generally accrue interest at a rate ranging from 1.00% to 2.50% (determined according to the
average unused availability under the credit facility (the "Availability")) over a reference rate of,
at our election, either LIBOR or a base rate (the "Reference Rate") with an interest rate of 2.25%
as of August 3, 2013. Letters of credit issued under the revolving line of credit will accrue interest
at a rate ranging from 1.50% to 2.50% (determined according to the Availability) with an interest
rate of 2.00% as of August 3, 2013. Commitment fees accrue at a rate ranging from 0.375% to
0.50% (determined according to the Availability), which is assessed on the average unused
portion of the credit facility maximum amount.

Both the Secured Term Loan and Credit Agreement have restrictive covenants that subject us to
capital expenditure limitations based on our approved annual plan, maintaining a minimum of
$95.0 million of inventory, and maintaining a minimum of $15.0 million of liquidity and a
minimum excess availability of 15 percent of our borrowing base, as defined in the Credit
Agreement. The Secured Term Loan and Credit Agreement also contain various covenants
relating to customary matters, such as indebtedness, liens, investments, acquisitions, mergers,
dispositions, dividends and other various conditions. Our current plan to close up to 45 stores
under our store optimization program and the related transfer or disposition of store assets is not
limited by our Secured Term Loan or Credit Agreement. We were in compliance with all
covenants for all periods presented.

Both the Secured Term Loan and Credit Agreement contain customary events of default. Upon an
event of default that is not cured or waived within any applicable cure periods, in addition to
other remedies that may be available to the lenders, the obligations may be accelerated,
outstanding letters of credit may be required to be cash collateralized and remedies may be
exercised against the collateral.
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6 Months EndedProperty and Equipment,
net Aug. 03, 2013

Property, Plant and Equipment
[Abstract]
Property and Equipment, net Property and Equipment, net

Property and equipment, net, consisted of the following:

August 3,
2013

February 2,
2013

July 28,
2012

(in thousands)

Land $ 221 $ 242 $ 242
Building and land improvements 29,634 29,655 29,656
Leasehold improvements 254,607 258,765 264,213
Furniture and fixtures 113,810 114,709 117,227
Technology hardware and software 92,207 89,992 90,406
Machinery and equipment and other 33,616 34,341 35,009
Capital leases 12,805 12,805 12,805
Construction in progress 16,792 16,480 16,613

553,692 556,989 566,171
Less — Accumulated depreciation and
amortization (400,985) (387,982) (376,011)

$ 152,707 $ 169,007 $ 190,160
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Debt and Capital Lease
Obligations Store

Optimization Program
(Details)

Aug. 03, 2013
Stores

Store Optimization Program [Abstract]
Number of planned store closures 45
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6 Months EndedCo-Branded Credit Card
Program (Tables) Aug. 03, 2013

Deferred Revenue [Abstract]
Deferred credit card revenue activity The deferred credit card revenue activity was as follows:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

August 3,
2013

July 28,
2012

August 3,
2013

July 28,
2012

(in thousands)

Balance at beginning of period $ 7,063 $ 8,148 $ 7,752 $ 8,800
Incentive payment received 11,500 — 11,500 —
Marketing fees received 890 996 1,756 1,859
Revenue sharing received 9,782 2,946 9,782 2,946
Marketing fees recognized to
revenue (1,071) (1,117) (2,188) (2,192)
Revenue sharing recognized to
revenue (5,580) (2,089) (6,018) (2,529)
Balance at end of period 22,584 8,884 22,584 8,884
Less — Current deferred credit card

revenue (8,167) (5,590) (8,167) (5,590)
Long-term deferred credit card
revenue $ 14,417 $ 3,294 $ 14,417 $ 3,294
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6 Months Ended 12 Months
Ended

Significant Accounting
Policies Derivative Liability

Significant Assumptions
(Details) (Series A Preferred
Stock [Member], Recurring

[Member], Fair Value,
Inputs, Level 3 [Member],

USD $)

Aug. 03, 2013 Jul. 28,
2012 Feb. 02, 2013

Series A Preferred Stock [Member] | Recurring [Member] | Fair
Value, Inputs, Level 3 [Member]
Derivative Assumptions [Line Items]
Closing price of Company's common stock (in dollars per share) $ 2.66 $ 2.64 $ 3.69
Conversion exercise price per share (in dollars per share) $ 3.40 $ 3.40 $ 3.40
Risk free interest rate 2.40% 1.60% 1.90%
Expected volatility 77.40% 89.30% 84.90%
Expected life (in years) 8 years 11

months 9 days 10 years 9 years 5
months 7 days

Expected dividend payments (in dollars per share) $ 0 $ 0 $ 0
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Debt and Capital Lease
Obligations Debt and capital

lease obligations (Details)
(USD $)

In Thousands, unless
otherwise specified

Aug. 03, 2013 Feb. 02, 2013 Jul. 28, 2012

Debt Disclosure [Abstract]
Secured debt $ 70,464 $ 67,866 $ 65,271
Revolving line of credit outstanding, amount 15,000 0 0
Capital lease obligations 11,634 11,901 12,163
Total debt and capital lease obligations 97,098 79,767 77,434
Debt instrument, unamortized discount (13,920) (15,406) (16,892)
Current maturities of debt (15,000) 0 0
Current maturities of capital lease obligations (710) (577) (544)
Long-term debt and capital lease obligations $ 67,468 $ 63,784 $ 59,998
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3 Months Ended 6 Months EndedSupplemental Executive
Retirement Plan (Details)

(USD $)
Aug. 03,

2013
Jul. 28,

2012
Aug. 03,

2013
Jul. 28,

2012
Pension and Other Postretirement Benefit Expense
[Abstract]
Interest cost $ 114,000 $ 138,000 $ 227,000 $ 276,000
Amortization of unrecognized net actuarial loss 0 9,000 0 18,000
Net periodic benefit cost 114,000 147,000 227,000 294,000
Payments made under benefit plan $ 355,000 $ 83,000
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CONDENSED
CONSOLIDATED

BALANCE SHEETS
(Parenthetical) (USD $)

In Thousands, except Per
Share data, unless otherwise

specified

Aug. 03, 2013 Feb. 02, 2013 Jul. 28, 2012

Statement of Financial Position [Abstract]
Preferred stock, par value (in dollars per share) $ 0.01 $ 0.01 $ 0.01
Preferred stock, shares authorized (in shares) 1,000 1,000 1,000
Preferred stock, shares outstanding (in shares) 1 1 1
Common stock, par value (in dollars per share) $ 0.01 $ 0.01 $ 0.01
Common stock, shares authorized (in shares) 75,000 75,000 75,000
Common stock, shares outstanding (in shares) 30,613 30,531 30,493
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6 Months EndedStock-Based Compensation
Stock-Based Compensation Aug. 03, 2013

Disclosure of Compensation
Related Costs, Share-based
Payments [Abstract]
Disclosure of compensation
related costs, share-based
payments

Stock-Based Compensation

Total stock-based compensation recognized primarily in selling, general and administrative
expenses from stock options and RSUs consisted of the following:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

August 3,
2013

July 28,
2012

August 3,
2013

July 28,
2012

(in thousands)

Stock options $ 238 $ 315 $ 451 $ 545
RSUs 312 206 731 324

$ 550 $ 521 $ 1,182 $ 869

All share and per share information has been retroactively adjusted to reflect the Reverse Stock
Split.

During the six months ended August 3, 2013 and July 28, 2012, employees were granted 109,000
and 271,575 stock options, respectively. The fair value of stock option awards was estimated at
the grant date using the Black-Scholes option valuation model with the following weighted
average assumptions:

Six Months Ended

August 3,
2013

July 28,
2012

Risk-free interest rate 0.8% 0.7%
Expected volatility 91.2% 89.8%
Expected life 5.0 years 4.9 years
Expected dividends $ — $ —
Weighted average fair value per share $ 2.45 $ 3.04

During the six months ended August 3, 2013 and July 28, 2012, employees were granted 786,458
and 140,274 RSUs, respectively, at a weighted average fair value of $3.01 and $4.15,
respectively. During the six months ended July 28, 2012, employees were also granted 123,500
performance RSUs at a weighted average grant date fair value of $4.64. For the performance
RSUs granted during the six months ended July 28, 2012, half of the RSUs are subject to the
achievement of combined operating income targets for fiscal years 2012, 2013 and 2014, and half
of the RSUs are subject to the achievement of sales targets for fiscal years 2012, 2013 and
2014. The number of shares actually awarded under performance RSUs will range from 0% to
200% of the base award amount, depending on the results during the performance period.
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6 Months EndedCONDENSED
CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENTS OF CASH
FLOWS (USD $)

In Thousands, unless
otherwise specified

Aug. 03, 2013 Jul. 28, 2012

Operating activities:
Net loss $ (35,798) $ (41,318)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 21,794 26,580
Non-cash interest expense 4,597 777
Stock-based compensation expense 1,182 869
Supplemental executive retirement plan expense 227 294
Deferred marketing fees and revenue sharing 14,832 84
Deferred rents (12,509) (9,159)
Gain on derivative liability (6,558) (2,349)
Series A Preferred Stock issuance costs 0 1,070
Net loss on asset dispositions and other termination charges 1,082 1,320
Other (383) (146)
Net change in operating assets and liabilities:
Receivables (1,114) 1,055
Inventories 1,329 (1,640)
Prepaid and other current assets (830) (4,444)
Accounts payable 2,490 10,891
Accrued liabilities (4,810) (9,067)
Net cash used in operating activities (14,469) (25,183)
Investing activities:
Purchase of property and equipment (4,789) (9,784)
Proceeds from asset dispositions 15 0
Net cash used in investing activities (4,774) (9,784)
Financing activities:
Borrowings on revolving line of credit 18,000 10,000
Payments on revolving line of credit (3,000) (25,000)
Proceeds from the issuance of long-term debt 0 65,000
Payments of long-term debt and capital lease obligations (273) (15,177)
Payment of debt and Series A Preferred Stock issuance costs 0 (5,809)
Other 53 105
Net cash provided by financing activities 14,780 29,119
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (4,463) (5,848)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning 21,734 51,365
Cash and cash equivalents, ending 17,271 45,517
Supplemental Cash Flow Data:
Interest paid, net of amount capitalized 2,611 1,511
Income taxes paid (refunded), net $ (450) $ 3,187
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CONDENSED
CONSOLIDATED

BALANCE SHEETS (USD
$)

In Thousands, unless
otherwise specified

Aug. 03,
2013

Feb. 02,
2013

Jul. 28,
2012

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 17,271 $ 21,734 $ 45,517
Receivables 6,264 5,150 6,576
Inventories 123,878 125,207 133,615
Prepaid and other current assets 17,758 17,072 13,634
Deferred income taxes 1,184 1,252 2,313
Total current assets 166,355 170,415 201,655
Property and equipment, net 152,707 169,007 190,160
Deferred income taxes 2,108 2,112 1,884
Other assets 3,927 4,374 4,983
Total assets 325,097 345,908 398,682
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable 62,128 57,891 67,992
Accrued liabilities 78,759 87,915 83,178
Current maturities of debt and capital lease obligations 15,710 577 544
Total current liabilities 156,597 146,383 151,714
Deferred rents 71,694 82,726 92,665
Long-term debt and capital lease obligations 67,468 63,784 59,998
Supplemental executive retirement plan 10,883 10,994 12,335
Deferred income taxes 636 699 1,716
Other liabilities 15,368 4,186 4,384
Total liabilities 322,646 308,772 322,812
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders' equity:
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 1,000 shares authorized; 1, 1 and 1 shares
issued, respectively 0 0 0

Common stock, $0.01 par value, 75,000 shares authorized; 30,613, 30,531 and
30,493 shares issued, respectively 306 305 304

Additional paid-in capital 154,258 153,146 152,011
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (1,532) (1,532) (2,186)
Retained earnings (accumulated deficit) (150,581) (114,783) (74,259)
Total stockholders' equity 2,451 37,136 75,870
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $ 325,097 $ 345,908 $

398,682
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6 Months EndedSegment Reporting (Tables) Aug. 03, 2013
Segment Reporting
[Abstract]
Financial data for the retail
and direct segments

The following table provides certain financial data for the retail and direct segments as well as
reconciliations to the condensed consolidated financial statements:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

August 3,
2013

July 28,
2012

August 3,
2013

July 28,
2012

(in thousands)

Net sales (a):
Retail $ 118,644 $ 129,939 $ 236,398 $ 261,141
Direct 31,058 33,751 69,033 72,433

Net sales $ 149,702 $ 163,690 $ 305,431 $ 333,574
Segment operating income (loss):

Retail $ 1,124 $ 4,486 $ 1,511 $ 5,409
Direct 5,000 3,710 12,686 8,499

Total segment operating income 6,124 8,196 14,197 13,908
Unallocated corporate and other (24,646) (25,350) (50,117) (54,190)

Loss from operations $ (18,522) $ (17,154) $ (35,920) $ (40,282)

____________________________________________________________

(a) There were no sales between the retail and direct segments during the reported periods.
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6 Months EndedAccrued Liabilities (Tables) Aug. 03, 2013
Accrued Liabilities, Current [Abstract]
Schedule of accrued liabilities Accrued liabilities consisted of the following:

August 3,
2013

February 2,
2013

July 28,
2012

(in thousands)

Accrued payroll and benefits $ 11,413 $ 12,356 $ 14,978
Gift cards and certificates 14,151 18,427 15,842
Derivative liability 12,125 18,683 13,395
Current portion of deferred rents 22,232 20,756 20,825
Current portion of deferred credit card
revenue 8,167 4,484 5,590
Deferred sales royalty 2,819 3,106 3,346
Accrued sales returns 2,805 3,738 2,923
Accrued taxes 2,975 4,200 4,071
Other 2,072 2,165 2,208

$ 78,759 $ 87,915 $ 83,178
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3 Months Ended 6 Months EndedStock-Based Compensation
(Details) (USD $) Aug. 03,

2013
Jul. 28,

2012
Aug. 03,

2013 Jul. 28, 2012

Share-based Compensation Arrangement by Share-based
Payment Award [Line Items]
Stock-based compensation expense $ 550,000 $

521,000
$
1,182,000 $ 869,000

Minimum [Member]
Share-based Compensation Arrangement by Share-based
Payment Award [Line Items]
Shares awarded as a percentage of base award amount 0.00%
Maximum [Member]
Share-based Compensation Arrangement by Share-based
Payment Award [Line Items]
Shares awarded as a percentage of base award amount 200.00%
Stock Options [Member]
Share-based Compensation Arrangement by Share-based
Payment Award [Line Items]
Stock-based compensation expense 238,000 315,000 451,000 545,000
Options granted in period (in shares) 109,000 271,575
Risk free interest rate 0.80% 0.70%
Expected volatility 91.20% 89.80%
Expected life (in years) 5 years 0

days
4 years 11 months
11 days

Expected dividend payments 0 0
Weighted average fair value per option (in dollars per share) $ 2.45 $ 3.04
Restricted Stock Units (RSUs) [Member]
Share-based Compensation Arrangement by Share-based
Payment Award [Line Items]
Stock-based compensation expense $ 312,000 $

206,000 $ 731,000 $ 324,000

Awards granted in period (in shares) 786,458 140,274
Weighted average fair value per award (in dollars per share) $ 3.01 $ 4.15
PSUs with performance period of FYs 2012-2014 [Member]
Share-based Compensation Arrangement by Share-based
Payment Award [Line Items]
Awards granted in period (in shares) 123,500
Weighted average fair value per award (in dollars per share) $ 4.64
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6 Months Ended

Debt and Capital Lease
Obligations Credit

Agreement (Details) (USD $)
Aug. 03,

2013

Feb.
02,

2013

Jul.
28,

2012

Aug. 03,
2013

Line of
Credit

[Member]

Aug. 03, 2013
Letter of
Credit

[Member]

Aug. 03,
2013

Minimum
[Member]

Aug. 03,
2013

Maximum
[Member]

Line of Credit Facility [Line
Items]
Maximum borrowing capacity
under line of credit

$
70,000,000

Line of credit facility, swingline
advances 10,000,000

Current borrowing base 64,000,000
Revolving line of credit
outstanding, amount 15,000,0000 0

Letters of credit outstanding,
amount 5,800,000

Remaining borrowing capacity $
43,200,000

Additional interest rate above
LIBOR or reference rate range 1.00% 2.50%

Letters of credit interest rate
range 1.50% 2.50%

Interest rate at the end of the
period 2.25% 2.00%

Line of credit, commitment fee
percentage range 0.375% 0.50%
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Property and Equipment,
net (Details) (USD $)
In Thousands, unless
otherwise specified

Aug. 03, 2013 Feb. 02, 2013 Jul. 28, 2012

Property, Plant and Equipment [Line Items]
Property, plant and equipment, gross $ 553,692 $ 556,989 $ 566,171
Less - Accumulated depreciation and amortization (400,985) (387,982) (376,011)
Property and equipment, net 152,707 169,007 190,160
Land [Member]
Property, Plant and Equipment [Line Items]
Property, plant and equipment, gross 221 242 242
Buildings and Land Improvements [Member]
Property, Plant and Equipment [Line Items]
Property, plant and equipment, gross 29,634 29,655 29,656
Leasehold Improvements [Member]
Property, Plant and Equipment [Line Items]
Property, plant and equipment, gross 254,607 258,765 264,213
Furniture and Fixtures [Member]
Property, Plant and Equipment [Line Items]
Property, plant and equipment, gross 113,810 114,709 117,227
Technology Hardware and Software [Member]
Property, Plant and Equipment [Line Items]
Property, plant and equipment, gross 92,207 89,992 90,406
Machinery and Equipment and Other [Member]
Property, Plant and Equipment [Line Items]
Property, plant and equipment, gross 33,616 34,341 35,009
Capital Leases [Member]
Property, Plant and Equipment [Line Items]
Property, plant and equipment, gross 12,805 12,805 12,805
Construction in Progress [Member]
Property, Plant and Equipment [Line Items]
Property, plant and equipment, gross $ 16,792 $ 16,480 $ 16,613
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3 Months EndedAccrued Liabilities (Details)
(USD $)

In Thousands, unless
otherwise specified

Aug. 03, 2013 Feb. 02, 2013 Jul. 28, 2012

Accrued payroll and benefits $ 11,413 $ 12,356 $ 14,978
Gift cards and certificates 14,151 18,427 15,842
Derivative liability 12,125 18,683 13,395
Current portion of deferred rents 22,232 20,756 20,825
Deferred revenue, current 8,167 5,590
Accrued sales returns 2,805 3,738 2,923
Accrued taxes 2,975 4,200 4,071
Other 2,072 2,165 2,208
Accrued liabilities 78,759 87,915 83,178
Deferred Credit Card Revenue [Member]
Deferred revenue, current 8,167 4,484 5,590
Deferred Sales Royalty [Member]
Deferred revenue, current $ 2,819 $ 3,106 $ 3,346
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6 Months EndedStockholders' Equity Aug. 03, 2013
Stockholders' Equity
Attributable to Parent
[Abstract]
Stockholders' equity Stockholders' Equity

Reverse Stock Split

On October 4, 2012, we effected a reverse stock split of the Company's common stock following
stockholder approval. As a result of the split, every four shares of common stock outstanding
were consolidated into one share, reducing the number of common shares outstanding on the
effective date from 122.0 million shares to 30.5 million shares. The shares of Series A Preferred
Stock outstanding remained the same. However, the number of shares of common stock each
share of Series A Preferred Stock is convertible into and the related exercise price has been
adjusted proportionally. The Reverse Stock Split did not affect the registration of our common
stock under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the listing of our common stock
under the symbol "CWTR." Our stockholders' equity has been retroactively adjusted to reflect the
Reverse Stock Split for all periods presented by reducing common stock and increasing additional
paid-in capital, with no change to stockholders' equity in the aggregate. Certain prior period share
and per share information in this Form 10-Q has been retroactively adjusted to reflect the Reverse
Stock Split.

Series A Preferred Stock

On July 9, 2012 in conjunction with the Secured Term Loan, we issued 1,000 shares of Series A
Preferred Stock to an affiliate of Golden Gate Capital which gives that affiliate the right to
purchase up to 6.1 million shares of our common stock through July 9, 2022. Shares of Series A
Preferred Stock have an initial exercise price of $3.40 per share of underlying common stock. The
Series A Preferred Stock is considered a derivative liability due to the net settlement features and
is included in accrued liabilities.
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0 Months
Ended

6 Months
EndedNature of Business and

Organizational Structure
(Details) Oct. 04, 2012 Aug. 03, 2013

Segments
Organization, Consolidation and Presentation of Financial Statements
[Abstract]
Number of operating segments 2
Reverse stock split ratio 0.25
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3 Months Ended 6 Months EndedNet Income (Loss) Per
Common Share (Details)

(USD $)
In Thousands, except Share

data, unless otherwise
specified

Aug. 03,
2013

Jul. 28,
2012

Aug. 03,
2013

Jul. 28,
2012

Earnings Per Share [Abstract]
Net loss $ (16,443) $ (17,558) $ (35,798) $ (41,318)
Weighted average common shares outstanding during the period
(for basic calculation) (in shares) 30,583,00030,452,00030,560,00030,440,000

Dilutive effect of other potential common shares (in shares) 0 0 0 0
Weighted average common shares and potential common shares
(for diluted calculation) (in shares) 30,583,00030,452,00030,560,00030,440,000

Net loss per share - Basic (in dollars per share) $ (0.54) $ (0.58) $ (1.17) $ (1.36)
Net loss per share - Diluted (in dollars per share) $ (0.54) $ (0.58) $ (1.17) $ (1.36)
Stock options, RSUs and shares to be purchased under our ESPP
excluded from computation of earnings per share, amount (in
shares)

2,400,000 1,400,000 2,200,000 1,300,000
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6 Months EndedCommitments and
Contingencies Aug. 03, 2013

Commitments and
Contingencies Disclosure
[Abstract]
Commitments and
contingencies

Commitments and Contingencies

Operating Leases

As of August 3, 2013, our minimum operating lease payment requirements, which include the
predetermined fixed escalations of the minimum rentals and exclude contingent rental payments,
common area maintenance costs ("CAM"), real estate taxes, and the amortization of lease
incentives for our operating leases, totaled $383.4 million.

Legal Proceedings

We are, from time to time, involved in various legal proceedings incidental to the conduct of
business. Actions filed against us from time to time include commercial, intellectual property
infringement, customer and employment claims, including class action lawsuits alleging that we
violated federal and state wage and hour and other laws. We believe that we have meritorious
defenses to all lawsuits and legal proceedings currently pending against us. Though we will
continue to vigorously defend such lawsuits and legal proceedings, we are unable to predict with
certainty whether or not we will ultimately be successful. However, based on management's
evaluation, we believe that the resolution of these matters, taking into account existing
contingency accruals and the availability of insurance and other indemnifications, will not
materially impact our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

Tax Contingencies

Our multi-channel business model subjects us to state and local taxes in numerous jurisdictions,
including franchise, and sales and use tax. We collect these taxes in jurisdictions in which we
have a physical presence. While we believe we have paid or accrued for all taxes based on our
interpretation of applicable law, tax laws are complex and interpretations differ from state to state.
In the past, we have been assessed additional taxes and penalties by various taxing jurisdictions,
asserting either an error in our calculation or an interpretation of the law that differed from our
own. It is possible that taxing authorities may make additional assessments in the future. In
addition to taxes, penalties and interest, these assessments could cause us to incur legal fees
associated with resolving disputes with taxing authorities.

Additionally, changes in state and local tax laws, such as temporary changes associated with "tax
holidays" and other programs, require us to make continual changes to our collection and
reporting systems that may relate to only one taxing jurisdiction. If we fail to update our
collection and reporting systems in response to these changes, any over collection or under
collection of sales taxes could subject us to interest and penalties, as well as private lawsuits and
damage to our reputation. In the opinion of management, resolutions of these matters will not
have a material impact on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

Other

As of August 3, 2013, we had non-cancelable inventory purchase commitments of $125.5
million.
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6 Months EndedNet Income (Loss) Per
Common Share Aug. 03, 2013

Earnings Per Share
[Abstract]
Net income (loss) per common
share

Net Income (Loss) Per Common Share

Basic net income (loss) per common share is computed by dividing net income (loss) by the
weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted net income
per common share is computed by dividing net income by the combination of other potentially
dilutive common shares and the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during
the period. Other potentially dilutive weighted average common shares include the dilutive effect
of shares of Series A Preferred Stock, stock options, restricted stock units ("RSUs") and shares to
be purchased under our Employee Stock Purchase Plan ("ESPP") for each period using the
treasury stock method. Under the treasury stock method, the exercise price of a share, the amount
of compensation expense, if any, for future service that has not yet been recognized, and the
amount of excess tax benefits, if any, that would be recorded in additional paid-in-capital when
the share is exercised are assumed to be used to repurchase shares in the current period.

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net loss per common share
(retroactively adjusted to reflect the Reverse Stock Split):

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

August 3,
2013

July 28,
2012

August 3,
2013

July 28,
2012

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Net loss $ (16,443) $ (17,558) $ (35,798) $ (41,318)
Weighted average common shares

outstanding during the period (for
basic calculation) 30,583 30,452 30,560 30,440

Dilutive effect of other potential
common shares — — — —
Weighted average common shares and

potential common shares (for
diluted calculation) 30,583 30,452 30,560 30,440

Net loss per common share—Basic $ (0.54) $ (0.58) $ (1.17) $ (1.36)

Net loss per common share—Diluted $ (0.54) $ (0.58) $ (1.17) $ (1.36)

During the three months ended August 3, 2013 and July 28, 2012, 2.4 million and 1.4 million,
respectively, of stock options, RSUs and shares to be purchased under our ESPP were outstanding
but were excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per share because the effect would be
antidilutive. During the six months ended August 3, 2013 and July 28, 2012, 2.2 million and 1.3
million, respectively, of stock options, RSUs and shares to be purchased under our ESPP were
outstanding but were excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per share because the
effect would be antidilutive. The conversion rights available to outstanding shares of Series A
Preferred Stock were also excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per share because the
effect would be antidilutive.
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6 Months EndedSignificant Accounting
Policies Aug. 03, 2013

Accounting Policies
[Abstract]
Significant Accounting
Policies

Significant Accounting Policies

Accounting Policies

The complete summary of significant accounting policies is included in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements as presented in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended February 2, 2013.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Coldwater Creek Inc. and its
wholly-owned subsidiaries. Intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated.

Fiscal Periods

References to a fiscal year refer to the calendar year in which the fiscal year begins. Our fiscal
year ends on the Saturday nearest January 31st.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of condensed consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts and timing of revenue and expenses, the reported
amounts and classification of assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities. These estimates and assumptions are embodied in our sales returns accrual, gift card
breakage, inventory adjustments, derivative liability, stock-based compensation, impairment of
long-lived assets, contingent liabilities and income taxes. These estimates and assumptions are
based on historical results as well as management's future expectations. Actual results may vary
from these estimates and assumptions.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

Accumulated other comprehensive loss is made up entirely of unrecognized net actuarial loss, net
of tax, for the Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (the "SERP"). See Note 10. Supplemental
Executive Retirement Plan, for amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss
to net periodic benefit costs due to the amortization of net actuarial loss to selling, general and
administrative expenses.

Fair Value

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Assets
and liabilities recorded at fair value are categorized using defined hierarchical levels related to the
subjectivity associated with the inputs to fair value measurements as follows:

• Level 1 — Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

• Level 2 — Quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets or inputs that
are observable; and

• Level 3 — Unobservable inputs in which little or no market activity exists.
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On July 9, 2012, as disclosed in Note 8, we issued 1,000 shares of Series A Preferred Stock. The
fair value of the Series A Preferred Stock is recorded as a derivative liability and is measured on a
recurring basis at fair value with Level 3 inputs using the Black-Scholes option valuation model
with the following inputs (retroactively adjusted to reflect the Reverse Stock Split):

August 3,
2013

February 2,
2013

July 28,
2012

Closing price of Company's common
stock $ 2.66 $ 3.69 $ 2.64
Exercise price $ 3.40 $ 3.40 $ 3.40
Risk-free interest rate 2.4% 1.9% 1.6%
Expected volatility 77.4% 84.9% 89.3%
Expected life 8.9 years 9.4 years 10.0 years
Expected dividends $ — $ — $ —

The valuation model and the assumptions used in the model were determined based on the Series
A Preferred Stock features and Company specific historical experience, taking into consideration
expected future activity. The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury strip rates in
effect at the time of measurement with an equivalent remaining term. The expected volatility of
our stock prices is based on a combination of historical volatility and the implied volatility of our
exchange traded options. Expected life is based on the remaining term of the Series A Preferred
Stock. To the extent any of these assumptions increases or decreases in isolation, the fair value of
the derivative liability increases or decreases accordingly. Other assumptions based on the Series
A Preferred Stock features, including anti-dilution provisions, were considered and determined to
be insignificant to the valuation.

Changes in the fair value are recorded as other gain or loss, net, in our condensed consolidated
statements of operations and comprehensive operations. Activity for the derivative liability was
as follows:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

August 3,
2013

July 28,
2012

August 3,
2013

July 28,
2012

(in thousands)

Balance at beginning of period $ 17,757 $ — $ 18,683 $ —
Issuance of Series A Preferred Stock — 15,744 — 15,744
Gain on change in fair value (5,632) (2,349) (6,558) (2,349)

Balance at end of period $ 12,125 $ 13,395 $ 12,125 $ 13,395

We have financial assets and liabilities, not required to be measured at fair value on a recurring
basis, which primarily consist of cash, receivables, payables and debt. The carrying value of cash,
receivables, payables and borrowing on our revolving line of credit approximate their fair values
due to their short-term nature. As of August 3, 2013, the fair value of our senior secured term
loan was $62.5 million compared to the carrying value of $56.5 million, which includes accrued
PIK interest and net of the loan discount. As of July 28, 2012, the carrying value of our senior
secured term loan approximated fair value as the debt was recently obtained during that period on
July 9, 2012. The fair value of the senior secured term loan was estimated using Level 3 inputs by
discounting the cash flows with an assumed interest rate that considers credit and liquidity risk.

Income Taxes
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Management assesses the available positive and negative evidence to estimate if sufficient future
taxable income will be generated to utilize existing deferred tax assets. A significant piece of
objective negative evidence evaluated was the cumulative pretax losses (adjusted for permanent
differences) incurred over the last three years. Such objective evidence limits the ability to
consider other subjective evidence. We have a valuation allowance to reduce deferred tax assets
to the amount that is more likely than not to be realized. The amount of the deferred tax asset
considered realizable, however, could be adjusted if objective negative evidence in the form of
cumulative losses is no longer present and additional weight may be given to subjective evidence.

Reclassifications

Certain prior period reclassifications were made to conform with the current period presentation.
On the condensed consolidated balance sheets, prepaid and deferred marketing costs was
combined with prepaid and other current assets, income taxes payable was combined with
accrued liabilities, and deferred marketing fees and revenue sharing was combined with other
liabilities. On the condensed consolidated statements of cash flows, deferred income taxes and
valuation allowance adjustments were combined with other and income taxes payable was
combined with accrued liabilities.
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3 Months
Ended 3 Months Ended 6 Months Ended 3 Months Ended 6 Months Ended 3 Months Ended 6 Months Ended 3 Months Ended 6 Months Ended 3 Months Ended 6 Months Ended

Co-Branded Credit Card
Program (Details) (USD $) Aug. 03,

2013
Feb. 02,

2013
Jul. 28,

2012
Apr. 28,

2012
Jan. 28,

2012

Aug. 03,
2013

Incentive
Payment
Received
[Member]

Jul. 28,
2012

Incentive
Payment
Received
[Member]

Aug. 03,
2013

Incentive
Payment
Received
[Member]

Jul. 28,
2012

Incentive
Payment
Received
[Member]

Aug. 03,
2013

Incentive
Payment -
Additional
[Member]

Aug. 03,
2013

Incentive
Payment

to be
Received
[Member]

Aug. 03,
2013

Marketing
Fees

Received
[Member]

Jul. 28,
2012

Marketing
Fees

Received
[Member]

Aug. 03,
2013

Marketing
Fees

Received
[Member]

Jul. 28,
2012

Marketing
Fees

Received
[Member]

Aug. 03,
2013

Revenue
Sharing
Received
[Member]

Jul. 28,
2012

Revenue
Sharing
Received
[Member]

Aug. 03,
2013

Revenue
Sharing
Received
[Member]

Jul. 28,
2012

Revenue
Sharing
Received
[Member]

Aug. 03,
2013

Marketing
Fees

Recognized
To

Revenue
[Member]

Jul. 28,
2012

Marketing
Fees

Recognized
To

Revenue
[Member]

Aug. 03,
2013

Marketing
Fees

Recognized
To

Revenue
[Member]

Jul. 28,
2012

Marketing
Fees

Recognized
To

Revenue
[Member]

Aug. 03,
2013

Revenue
Sharing

Recognized
To

Revenue
[Member]

Jul. 28,
2012

Revenue
Sharing

Recognized
To

Revenue
[Member]

Aug. 03,
2013

Revenue
Sharing

Recognized
To

Revenue
[Member]

Jul. 28,
2012

Revenue
Sharing

Recognized
To

Revenue
[Member]

Deferred Revenue
Arrangement [Line Items]
Program agreement, milestone
incentive, amount

$
11,500,000

$
2,000,000

Program agreement, length of
term 7 years

Program agreement, extension
periods 1 year

Movement in Deferred
Revenue [Roll Forward]
Balance at beginning of period 7,063,000 7,752,0008,884,000 8,148,0008,800,000
Deferred revenue - additions 11,500,0000 11,500,0000 890,000 996,000 1,756,000 1,859,000 9,782,000 2,946,000 9,782,000 2,946,000
Deferred revenue - recognized (1,071,000) (1,117,000) (2,188,000) (2,192,000) (5,580,000) (2,089,000) (6,018,000) (2,529,000)
Balance at end of period 22,584,000 7,752,0008,884,000 8,148,0008,800,000
Less — Current deferred
marketing fees and revenue
sharing

(8,167,000) (5,590,000)

Long-term deferred marketing
fees and revenue sharing

$
14,417,000

$
3,294,000
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3 Months Ended 6 Months EndedSignificant Accounting
Policies Derivative Liability
Activity (Details) (USD $)

In Thousands, unless
otherwise specified

Aug. 03, 2013 Jul. 28, 2012 Aug. 03, 2013 Jul. 28, 2012

Derivative Activity [Line Items]
Balance at beginning of period $ 17,757 $ 0 $ 18,683 $ 0
Gain on derivative liability (5,632) (2,349) (6,558) (2,349)
Balance at end of period 12,125 13,395 12,125 13,395
Series A Preferred Stock [Member]
Derivative Activity [Line Items]
Issuance of Series A Preferred Stock $ 0 $ 15,744 $ 0 $ 15,744
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6 Months EndedSignificant Accounting
Policies (Policies) Aug. 03, 2013

Accounting Policies
[Abstract]
Consolidation Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Coldwater Creek Inc. and its
wholly-owned subsidiaries. Intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated.

Fiscal Periods Fiscal Periods

References to a fiscal year refer to the calendar year in which the fiscal year begins. Our fiscal
year ends on the Saturday nearest January 31st.

Use of Estimates Use of Estimates

The preparation of condensed consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts and timing of revenue and expenses, the reported
amounts and classification of assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities. These estimates and assumptions are embodied in our sales returns accrual, gift card
breakage, inventory adjustments, derivative liability, stock-based compensation, impairment of
long-lived assets, contingent liabilities and income taxes. These estimates and assumptions are
based on historical results as well as management's future expectations. Actual results may vary
from these estimates and assumptions.

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Loss

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

Accumulated other comprehensive loss is made up entirely of unrecognized net actuarial loss, net
of tax, for the Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (the "SERP"). See Note 10. Supplemental
Executive Retirement Plan, for amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss
to net periodic benefit costs due to the amortization of net actuarial loss to selling, general and
administrative expenses.

Fair Value Fair Value

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Assets
and liabilities recorded at fair value are categorized using defined hierarchical levels related to the
subjectivity associated with the inputs to fair value measurements as follows:

• Level 1 — Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

• Level 2 — Quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets or inputs that
are observable; and

• Level 3 — Unobservable inputs in which little or no market activity exists.

On July 9, 2012, as disclosed in Note 8, we issued 1,000 shares of Series A Preferred Stock. The
fair value of the Series A Preferred Stock is recorded as a derivative liability and is measured on a
recurring basis at fair value with Level 3 inputs using the Black-Scholes option valuation model
with the following inputs (retroactively adjusted to reflect the Reverse Stock Split):

Copyright © 2013 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document

javascript:void(0);
javascript:void(0);
javascript:void(0);
javascript:void(0);
javascript:void(0);
javascript:void(0);
javascript:void(0);
javascript:void(0);
http://www.secdatabase.com


August 3,
2013

February 2,
2013

July 28,
2012

Closing price of Company's common
stock $ 2.66 $ 3.69 $ 2.64
Exercise price $ 3.40 $ 3.40 $ 3.40
Risk-free interest rate 2.4% 1.9% 1.6%
Expected volatility 77.4% 84.9% 89.3%
Expected life 8.9 years 9.4 years 10.0 years
Expected dividends $ — $ — $ —

The valuation model and the assumptions used in the model were determined based on the Series
A Preferred Stock features and Company specific historical experience, taking into consideration
expected future activity. The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury strip rates in
effect at the time of measurement with an equivalent remaining term. The expected volatility of
our stock prices is based on a combination of historical volatility and the implied volatility of our
exchange traded options. Expected life is based on the remaining term of the Series A Preferred
Stock. To the extent any of these assumptions increases or decreases in isolation, the fair value of
the derivative liability increases or decreases accordingly. Other assumptions based on the Series
A Preferred Stock features, including anti-dilution provisions, were considered and determined to
be insignificant to the valuation.

Changes in the fair value are recorded as other gain or loss, net, in our condensed consolidated
statements of operations and comprehensive operations. Activity for the derivative liability was
as follows:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

August 3,
2013

July 28,
2012

August 3,
2013

July 28,
2012

(in thousands)

Balance at beginning of period $ 17,757 $ — $ 18,683 $ —
Issuance of Series A Preferred Stock — 15,744 — 15,744
Gain on change in fair value (5,632) (2,349) (6,558) (2,349)

Balance at end of period $ 12,125 $ 13,395 $ 12,125 $ 13,395

We have financial assets and liabilities, not required to be measured at fair value on a recurring
basis, which primarily consist of cash, receivables, payables and debt. The carrying value of cash,
receivables, payables and borrowing on our revolving line of credit approximate their fair values
due to their short-term nature. As of August 3, 2013, the fair value of our senior secured term
loan was $62.5 million compared to the carrying value of $56.5 million, which includes accrued
PIK interest and net of the loan discount. As of July 28, 2012, the carrying value of our senior
secured term loan approximated fair value as the debt was recently obtained during that period on
July 9, 2012. The fair value of the senior secured term loan was estimated using Level 3 inputs by
discounting the cash flows with an assumed interest rate that considers credit and liquidity risk.

Income Taxes Income Taxes

Management assesses the available positive and negative evidence to estimate if sufficient future
taxable income will be generated to utilize existing deferred tax assets. A significant piece of
objective negative evidence evaluated was the cumulative pretax losses (adjusted for permanent
differences) incurred over the last three years. Such objective evidence limits the ability to
consider other subjective evidence. We have a valuation allowance to reduce deferred tax assets
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to the amount that is more likely than not to be realized. The amount of the deferred tax asset
considered realizable, however, could be adjusted if objective negative evidence in the form of
cumulative losses is no longer present and additional weight may be given to subjective evidence.

Reclassification Reclassifications

Certain prior period reclassifications were made to conform with the current period presentation.
On the condensed consolidated balance sheets, prepaid and deferred marketing costs was
combined with prepaid and other current assets, income taxes payable was combined with
accrued liabilities, and deferred marketing fees and revenue sharing was combined with other
liabilities. On the condensed consolidated statements of cash flows, deferred income taxes and
valuation allowance adjustments were combined with other and income taxes payable was
combined with accrued liabilities.
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6 Months EndedSupplemental Executive
Retirement Plan Aug. 03, 2013

Pension and Other
Postretirement Benefit
Expense [Abstract]
Supplemental executive
retirement plan

Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan

Net periodic benefit cost of the SERP consisted of the following:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

August 3,
2013

July 28,
2012

August 3,
2013

July 28,
2012

(in thousands)

Interest cost $ 114 $ 138 $ 227 $ 276
Amortization of net actuarial loss — 9 — 18

$ 114 $ 147 $ 227 $ 294

As the SERP is an unfunded plan, we were not required to make any contributions during fiscal
2013 and 2012. During the six months ended August 3, 2013 and July 28, 2012, we made benefit
payments of $355,000 and $83,000, respectively.
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6 Months EndedProperty and Equipment,
net (Tables) Aug. 03, 2013

Property, Plant and Equipment
[Abstract]
Schedule of property, plant and
equipment

Property and equipment, net, consisted of the following:

August 3,
2013

February 2,
2013

July 28,
2012

(in thousands)

Land $ 221 $ 242 $ 242
Building and land improvements 29,634 29,655 29,656
Leasehold improvements 254,607 258,765 264,213
Furniture and fixtures 113,810 114,709 117,227
Technology hardware and software 92,207 89,992 90,406
Machinery and equipment and other 33,616 34,341 35,009
Capital leases 12,805 12,805 12,805
Construction in progress 16,792 16,480 16,613

553,692 556,989 566,171
Less — Accumulated depreciation and
amortization (400,985) (387,982) (376,011)

$ 152,707 $ 169,007 $ 190,160
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6 Months EndedSignificant Accounting
Policies (Tables) Aug. 03, 2013

Accounting Policies
[Abstract]
Derivative liability significant
assumptions

is measured on a recurring basis at fair value with Level 3 inputs using the Black-Scholes option
valuation model with the following inputs (retroactively adjusted to reflect the Reverse Stock
Split):

August 3,
2013

February 2,
2013

July 28,
2012

Closing price of Company's common
stock $ 2.66 $ 3.69 $ 2.64
Exercise price $ 3.40 $ 3.40 $ 3.40
Risk-free interest rate 2.4% 1.9% 1.6%
Expected volatility 77.4% 84.9% 89.3%
Expected life 8.9 years 9.4 years 10.0 years
Expected dividends $ — $ — $ —

Derivative liability activity Activity for the derivative liability was as follows:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended

August 3,
2013

July 28,
2012

August 3,
2013

July 28,
2012

(in thousands)

Balance at beginning of period $ 17,757 $ — $ 18,683 $ —
Issuance of Series A Preferred Stock — 15,744 — 15,744
Gain on change in fair value (5,632) (2,349) (6,558) (2,349)

Balance at end of period $ 12,125 $ 13,395 $ 12,125 $ 13,395
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6 Months EndedDocument and Entity
Information Aug. 03, 2013 Sep. 06, 2013

Document And Entity Information [Abstract]
Entity Registrant Name COLDWATER CREEK INC
Entity Central Index Key 0001018005
Document Type 10-Q
Document Period End Date Aug. 03, 2013
Amendment Flag false
Current Fiscal Year End Date --02-01
Entity Filer Category Accelerated Filer
Document Fiscal Year Focus 2013
Document Fiscal Period Focus Q2
Entity Common Stock, Shares Outstanding 30,613,056
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6 Months EndedReceivables (Tables) Aug. 03, 2013
Receivables [Abstract]
Receivables Receivables consisted of the following:

August 3,
2013

February 2,
2013

July 28,
2012

(in thousands)

Credit card receivables $ 3,793 $ 2,928 $ 4,513
Tenant allowances 1,281 484 920
Other 1,190 1,738 1,143

$ 6,264 $ 5,150 $ 6,576
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